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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries (the Company and the subsidiaries are
hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) are the designing,
manufacturing, marketing and trading of fine jewellery and
diamonds. Also, the Group maintains an investment portfolio
including property investment and development, mining and
other industries.

On the manufacturing side, Continental Jewellery (Mfg.)
Limited, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, mainly
engages in the product development, manufacture
and marketing of fine jewellery primarily for export
and is regarded as one of the leaders in fine jewellery
manufacturing. A substantial share of our jewellery products
is currently directed at the middle to upper segments of the
market. We specialise in manufacturing fine jewellery in
precious metal set with diamond, ruby, emerald, sapphire,
pearl and other semiprecious stones.

The Group has fully-integrated production plant in China
with around 336 staff as at 30 June 2022. Our facility is
best known for their quality with extensive capabilities in
jewellery design, direct stone sourcing, lapidary, alloying and
gold refining. The management of the Group is known for its
commitment to quality, and its finished products are visible
testaments to that commitment.
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Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Group Chairman

| am pleased to present the annual report of Continental
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2022, the Group's
consolidated revenue recorded an increase of approximately
HK$67.6 million or 12.6% from last year's HK$536.3 million
to HK$603.9 million. During the year, profit attributable to
owners of the Company was HK$12.1 million as compared
to last year's profit of HK$19.9 million. Despite an increase
in the revenue for the year, the profit attributable to owners
decreased resulting from (i) an increase in impairment
loss on mining right of HK$ 21.9 million; (ii) a recognized
exchange loss of HK$3.3 million for the year mainly due
to the depreciation of British Pounds as compared to
exchange gains of HK$9.3 million in the previous year; and
(iii) a significant decrease of subsidies received from various
governments relating to the “COVID-19” pandemic. The
basic earnings per share was HK 1.78 cent (2021: HK2.91
cent).
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The coronavirus continued to spread at a slow burn in
2021. However, supported by the vaccines and removal
of COVID-19 restrictions in many countries, the pandemic
conditions have normalized in the second half of the year.
As a result, despite the continued impact of COVID-19 on
Asian markets, businesses and trade activities revived, and
tradeshows in the United Stated (“US") and Europe also
reopened. In the jewellery segment, the overall market has
regained its momentum and consumer demands rebounded
positively. During the year, our oversea sales teams resumed
traveling to visit customers and proactively participated at
all major tradeshows. Overall, the response from customers
were upbeat, reflecting a revival of the consumer demand
that was receded in the past couple of years. The reopening
of retail stores in US, United Kingdom (“UK") and Europe
helped in bringing sales back to pre-covid levels. In addition,
with the strong foothold in many major markets, the
Group benefited from market consolidation after COVID-19
and built even stronger relationship with customers. The
combination of local presence and customer-centric support
allowed the teams to work closely with customers and
making it a favorable competitive advantage. In view of
the growing demand of online sales, our team also worked
closely with customers in providing timely delivery and
necessary technical support. As a result, the Group has
successfully recorded stable growth in the jewellery business
during the fiscal year. The Group’s revenues of jewellery
segment recorded an increase of approximately HK$65.8
million or 12.5% from last year's HK$526.4 million to
HK$592.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2022. The
segment profit attributable to the Jewellery was HK$35.6
million for the year ended 30 June 2022 representing an
increase of approximately HK$1.4 million or 4% as compared
to last year's of HK$34.2 million due to increase in revenue.
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In property, revenue from rental income during the year
amounted to approximately HK$8.3 million, representing
an increase of HK$2.8 million from the corresponding year
of 2021 of HK$5.5 million. Increase in revenue was mainly
as a result of acquisition of properties located at Hart
Avenue, Kowloon in May 2021. With a diverse and balanced
portfolio, the Group believes that these investments and
projects will generate steady income and return in the long
run.

In early 2022, the Group has substantially completed
its newly developed commercial building, named “One
Continental” (& 2y) , which is located at No. 232 Wan
Chai Road, Hong Kong. The Group currently holds 75%
of the interests in “One Continental”, a premium grade
office and retail composite building of 28-storey tall with a
gross floor area of approximately 86,970 sqg. ft. While the
commercial real estate market has been affected by the fifth
wave of the pandemic, leasing activities in the commercial
and retail sectors have improved after experiencing a
stagnant period during the 1st quarter of 2022.

The Group also owns 90% interests of sites at Nos. 7, 7A, 9,
and 9A of Cheung Wah Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon,
with a site area of approximately 3,240 sqg. ft. The site will
be developed into a 25-storey residential development with
2-storey of retail podium/high-rise composite building, with a
proposed gross floor area of approximately 29,147 sq. ft. The
project is in good progress and the expected completion date
of the redevelopment is in late 2022.
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In December 2021, the Group has acquired six properties
located at 164-164A Boundary Street, Kowloon, with a site
area of approximately 5,054 sq. ft. and a developable gross
floor area of approximately 25,270 sq. ft. The land is planned
to be redeveloped into a luxury residential development.
Design development has begun, and demolition of the
existing building is expected to commence in the 4th quarter
of 2022 upon expiry of the existing leases.

In addition, the Group also hold certain investment properties
comprised 12 floors commercial properties located at No. 65
Castle Peak Road, Yuen Long, and 2 shops with several office
units located at No. 19-23 Hart Avenue, Kowloon. Despite
of the pandemic, the investment properties are fully let and
generating a stable rental income to the Group during the
year.

In the mining segment, operation at HongZhuang Gold Mine
was minimized. The Company was focus on the exploration
at the north eastern of Yuanling. Meanwhile, we will
continue developing new shaft and re-visiting the old shaft in
the Yuanling mine site.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

While the Group maintained a positive jewellery performance
during the fiscal year ended 30 June 2022, the backdrop of
the upcoming year continues to be characterized by change
and uncertainty. At an overarching level, the macroeconomic
headwinds, the substantial inflation in both cost of goods
sold and operating costs, the possibility of future new
variants of COVID-19 combined with restrictive government
interventions and the further consequences of the Russian
invasion of Ukraine and US-Sino trade war, all could
negatively impact the future performance. Nevertheless,
amidst these challenges, the Group believes its strong market
position and strengthened local support will continue to
serve our customers with best value and quality products.
Meanwhile, our management team will continue to strive
for excellence and innovation. By remaining customer-
focused at all times, the Group will be able to offer value
propositions to customers, as to further solidify its foothold
in major markets. In addition, following the reopening of
the economy, the Group will explore multiple opportunities
for further growth in the new markets through our overseas
offices in the US and UK. With the Group's proven track
record and reputation in the market, the Group is well
positioned to sustain its development and adhere to the most
stringent corporate governance principles and safeguarding
the interests of the shareholders and stakeholders.

With the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic gradually
being brought under control, Hong Kong's property market
has been progressively recovering since the month of April
2022. However, the leasing market remained to be very
challenging. As such, we would expect a longer recovery
period, and at the same time that the anticipated border
reopening will drive an improvement in the economy and
demand for office and retail space. Meanwhile, we managed
to gradually sign on quality tenants, generating consistent
returns from rental income and improving the asset value of
the Group's portfolio.
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON MINING RIGHT AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Directors
appointed an independent professional valuer, BMI
Appraisals Limited, to perform a valuation with respect
to Hongzhuang Gold Mine situated at Henan Province,
China and impairment loss of mining right and property
plant and equipment amounting to HK$81,838,000 (2021:
HK$59,892,000) and HK$1,553,000 (2021: HK$1,168,000)
respectively has been recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The fair value of Hongzhuang Gold Mine was estimated
based on the Market Based Approach with reference to
comparable transactions, in which such approach was
consistent with mining right valuation as at 30 June 2021.

The key inputs used in the valuation were the consideration-
to-resources multiples obtained from comparable
transactions, the adjusted contained gold metal based on
the technical review report prepared by SRK Consulting
China Limited under Chinese standard and discount due to
COVID-19 pandemic.

The Chinese standard resources estimates as reported by SRK
Consulting China Limited were risk with uncertainty. The
estimated fair value of the Hongzhuang Gold Mine has been
assigned a lower or no credit to those resources with high
resources risks.

As at 30 June 2022, the Directors also conducted an
impairment assessment on certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment under Yuanling mine site due to the
delay of the operation plan. Accordingly, an impairment
loss of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$4,794,000 (2021: HK$4,591,000) had been recognized
and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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All the above-mentioned impairment loss on mining right
and property, plant and equipment was included in the
Group’s mining segment in the reportable and operating
segment of the Group.

ANNUAL UPDATE ON DETAILS OF RESOURCES
AND/OR RESERVES UNDER RULES OF 18.15, 18.17
AND 18.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

There has been no material change on the resources and/or
reserves of the Group during the year. The following table
shows the details of resources and/or reserves of the Group
as at 30 June 2022:

RERS BLER HERERE HEEY E¥ A
Type of
Reporting mining Gold  Reporting
date operation resources  Standard Gold grade
() (%/%)
(t) (g/t)
“EIZE T 1073 REREI22D 558
~A=TH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2022 546 PEIRER 1.89
PRC 332
266 PERE3 446
PRC 333
ZTZZE T - HEREL -
~A=TH Underground PRC 122b
30 June 2022 - RERESR -
PRC 333

Factors and assumptions such as gold grade, ore body
thickness and shape of vein were considered for estimating
the resources and/or reserves. Please refer to Section 8
of Appendix VII of the circular of the Company dated 25
January 2010 for further information of the resources and/or
reserves estimation.

* The unofficial English translations or transliterations of Chinese
names are for identification purpose only.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

As of 30 June 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was 0.2903
(2021: 0.1996), which is calculated on net debt divided by
total equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.
The cash and cash equivalents of HK$144,008,000 (2021:
HK$340,207,000) which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, US Dollar, Renminbi and British Pound. Other
borrowings in respect of amounts due to joint ventures,
amounts due to related companies, loan from a controlling
shareholder, amounts due to non-controlling interests and
lease liabilities were approximately of HK$117,216,000
(2021: HK$114,188,000). Bank loans denominated in HK$
and US$ were approximately HK$1,027,421,000 (2021:
HK$836,210,000). Details of pledge of assets in respect of
bank loans are set out in the section PLEDGE OF ASSETS.

The decrease in the Group's cash and cash equivalents
and the increase in bank loans as at 30 June 2022 were
mainly due to the acquisition of properties located at No.
164-164A Boundary Street, Kowloon and payment of the
construction costs for the projects at Cheung Wah Street and
Wan Chai Road. In line with the Group's prudent financial
management, the directors considered that the Group has
sufficient working capital to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 30 June 2022, the Group’s bank loans denominated
in HK$ of HK$998,962,000 (2021: HK$813,558,000)
are secured by the Group’s certain property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, certain right-of-use assets,
properties under development, pledged by ordinary shares
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and guaranteed by
corporate guarantees executed by the Company. Whereas,
a bank loan denominated in US$ in the equivalent amount
of HK$28,459,000 (2021: HK$22,652,000) is secured by all
the assets of a subsidiary of the Company and guaranteed by
corporate guarantees executed by the Company.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

All the Group's borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollar, US Dollar and Renminbi. Interest is determined with
reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or Prime
Rate for Hong Kong Dollar borrowings, US Prime Rate for
US Dollar borrowings and the benchmark lending rate of the
People’s Bank of China for Renminbi borrowings. The Group
also made use of foreign exchange forward contract in order
to minimise exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in
British Pound. There was no change to the Group’s capital
structure during the year ended 30 June 2022. In light of the
current financial position of the Group and provided there is
no unforeseeable circumstance, the management does not
anticipate the need to change the capital structure.
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NOTIFIABLE TRANSACTIONS

1.

Major Transaction — Acquisition of Properties

On 1 September 2021, the Group entered into six
preliminary agreements with five independent third
parties relating to the acquisition of six properties
located at (i) Ground Floor, First Floor, Second Floor
and a portion of the Roof, No.164 Boundary Street;
and (ii) Ground Floor, First Floor and Second Floor,
No.164A Boundary Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong
at a total price of HK$183,500,000 (the “Boundary
Acquisition”). The Boundary Acquisition constitutes
a major transaction for the Company under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and was completed on 22 December 2021.
Details of the Boundary Acquisition was set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 September
2021 and the Company's circular date 22 October
2021.

Discloseable and connected transaction in relation
to the acquisition of 15% shareholding in Novell
Enterprises Inc.

On 29 October 2021, the Group entered into a stock
purchase agreement with a connected person in
relation to the acquisition of 15% of the issued and
outstanding shares of the common stock of Novell
Enterprises Inc. (“Novell”) (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) at a consideration of
US$900,000 (approximately HK$6,987,000). Since
the seller is a director of Novell, the acquisition
constitutes a connected transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules and was completed on 5
November 2021. After completion, all the issued and
outstanding shares of the common stock of Novell
was owned by the Group and Novell became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Details of
the acquisition was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 1 November 2021,
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ADVANCE FROM A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2022, Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles has
advanced a loan in the amount of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$4,686,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, the loan is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on 25 October 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Company has provided guarantees
to the extent of HK$837,742,000 (2021: HK$670,640,000)
with respect to bank loans to its subsidiaries. Under the
guarantees, the Company would be liable to pay the banks
if the banks are unable to recover the loans. At the reporting
date, no provision for the Company’s obligation under
the guarantee contracts has been made as the Directors
considered that it was unlikely the repayment of the loans
would be in default.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2022, the Group had outstanding capital
commitment of approximately HK$48,667,000 (2021:
HK$106,853,000), which was mainly the capital
commitment for the investment property undertaken by the
Group.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employs a total of approximately 532 employees
with the majority in the PRC. The Group's remuneration to its
employees is largely based on common industrial practice. In
order to attract, retain and motivate the eligible employees,
including the Directors, the Company have adopted share
option schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 13
July 2010 (“the “2010 Share Option Scheme”), which was
valid for a period of ten years commencing on the date
of adoption 13 July 2010. Under which, the Company
may grant options to eligible person including directors
and employees (as explained hereinafter). The 2010 Share
Option Scheme was expired on 12 July 2020. Therefore, the
Company has adopted a new share option on 22 December
2020 (the "“2020 Share Option Scheme”). Subsequent to
the expiry of the 2010 Share Option Scheme, no further
option can be granted thereunder but in all other respects,
the provisions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force and all options granted prior to such expiry shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2010 Share Option Scheme.

On 31 May 2021, every ten (10) issued shares of the
Company were consolidated into one (1) share of the
Company (the “Share Consolidation™). As such, adjustments
were made to the exercise prices and the number of shares
of the Company falling to be issued in respect of the
outstanding share options in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules. As at 30 June 2022, there were options for
12,200,000 shares (after Share Consolidation) were valid
and outstanding under the 2010 Share Option Scheme. No
share option has been granted under the 2020 Share Option
Scheme since it has been adopted.
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Summary of the principal terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme and 2020 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)

2010 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2010 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to recruit and retain high caliber eligible persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group; (ii) to recognise the contributions of eligible
persons to the growth of the Group by rewarding
them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest
in the Company and (iii) to motivate and to give
incentives to these eligible persons to continue to
contribute to the long-term success and prosperity of
the Group.

Under the 2010 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any invested entity who, as determined by the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth
and development of the Group or any invested entity
are eligible to participate the scheme. The number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each eligible person in any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company’s
shares in issue at the adoption date.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.
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The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

As at 30 June 2022, 13,200,000 share options
(after Share Consolidation) have been granted to
certain directors and employees of the Company at
an exercise price of HK$1.38, HK$1.21, HK$2.45,
HK$1.49 or HK$0.52 each (after Share Consolidation)
subject to the terms of the 2010 Share Option
Scheme. 1,000,000 share options (after Share
Consolidation) had been exercised during the year
ended 30 June 2015 since the grant of the 2010
Share Options.
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Closing price
Exercise Price per Share
Name or per Share™  immediately Balance Granted Exercised Balance
category Date of Grant  Exercisable (after Share before the as at During During as at
of Grantee (dd/mm/yyyy)  Period Consolidation)  date of grant 1 July 2021 the Year the Year 30 June 2022
(87) (87)
(HK$) (HK$)
BREEE 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Chan Wai Lap, 18/06/2024
it 07077015 0072015 - 245 200 1,000000 - - 1000000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/112016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
REHLT 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 138 138 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, 18/06/2024
Ve 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 245 2.00 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
fis et Sk 07/07/2015 07/07/2015 - 2.45 2.00 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Yam Tat Wing 06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02/11/2026
BREEE 25/07/2014 25/07/2014 - 121 120 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Mr. Wong Edward 2410712024
Guon-hing 07072015 0700772015 - 245 200 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
06/07/2025
03/11/2016 03/11/2016 - 149 150 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
02112026
RfER 22/06/2020 22/06/2020 - 052 051 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
Other Employees 21/06/2030
12,200,000 - - 12,200,000
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(b)

Note: (1) Due to Share Consolidation, adjustments were made
to the number of outstanding share options and the
exercise price on 31 May 2021. The exercise price per
share of the share options granted on 19 June 2014
was adjusted from HK$0.138 to HK$1.38; the exercise
price per share of the share options granted on 25 July
2014 was adjusted from HK$0.121 to HK$1.21; the
exercise price per share of the share options granted on
7 July 2015 was adjusted from HK$0.245 to HK$2.45;
the exercise price per share of the share options granted
on 3 November 2016 was adjusted from HK$0.149 to
HK$1.49 and the exercise price per share of the share
options granted on 22 June 2020 was adjusted from
HK$0.052 to HK$0.52.

2020 Share Option Scheme

The 2010 Share Option Scheme was expired on 12
July 2020. Therefore, the Company has adopted the
2020 Share Option Scheme, which should be valid
for a period of ten years commencing on the date of
adoption 22 December 2020.

The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is
(i) to provide eligible persons with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company;
(i) to encourage eligible persons to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company; (iii) shares for
the benefit of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole and (iv) provide the Company with
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits
to eligible persons.
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Under the 2020 Share Option Scheme, options might
be granted to any employee, senior executive or
officer, manager, director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who, as
determined by the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2020 Share Option Scheme was 68,311,825
shares which represented 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at 23 September 2022.

The eligible person must accept any such offer notified
to him or her within ten business days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for
shares of the Company shall be the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

No share option has been granted under the 2020
Share Option Scheme since it has been adopted.

$ AR S E—THBH
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Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EXPOSURE TO FINANCIAL RISK AND RELATED
HEDGE

The Group utilises conservative strategies on its financial
risk management and the market risk had been kept to
minimum. With the exception of the UK subsidiaries,
all transactions and the borrowings of the Group are
primarily denominated in US Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and
Renminbi. During the year, the Group had entered into
foreign exchange forward contract in order to minimise the
exchange rate risk as a result of fluctuation in British Pound.
Management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange
risk in British Pound and recent fluctuation in Reminbi and
will take appropriate actions when necessary.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
will be held on Monday, 5 December 2022 and the Notice
of AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 30 November 2022 to Monday,
5 December 2022, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company'’s Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 29 November 2022.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the Register of Members will be closed from Friday,
9 December 2022 to Tuesday, 13 December 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for entitlement to the
proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificates and appropriate transfer
forms must be lodged with the office of the Company's
Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8
December 2022. Subject to the approval by shareholders of
the Company at the forthcoming AGM which to be held on
Monday, 5 December 2022, the proposed final dividend will
be paid on or about Friday, 13 January 2023.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their
continuous supports and trust, and extend my heartiest
thanks and appreciation to our directors, to all staffs, for
their relentless efforts, dedication and resilience during this
challenging period. Looking ahead, we will continue our
endeavor to overcome the future challenges and enhance
the value of our business.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 September 2022
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Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, was appointed as Chairman of
the Group since 2017. He joined the Group in 2000 and was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in 2006.
He currently strategises the direction of the Group and also
provides leadership to the Board. He manages and oversees
the overall Group operations and is responsible in leading
the management on various aspects of the Group such
as sales and marketing, product development, investment
and financing activities, as well as corporate and business
development, etc.

Mr. Chan holds a number of public and honorary positions,
such as Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong Jewellery & Jade
Manufacturers Association; a member of the 10th Executive
Committee of the Diamond Federation of Hong Kong
China Ltd.; Founding Chairman of the Youth Chapter of
the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council; Member of
the Jewellery Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council; Executive Committee member of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He was also President
of Entrepreneurs’ Organization (Hong Kong and China
South Chapters) and Director of Hong Kong United Youth
Association.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan had worked in both
banking and manufacturing industry for several years. He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree with double majors in
Entrepreneurial Studies and Finance from Babson College in
Boston, Massachusetts. Mr. Chan is the son of Dr. Chan Sing
Chuk, Charles and Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.
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Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, BBs, JP, is Founder of the
Group. Dr. Chan is an Executive Director of the Company and
holds directorship in various subsidiaries of the Company. He
is responsible for strategic planning, corporate development
and investment of the Group. Dr. Chan has over 60 years
of experience in the jewellery industry. He is currently the
Honorary Permanent President of the Hong Kong Jewellery
& Jade Manufacturers Association; Honorary Member of
Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, China Ltd.; Honorary
Member of the University Court of The Hong Kong University
of Science & Technology; as well as a member of other
trade associations. In community, charitable and political
involvements, Dr. Chan is the Permanent Honorary Director
of Friends of Hong Kong Association Ltd., and Member of
The Association of Chairmen of The Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals. Dr. Chan was appointed a Committee Member of
the City of Jiangmen Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference during 2003-2016; and the Founding President
of Jiangmen Overseas Chinese Enterprise Federation since
2006. Dr. Chan is the husband of Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley, is the Managing Director and
Co-Founder of the Group. Ms. Cheng is an Executive Director
of the Company and holds directorship in various subsidiaries
of the Company. She is responsible for the daily operations,
financial management, corporate development, sales and
marketing as well as strategic planning of the Group. Ms.
Cheng has 50 years of experience in the jewellery industry
and has been actively involved in the business development
of the Group since the beginning. Ms. Cheng also plays
an active role in the community, currently Director and
Treasurer of Zonta Club of Hong Kong (2022-2024), and Vice
Chairman, Executive Committee and Honorary Vice President
of the Hong Kong Federation of Women. In addition, she
was awarded as one of the “100 Chinese Outstanding
Women Entrepreneurs” in 2006 and was a Committee
Member of the City of Jiangmen Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Ms. Cheng is the wife of Dr. Chan
Sing Chuk, Charles.



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management m =5 SAEIEA B2 BFIE

Annual Report 2022 “F ¥

BREHZT RN—NANAAFMAR
SE-RATARRBZHITES
VTEBEAEBR  EBMEER.
TEEBREBITHRI/E-RiL
82 E B University of California,
Berkeley ' H AL BB X B+ 2] -
PREZTHEREASRIGEAE
BB FEEFERE M
gleggrRBAREErHME g R
(ZE-TBEZ_T—_%F) It
B2HSEEEYE R AE
BERELEEHES R ER S
Re BNASEAXDERBEZ
EE-HAREZFLRE/ KL
Tz

BEEEEE R—ANANFNAKR
SE-WYE-_FT-—MF=A—AH
BZERARBZHITESR K
RIEFIRE & H BB R R P2 B
B mEERKREEHENEE
HEMBSEBRERER=TFK
BR-BrTAERRAREAKEIRER
HEFNBREERNERE -

FHITES

FELEE R —FNAL
SEHEASEEMNERER LB
KRR N_E—NE=H—H
EZEAWTESE YN -_F—+
F—A—BHATARRZIERNTE
- IAAEHBEERHMERE ¥R
BEBET S GRABESEIRE)
NEAEEEES-

EMARNEER  EEERETRE
B (B8Rl ERB=1++tF-
ER_ZEELF-AE_ZT—FF
ZARHEERRERER (178) -
ERERAEUNBES B ERQ
HITBLEREETELREE -

Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki, joined the Group in 1995. She
is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for property development in Hong Kong, retail operation
and the business administration functions in the Group.
Ms. Chan graduated from University of California, Berkeley
with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics. Ms. Chan
is a Graduate Gemologist of the Gemological Institute of
America. She was Charter President of Zonta Club of Hong
Kong Il and Area Director of Zonta International (2010-
2012), actively involved in the Zonta Community. Ms. Chan
is Honorary Vice Presidents of the Hong Kong Federation
of Women. She is also a member of Golden Bauhinia
Women Entrepreneur Association. She is the daughter of Dr.
Chan Sing Chuk, Charles and Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley.

Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing, joined the Group in
1998, and has been appointed as Executive Director of
the Company since 1 March 2014. He is also the General
Manager of Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited. Mr. Wong
has over 30 years' experience in manufacturing, sales
marketing and management in jewellery industry. Mr. Wong
is responsible for overall development and management of
the Group's jewellery business.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yam Tat Wing, joined the Group in 2011 as General
Manager — Business Development and Mining of the Group,
was appointed as Executive Director on 1 March 2014
and was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the
Company on 1 January 2017. Mr. Yam was educated up
to matriculation and he obtained a certificate in Personnel
Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yam had served in the Hong
Kong Police Force (the “Force”) for over 37 years, he was
previously Deputy Commissioner, Operations from January
2007 to March 2010. Mr. Yam has extensive experience in
leadership, public administration and crisis management.
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During his career in the Force, Mr. Yam was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star Medal, Colonial Police Long
Service Medal with 3rd clasp, the Colonial Police Medal
for Meritorious Service, the Hong Kong Police Medal for
Distinguished Service and Chief Executives Commendation.
In August 2011, he was appointed an affiliated Fellow of Wu
Yee Sun College of The Chinese University of Hong Kong for
a term of five years. The appointment has been extended
for another five years in August 2016. Mr. Yam ceased being
an Affiliated Fellow of the Wu Yee Sun College since August
2021. Mr. Yam was appointed an Honorary Chairman of
International Legal Commercial Elites Association in 2021.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 25 April 2005. Mr.
Yu is a businessman who has been actively engaged in the
construction business both in the public and private sectors
in Hong Kong for the last 40 years. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Other
than his working experience in managing a construction
company, he has also actively involved in the community
services of Hong Kong and has served several advisory
bodies of Hong Kong Government for over 30 years. He was
subsequently awarded as an unofficial Justice of the Peace by
the Hong Kong Government in the year 1989 and awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in the year 2007. From
March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Yu was the Chairman and
an Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 7 March 2008. Mr.
Chan has more than 30 years’ experience in logistics industry
and possesses extensive experience in distribution. Mr. Chan
was a Founder and Director of various logistic companies and
was a Director of a private company engaging in logistics and
forwarding.
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Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 2 October 2008. Mr. Sze
graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Science from
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, United States in 1985. Mr.
Sze has extensive experience in investment and corporate
management and is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Chevalier International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 25), ST International Holdings Company Limited (Stock
Code: 8521), Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2360), Jianzhong Construction Development Limited (Stock
Code: 589), Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (Stock
Code: 2370) and Forward Fashion (International) Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 2528), all of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He has resigned as Non-executive
Director of China Weaving Materials Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3778) and Bel Global Resources Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 761) (listing of which shares on the Stock
Exchange has been cancelled with effect from 24 August
2018), with effect from 6 June 2019 and 21 August 2019
respectively. He is also an Executive Director of a private
company, Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited, and holds
directorship in various private companies. Mr. Sze is a
Deputy Director of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC")
Subcommittee of Human Resources and Environment and an
Executive Director of the Beijing Committee of the CPPCC
and the Permanent Honorary President of the Chinese
Manufacturers” Association of Hong Kong. He is also elected
as a member of Election Committee of the Chief Executive
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Mr. Sze was
appointed Justice of the Peace and awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2011 and 2015 respectively.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Board on 7 April 2010.
Mr. Cheung is currently the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of China Weaving Materials Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3778), a Company listed on the Stock
Exchange. He has over 25 years of experience in accounting,
finance and administration and has held senior positions
in multinational companies. He obtained his MBA from
University of Technology, Sydney, Australia and is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

From March 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Cheung was an
Independent Non-Executive Director of K. H. Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1557), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange. From March 2009 to July 2011, he was a part-
time tutor at the Open University of Hong Kong (now known
as Hong Kong Metropolitan University). From March 2004
to November 2007, he was an Executive Director of Sun
Innovation Holdings Limited (now known as Digital Domain
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, and was also the Chief Financial Officer
from March 2007 to February 2008. He was an Independent
Director of LJ International Inc. (NASDAQ: JADE), a company
listed on NASDAQ from June 2007 to October 2007. From
January 2001 to December 2003, he was a Director of e-Lux
(Hong Kong) Limited (now known as Quants Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited), a subsidiary of e-Lux Corporation (JASDAQ:
6811) (now known as Quants Inc.), in charge of value-added
telecommunications services in Hong Kong, Taiwan and
China. He was the group financial controller and a director
of New Media Corporation, a subsidiary of e-New Media
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 128) (now known as ENM Holdings Limited)
from 1995 to 1999 and 1999 to 2000, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wing Cheong, Eric, FGA, DGA, FGAHK, CG (Diamond),
joined the Group in 1987, is currently the Director of
Operations. With over 30 years of experience in application
system implementation and supply chain management in the
jewellery industry, he also holds gemmologist qualification
— a fellow member of The Gemmological Association of
Great Britain and director of The Gemmological Association
of Hong Kong, and is appointed as RPL Assessor at
Qualifications Framework of jewellery industry by Vocational
Training Council. Mr. Choi now oversees the daily operation
in logistic support, factory production and Information
Technology, and administration and human resources of the
Group. He is also in charge of the implementation of I1SO
Quality Management System and best practices project.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. The board of directors
(the "Board”) considers shareholders can maximise their
benefits from good corporate governance.

The Company has adopted code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code"”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. A new Code has
been amended with effect from 1 January 2022, their
requirements are applicable to the financial year commencing
on 1 January 2022. Currently, the Company has adopted
the code provisions as set out in previous Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules before the new Code came into effect, and
all the code provision numbers of the Code referred in this
report are those of the old Code.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company has
complied with the Code, except for the deviations from Code
Provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and C.2.5 which are explained in the
following relevant paragraphs.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND THE
COMPANY'S PRACTICES

A.1. The Board

An issuer should be headed by an effective board which
should assume responsibility for its leadership and control
and be collectively responsible for promoting its success by
directing and supervising its affairs. Directors should take
decisions objectively in the best interests of the issuer.

The board should regularly review the contribution required
from a director to perform his responsibilities to the issuer,
and whether he is spending sufficient time performing
them.
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BHE-_FT-__FRA=THIEMK the Board meetings, other Board Committee meetings and
FE EX99% EFTQETAM the annual general meeting (“2021 AGM") during financial
ZEgeRARRAFREg ([=ZF year ended 30 June 2022 are as follows:
——FRRBFRG)FERNES
ZHEERAT
ERLR/BIRY
Meetings Attended/Held
3%
EYiZzRe  HMZRE  ReZRe k&
g% Director FEXEE EE ] EE EE Bgxe
2021
Meetings of Meeting of Meeting of Annual
Board Audit ~ Remuneration  Nomination General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Meeting
H1EZ Erecutive Directors
REURE Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor 44 - - i 11
BEEEL s £ D Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, Bss, I 34 - - - "
gEat Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley 44 - " - "
RE¥nt Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vick 44 - - - li
BEREE Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing 44 - - - i
FHTEE Non-executve Director
fEREE M. Yam Tat Wing 44 - - - "
EUHHEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RBREE o5 MBE AT M Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, 8BS, Mg, 44 0 " - "n
BRELE Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 44 0 i 1 /1
HRERE s AF4T  Mr Szelrons, 8gs, p 44 0 1 - i
FHERE Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 404 0 - 1 i
EFeCHeRRIECER K& Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for
HEERET- regular Board meetings.
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Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least
14 days in advance to provide sufficient notice to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board
meetings, reasonable notice will be given.

Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee
meetings are duly kept and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings have recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and
final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comment and records respectively.

Should Directors need independent professional advice, the
Board will appoint professional advisors to render the advice.
The costs associated with such professional services will be
borne by the Company.

According to the current Board practice, any material
transaction, which involves a conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
Independent Non-executive Directors who have no material
interest in the transaction will be present at such Board
meeting.

The Company has arranged Directors and Officers Liability
Insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Company.
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A.2. Chairman and Chief Executive

There are two key aspects of the management of every
issuer — the management of the board and the day-to-day
management of business. There should be a clear division
of these responsibilities to ensure a balance of power and
authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual.

Code Provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (“Mr. Victor Chan”) is an Executive
Director and also the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Victor
Chan currently strategizes the direction of the Group and
also provides leadership for the Board. He ensures that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner. Mr. Victor Chan is also responsible
to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and that all Directors receive
adequate information, which must be complete and reliable,
in a timely manner.

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (“Ms. Cheng”) is the Managing
Director of the Company. She is responsible for day-to-day
management and marketing activities of the Group.

Although the Company does not have a post for Chief
Executive Officer, the Board considers that there is adequate
segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a balance of
power and authority.
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A.3. Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements
of the issuer’s business. It should ensure that changes to its
composition can be managed without undue disruption.
It should include a balanced composition of executive
and non-executive directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent
element on the board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. Non-executive directors should
be of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry
weight.

As at 30 June 2022, the Board comprises five Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Victor Chan, Dr. Chan Sing Chuk,
Charles (“Dr. Chan”), Ms. Cheng, Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
("Ms. Vicki Chan”) and Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing; one
Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Yam Tat Wing; four
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Shiu
Tin, Paul, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr.
Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. All Directors are expressly identified
by categories of Executive Directors, Non-executive Director
and Independent Non-executive Directors, in all corporate
communications that disclose the names of Directors of the
Company.

Mr. Victor Chan is the brother of Ms. Vicki Chan. They are
the son and daughter, respectively, of Dr. Chan and Ms.
Cheng. Dr. Chan is the husband of Ms. Cheng.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are
set out in pages 29 to 35 of the annual report, which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
gualifications among members of the Board.

A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at www.continental.com.hk.
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A.4. Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There should be a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new directors. There
should be plans in place for orderly succession for
appointments. All directors should be subject to re-election
at regular intervals. An issuer must explain the reasons for
the resignation or removal of any director.

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that Non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election.

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company do not have a specific term of
appointment but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’'s AGM at least once every three
years in accordance with articles 115(A) and 115(D) of the
Articles of Association of the Company. The Board considers
that the deviation from Code Provision A.4.1 is not material
as Non-executive Directors are subjected to retirement by
rotation at least once in every three years and re-election.

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation by the Nomination Committee of the
Company or by shareholders in a general meeting. The
nomination procedures by shareholders are published on the
website of the Company at www.continental.com.hk. Any
Director who is appointed by the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting after their appointment, and
shall be subject to re-election by shareholders. All candidates
must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules
3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to
be appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
should also meet the independent criteria set out in Rules
3.13 of the Listing Rules. To further enhance accountability
under code provision A.4.3, any further re-appointment of
an Independent Non-executive Director who has served the
Company'’s Board for more than nine years will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr.
Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank have served as
Independent Non-executive Directors for more than 9 years
and all of them had met the criteria set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from Mr.
Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze
Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank a confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
they have not engaged in any daily executive management
of the Group. They continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an Independent Non-executive Director by providing
independent view and advice and there is no evidence that
their tenure have had any impact on their independence.
Taking into consideration of their independent scope of work
in the past years, the Directors consider Mr. Chan Ping Kuen,
Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung
Chi Fai, Frank to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rule. Having considering their valuable knowledge
and experiences in the Group's business, the Board considers
the re-election of Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek, Mr. Yu Shiu
Tin, Paul, Mr. Sze Irons and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank as
independent Non-Executive Directors are in the best interest
of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

A.5. Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee,
with written terms of reference as set out in the Code
Provisions A.5.2 (a) to (d) and are published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for formulating nomination policy,
and making recommendations to the Board on nomination
and appointment of Directors and Board succession.
The Committee will also review the size, structure and
composition of the Board. The Committee is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to perform its duties.
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The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Committee is
chaired by Mr. Victor Chan. The other members are Mr. Chan
Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank.

A.6. Responsibilities of Directors

Every director must always know his responsibilities as a
director of an issuer and its conduct, business activities
and development. Given the essential unitary nature of the
board, non-executive directors have the same duties of care
and skill and fiduciary duties as executive directors.

Every newly appointed Director of the Company is ensured
to have a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities under statue and common law, the Listing
Rules, applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the
business governance policies of the Group. The Directors are
continually updated with legal and regulatory developments,
business and strategic development of the Group to enable
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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BEERBET_F A=+ The individual training record of each Director for the year
B IEFE M X F 2 @R 50 8% a0 ended 30 June 2022 is as follows:
T
REM R
FHAEEN
EHER
HEHE
Reading
materials/
regulatory
updates*/
Attending
= Directors seminar
HITEE Executive Directors
PR{ZE S0 Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor v
PREESZEE L 8BS AT+ Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, BB, Jp v
B/ N2+ Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley v
[REHL L Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki v
=ARELEA Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing v
FFHITESE Non-executive Director
FEREAE Mr. Yam Tat Wing v
HIHNTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
RIE KA o BBS MBE- AF4+ M. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP v/
BoR A1 5 A Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek v
HESR 1 ST A » BBS » APt Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP v/
SR AEIE S A Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank v/
# DR A A A & i # Reading materials concerning latest developments in
B HEEERETRE I ME - corporate governance practices, relevant legal and regulatory

developments.

REEEREBRNESEERHEEE At each Director’s first appointment and subsequent
REZERRARRFEEERAR reappointment, the Director is required to disclose to

NBISRAAE TR S E RS the Company the number and nature of offices held in
DA K2 B 88 KEHE - LA K FTH BB public companies or organisations and other significant
MR -aE D mERMN RRES commitments as well as the time involved. The Directors are
Eymﬁ_r EEERMARNT - also required to notify the Company whenever there are
changes to the offices and commitments already disclosed.
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The Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company are highly skilled professionals with
expertise and experience in the field of accounting, financial
management and business. All Non-executive Director and
Independent Non-executive Directors take an active role in
Board meetings to bring in independent judgement to bear
on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts.
They scrutinise the Company’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor the
reporting of performance. They also take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise and serve the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. The Company
has received written confirmation from all the Independent
Non-executive Directors concerning their independence. The
Board considers all of them are independent.

Every Director is aware that he/she should give sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Code Provisions A.6.7 provides that Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors,
should also attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders.

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank, the Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, did not attend the annual general
meeting held on 16 December 2021 due to other business
engagement. Other Independent Non-executive Directors
were present at the annual general meeting and were
available to answer questions.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transaction by Directors of
the Company. The Company has made specific enquiry with
all Directors and all of them have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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A.7. Supply of and Access to Information

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with
appropriate information in the form and quality to enable
them to make an informed decision and perform their
duties and responsibilities.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as
practicable in all other cases, an agenda and accompanying
Board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely
manner and at least 3 days before the intended date of a
Board or Board Committee meeting.

Management is regularly reminded by the Company
Secretary that they have an obligation to supply the Board
and Board Committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable it to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The
Board and each Director shall have separate and independent
access to the Company'’s senior management.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers,
minutes and related materials. \Where queries are raised by
Directors, steps are taken to respond as promptly and fully as
possible.
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B.1. The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

An issuer should disclose its directors’” remuneration policy
and other remuneration related matters. The procedure
for setting policy on executive directors’ remuneration and
all directors’ remuneration packages should be formal and
transparent. Remuneration levels should be sufficient to
attract and retain directors to run the company successfully
without paying more than necessary. No director should be
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with specific written terms of reference as set out in Code
Provisions B.1.2 (a) to (h) of the Code. The Remuneration
Committee, with delegated responsibility, is responsible
for annually reviewing the existing remuneration policy
including the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management whereas the Board as a
whole is responsible for determining the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors with recommendations from the
Remuneration Committee, if any. Terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are Independent Non-executive Directors. This Committee is
chaired by Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul. The other members are Ms.
Cheng, Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek and Mr. Sze Irons.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year
ended 30 June 2022 to discuss remuneration related matters
and to review and approve the remuneration policy of the
Directors and of the Group.

The emoluments of the senior management by band for the
year ended 30 June 2022 is set out below:

A#
Number of persons
& B 4H 71 Emolument bands 2022 2021
Z 21,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 0 1
1,000,001/ 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 0
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources, including access to independent professional
advice, to perform its duties if considered necessary.

C.1. Financial Reporting

The board should present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the company’s performance,
position and prospects.

Management has provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board as would enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping
proper accounting records and preparing consolidated
financial statements of each financial period, which shall give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2022, the Directors have made judgements and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable.

A statement by the auditor about its responsibilities is
included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 73 to
81 of the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022.

For the basis on which the Group generates or preserves
values over the longer term and the strategy for delivering
objectives, please refer to page 5 under Corporate Profile
and pages 7 to 28 under Chairman'’s Statement.
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The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment extend to annual and interim
reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and
reports to regulators as well as information required to be
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

C.2. Risk management and Internal control

The board should ensure that the issuer establishes and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the issuer’s assets.

The Board has through the Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. The Board requires management to establish
and maintain appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. Evaluation of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering financial,
operational and compliance controls had been done on
an on going basis. Review of internal controls on different
systems will be done on a systematic rotational basis based
on the risk assessments of the operations and controls.
The Board has confirmed that there was no significant
weakness and area of improvement have been identified and
appropriate measures taken.

Code Provision C.2.5 provides that the issuer should have
an internal audit function. Issuers without an internal audit
function should review the need for one on an annual basis
and should disclose the reasons for the absence of such a
function.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
for the year ended 30 June 2022. Taking into account the
size and complexity of the operations of the Group, the
Company considers that the existing organisation structure
and the close supervision of the management could provide
sufficient internal control and risk management for the
Group. The audit committee of the Board regularly reviews
the effectiveness of the internal control systems and risk
management of the Group. The Board would review the
need to set up an internal audit function on an annual basis.
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C.3. Audit Committee

The board should establish formal and transparent
arrangements to consider how it will apply the financial
reporting and internal control principles and maintain an
appropriate relationship with the issuer’s auditor. The audit
committee established under the Listing Rules should have
clear terms of reference.

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which states clearly
with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee have included the duties set out in Code
Provisions C.3.3 (a) to (n) of the Code, with appropriate
modifications where necessary. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority and its
duties and responsibilities are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is responsible for oversight of financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems, and for
reviewing the financial information of annual report, financial
statements and interim report. As required by Code Provision
C.3.7, the Audit Committee would review arrangements for
employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee would ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow up action and acting as
the key representation body for overseeing the Company's
relations with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee comprises four Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company and is chaired by Mr.
Cheung Chi Fai, Frank. The Audit Committee meet with
external auditor at least twice a year.

All issues raised by the Audit Committee have been
addressed by management. The work and findings of the
Audit Committee have been reported to the Board. During
the year, no issues brought to the attention of management
and the Board were of sufficient importance to require
disclosure in the Annual Report.
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The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s
recommendation for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as
the Company’s independent auditor.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the remuneration paid
and payable to BDO Limited is set out as below:

2022

FET

HK$°000

EE AR Audit service 1,200
FERFT IR (B EMRERS) Non-audit service (including other reporting

services) 200

1,400
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Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft and final versions of minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all Audit
Committee members for their comments and records, within
a reasonable time after the meeting.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of the
Company's existing auditor.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources,
including the advice of independent auditor, to perform its
duties.

D.1. Management Functions

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserved for board approval. The board should
give clear directions to management on the matters that
must be approved by it before decisions are made on
issuer’s behalf.

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy,
monitoring and controlling the performance of the Group
whilst managing the Group'’s business is the responsibility of
the management.
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When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management, it has given
clear directions as to the powers of the management, in
particular, where management shall report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company has established schedules of matters reserved
to the Board for decision. The Board shall review those
arrangements periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the Group.

D.2. Board Committees

Board committees should be formed with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority
and duties.

The Board has established an Audit Committee (particulars
are disclosed under C.3), a Remuneration Committee
(particulars are disclosed under B.1) and a Nomination
Committee (particulars are disclosed under A.5). Where
Board Committees are established to deal with matters, the
Board shall give them sufficiently clear terms of reference
to enable them to perform their functions properly. The
terms of reference of Board Committees shall require such
Committees to report back to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so.

D.3. Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing
the Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company'’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements etc. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the
Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance.
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E.1. Effective Communication

The board should be responsible for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, use
annual general meetings or other general meetings to
communicate with them and encourage their participation.

At the 2021 AGM, a separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including the
re-elections of Directors. The attendance records at Board
meetings, Board Committee meetings and 2021 AGM are
disclosed on page 37.

The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels
of communication with its shareholders. It has been the
practice, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairmen of
the Board Committees, together with the external auditor,
shall attend the AGM to answer questions of shareholders.
Apart from the direct interaction with the shareholders at the
AGM, the Company has established different communication
channels with its shareholders. We maintain a corporate
website www.continental.com.hk to publish our final and
interim results announcements, financial reports, public
announcements and other relevant shareholder information.
The announcements and the Articles of Association of
the Company are published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to Code Provision
E.1.3, the Company arranges for the notice for AGM to be
sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to the Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy on 5 September 2013. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of diversity of its Board members.
While all Board appointments will continue to be made on
meritocracy, the Company will ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the needs of the Company’s business.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Board will consider setting measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board at appropriate time.

Dividend policy

The Company seeks to provide stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount. Under the Dividend Policy, the board of Directors
(the "Board”) shall, where appropriate, take into account,
among others, the following factors (i) the Group’s overall
results of operation, financial condition, expected working
capital requirements and capital expenditure requirements,
liquidity position and future expansions plans; (ii) the amount
of retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company;
(iii) general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; (iv) interim dividend paid, if any;
(v) interests of the Shareholders; (vi) statutory and regulatory
restrictions; and (vii) any other factors that the Board deems
relevant.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from
time to time.
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E.2. Voting by Poll

The issuer should ensure that shareholders are familiar with
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

All the resolutions put to the vote of a general meeting
will be taken by poll, except the Chairman decides to
allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands,
pursuant to the requirement under Rule 13.39(4) of the
Listing Rules.

The Chairman of the AGM will explain the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll at the commencement of
the AGM.

After the conclusion of the AGM, the poll results will be
published on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and at the website www.continental.com.hk
on the business day following the AGM.

F. Company Secretary

The company secretary plays an important role in
supporting the board by ensuring good information flow
within the board and that board policy and procedures are
followed. The company secretary is responsible for advising
the board through the chairman and/or the chief executive
on governance matters and should also facilitate induction
and professional development of directors.
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The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs.
The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and his
appointment and removal is subject to Board approval. The
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for matters
relating to Director’s duties, such as by giving advice on
corporate governance development and facilitating the
professional development program of Directors. All Directors
have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed. During the fiscal
year 2022, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights may call for an extraordinary general
meeting and put forward agenda items by sending a
written request to the Company Secretary at the Company'’s
registered office. Shareholders of the Company representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
who have a right to vote or at least 50 members who have a
right to vote on the resolution of the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate, may put forward proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company
by sending a written request to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s registered office. Procedures on how
shareholders can propose a person for election as a Director
are available at the Company’s website for shareholders’
information.

Shareholders may send their enquiries by addressing them
to the Company Secretary by post to the registered office of
the Company. Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns, where
appropriate, will be forwarded to and answered by the Board
or relevant Board Committees.
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MRAFRA  RNABl 2 EABERZMA There were no significant changes in the Company’s Articles

A T E RS E) - of Association during the year.
ERETESTZNEETA Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

KA ERMA_ TR AP The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

2 EMBITAESETESIHH Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
EESFA EARARIESETE Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
HRGZATRFA - conduct regarding securities transaction by Directors of the
Company.
RAAGEREEBESELARS The Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors
HMERESER BRERBEC and all of them have confirmed that they have complied with
= __FXA=+1H JJ:EF‘EL—T the required standards as set out in the Model Code during
SAESFRIFTE 2 RER Lo the year ended 30 June 2022.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's financial performance for the year ended 30
June 2022 and the financial position of the Group at that
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 82 to 270.

DIVIDENDS

At the Board meeting held on 23 September 2022, the
directors resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of
HK2.00 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2022
(2021: HK2.00 cents per share), totaling approximately
HK$13,662,365 (2021: HK$13,662,365), payable on or
about Friday, 13 January 2023 to the shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members on Tuesday,
13 December 2022.

The proposed dividend has not been recognised as a
dividend payable as at 30 June 2022, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending
30 June 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 7 to 28 of
this Annual Report.
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FERBEAEEN PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
RERIBRERITHRER 1. Economic climate and individual market performance
HRHKENRBAREEZHE As jewellery and diamonds are luxury consumer
fn MBS R KBIRIRY products, the impact of global financial and economic
BEEEORBE hZEE conditions on consumer confidence and purchasing
MAgETEAEE 2 HER power would affect sales and results of the Group.
NG - REEMETISEE The economic growth or decline in our geographical
BRIMELEEEREH markets that affected consumer spending on jewellery
By BN ELREE would also affect our revenue of the Group. In
Z W o I AN - BB IRIFE Al B addition, economic environment would affect the
HBIREITEZEENA - 10 production cost of jewellery business such as rent,
M BINA  BEKEH labour cost, packaging and transportation cost etc.
VHEFHE KBERREETE In property side, economic climate directly affects
MEEBE RKEEHAEEY the value of properties and investors’ interest in
¥IEE B RES WA -2 our property projects and rental income. Rising
ERA - BT M RHER construction costs, labour costs, material prices and
RAZE A ETRY interest rate will affect the budget and the timing for
XIERACEEREHEK- completion of the property projects.
FEBZRBEXEBFTERK The Group's mining business requires substantial
®& - BARVBEZEKTE IR % investment and may not achieve expected financial
FE-BABRKEARETE results. The fluctuation in price of mineral ores may
WER R MEBEES 2 RE affect prospects of the investments and impairment
Al BRBEEE 2 [HE- of the mining business may affect the valuation of

mining assets.
™5 E kK 2. Market risk

The Group is exposed to certain market risks such
as interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
details are set out in note 49.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.



Directors’ Report m EEERE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THILFE

FEFEEREE FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FEMBEEEEOTEOT The financial key performance indicators are analysed as
below:
2022 2021 +(-)
F#T F&T g
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
MBS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
] Turnover 603,926 536,267 12.6%
SHE R A Cost of Sales (458,813) (420,078) 9.2%
EF Gross Profit 145,113 116,189 24.9%
ERE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 24.0% 21.7% 23pp AP
RRABHEAR AN GF Profit attributable to owners of
the Company 12,142 19,885 -38.9%
FER % (%) Net profit margin (%) 2.0% 37% -1.7pp BEDE
M F B MATE A &7 EBIT
(TEBITJ) 23,339 26,821 -13.0%
EBITEL (%) EBIT margin (%) 3.9% 50% -1.1pp BN
BB E D (%) Return on total assets (%) 0.6% 0.7% -0.1%
TEHBEE KEY FINANCIAL INDICATOR
W& MIRITEH Cash and bank balance 144,008 340,207 -57.7%
TBEEFE Net current assets 46,224 102,919 —55.1%
EERE Total assets 3,865,024 3,718,277 3.9%
BEBE Total liabilities 1,418,658 1,271,769 11.5%
RITER Bank loans 1,027,421 836,210 22.9%
AREHEAANEEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,223,165 2,244,251 -0.9%
FEH R (BEHR) Quick ratio (Cash ratio) 0.14 0.37 -62.2%
RENLLE (1F) Current ratio (times) 1.04 1.11 -6.3%
EEBBLE@%) Gearing ratio (%) 29.03% 19.96% 9.07pp B D E
T R 2R [ R (%) Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 0.5% 09% -0.4pp BN E
FRERZF (B Basic earning per share (HK cents) 1.78 2.91 38.8%
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

1.

Environmental Protection

The Group promotes environmental protection by
raising the employees’ awareness of resources saving
and efficient use of energy. In recent years, the
Group has implemented several policies to encourage
employees for saving energy and paper. All these
policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs
which are beneficial to the environment and meet the
commercial goals of the Group.

Operating Practices

The Group upholds high standards of operating
practices and complies with stringent jewellery
manufacturing standards. One of the subsidiaries
of the Company is a certified member of the
Responsible Jewellery Council (“RJC™). RIC is a not-
for-profit organization which promotes responsible
ethical, social and environmental practices, respect
human rights throughout the Diamond, Gold and
Platinum Group Metals jewellery supply chain. As
a certified member of the RIC, the subsidiary had
undergone independent, third party auditing to
show our business practices at all facilities within
the certification scope conform to RJC's Code of
Practices for business ethics, labour rights and working
conditions, social and environmental performance.
The Group has stringent requirements to maintain
high levels of quality control and responsible business
practices.

For further information about the environment
policies and performance of the Company during
the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules
to be issued within five months after 30 June 2022.
The ESG Report will be available on the Company’s
website at www.continental.com.hk and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and
retain employees. The management regularly reviews the
Group's remuneration of its employees and ensures that it is
up to prevailing market standard.

The Group values mutually-beneficial and long-standing
relationships with its suppliers and customers. The Group
aims at delivering high quality products to its customers and
developing mutual trust with its suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.



Directors’ Report m EE 23R

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

Annual Report 2022 “F ¥

AT 57 IR R

RZZE-__FXA=1+H AR

Z Ak FEE A1,230,531 ooo,a
7T (=ZF = —%:1,230,918,0007%
JT) °

hFMBHHE

AEEBEREMBFRE 2 EEIN
REENBERMEHIINE272E

AEEASEZEZERTARSD
385,000/& 7T

TEEPRMER

REBEE AEERAEFHA
FIEIHEERE 237.8% MEFPRK
EEAEHEREA146% AKX
AAREEE D IMEARRERFER
BE4A%E 2 25.7% K 57.2% ©

BARBESHAM BF - T&’MXQ
ZMBARBESAAHEEARR

5% A L B BTN Z ERIAER $E5E
BRAEERARER L EEH
B Ea -

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to HK$1,230,531,000 (2021:
HK$1,230,918,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
272.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totaling HK$385,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 37.8% of the total sales for the
year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 14.6%. The largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 25.7% and 57.2%, respectively, of
the Group's total purchases for the year.

As far as the Directors of the Company are aware, neither
the Directors, their respective associates nor any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor (Chairman)

Dr. Chan Sing Chuk, Charles, BBs, Jp

Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley (Managing Director)
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki

Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Yam Tat Wing

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul, BBS, MBE, JP

Mr. Chan Ping Kuen, Derek

Mr. Sze Irons, BBS, JP

Mr. Cheung Chi Fai, Frank
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In accordance with Articles 109, 115(A), 115(B) and 115(D)
of the Articles of Association, Ms. Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley,
Ms. Chan Wai Kei, Vicki and Mr. Yu Shiu Tin, Paul shall retire
from office by rotation and all of them are eligible for re-
election at the AGM.

Each of the four Independent Non-executive Directors has
submitted written confirmation in respect of the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his
independence. The Board considers each of the four
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are available on the website of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 29 to
35 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.



Directors’ Report m EE 2%}

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THILFE

R ZMIEIRI

ARAFIEREEZERSREEAE
AJREME A EEE MELE 2 AR
Fid BESRERERABZE
FIEEE ZIREH - EREEF
2 O ET R B R SUR R 2 BB
(BB EPIENBEZ T %) %470
BZRTETRESHREZETTRE
BEATHENIE =8 NL+—)a)E
FEHE R IEFE A 5K o

BB E

RAE 2 BREEIFITEHIINE
208 ZF258 Rira W BmAMT
40 ©

IR EHARAE13.51BRIEH Z
1 5%

1. ARARBIERTEZHLE
BEENEZERNSREE
EEBRAR (BB R
2370) k& (B ZERE
BRAAE (B ARS%:2528)
(BREBRFEMAF)H
BYHERNTES HilRH=
T ZF=ATHAEEZE
—HFEA—BRBREK-

2. TINESBZFMEBEERE
MEZBEREMTHS SR
‘e THE:

PRIES S MBI NE
EREECZBRAFTHME D5
i 2210,0007% 7T * 94,000
770 5130,0008 70 B - &
T oF—A—HREAEM-

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for directors’ and senior management’s liabilities
in respect of legal actions against its directors and senior
management arising from corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors
as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors'’
Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set
out on pages 20 to 25 and in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B OF THE
LISTING RULES

1. Mr. Sze Irons, an independent non-executive
director of the Company, was also appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Redco Healthy
Living Company Limited (Stock Code: 2370) and
Forward Fashion (International) Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Code: 2528), both companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange with effect from 14 March
2022 and 1 July 2022 respectively.

2. The remuneration packages of the following directors
have been revised after taking consideration of their
responsibilities and the prevailing market rates:

With effect from 1 January 2022, the monthly
remunerations of Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor, Ms. Chan
Wai Kei, Vicki and Mr. Wong Edward Gwon-hing
have been revised to HK$210,000, HK$94,000 and
HK$130,000 respectively.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report and
in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with a director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during or at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests
of directors of the Company in businesses which might
compete with the Group during the year ended 30 June
2022 and as at 30 June 2022 were as follows:

Dr. Chan, a Director of the Company, has held interest and
directorship in companies engaged in the same businesses
of property investments in Hong Kong and gold mining
activities in Sichuan Province of the PRC and Indonesia.
Although some of the businesses carried out by these
companies are similar to those of the Group, they are of
different scale and/or at different locations. Therefore, the
Board is of the view that the businesses of those companies
did not compete with the businesses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence
during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
set out below:
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Name of Directors

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
("Mr. Victor Chan")

Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
("Dr. Chan")

Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley
("Ms. Cheng")

Chan Wai Kei, Vicki
("Ms. Vicki Chan")

Chan Ping Kuen, Derek

Yam Tat Wing

Wong Edward Gwon-hing

ZERRARE LR
Bt H Rl %HBE35%
}35%# & 2 A Bl Tamar
Investments Group
Limited# & < B & £
BLtRkBEREEHR
Tamar Investments Group

LimitedZ EF o

AERGRERRR B
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(L Fa

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)
1. Interests in the Company
» (ZU%
KAAZLERKE (BhHEHE) aEf
Number of ordinary shares of the Company BATME
(after Share Consolidation) Percentage of
fANER DNEAER ARk R the Company's
Personal Corporate Underlying @5t issued share
interest interest interest Total capital
270,000 - 3,000,000 3,270,000 0.48%
(MEE2) (Note 2)
- 506,339,522 - 506,339,522 74.12%
(FF3E1) (Note 1)
- 506,339,522 - 506,339,522 74.12%
(FF3E1) (Note 1)
- - 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.44%
(A7E2) (Note 2)
20,000 - - 20,000 0.003%
240,000 - 2,000,000 2,240,000 0.33%
(M7E2) (Note 2)
- - 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.44%
(M7E2) (Note 2)
Note 1. Such interests are held by Tamar Investments Group
Limited, which is a company owned as to 35% by
Dr. Chan and 35% by Ms. Cheng. Dr. Chan, Ms.
Cheng and Mr. Victor Chan are directors of Tamar
Investments Group Limited.
Note 2: These interests represented the interests in underlying

shares of the Company in respect of share options
granted to the Directors.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

2. Interests in associated corporation

Tamar Investments Group Limited

)

g#f

BARAR

AREEZEERYA Percentage

Number of ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the issued
AN NAER HRER share capital of
Personal Corporate Underlying @5t the associated
interest interest interest Total corporation
16 - - 16 16%

35 - - 35 35%

35 - - 35 35%

7 - - 7 7%

Except as disclosed above, as at the reporting date, none of
the Directors or their respective associates had any personal,
family, corporate or other interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no time during the year were the rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age to acquire such rights in any other corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2022, no person, other than Mr. Victor Chan,
Dr. Chan, Ms. Cheng and Ms. Vicki Chan, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, had registered an interest in 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions, which also
constituted as related party transactions are set out in note
45 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no other significant event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint the auditor, BDO Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lap, Victor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 September 2022
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CONTINENTAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 270, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of mining right and related non-financial
assets

(Refer to notes 3.8, 3.9, 3.11, 3.13, 4, 14, 15 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had carrying amounts (before
current year's impairment) in relation to mining right and non-
financial assets of approximately HK$576.8 million and HK$35.5
million respectively relating to one of the cash-generating units
within the mining operation segment (the “Mining CGU II”).

Management has performed an impairment assessment in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and recognised
impairment losses of mining right and property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$81.8 million and HK$1.6 million
respectively for the year ended 30 June 2022. Management
engaged an independent valuation firm to estimate the recoverable
amount of the Mining CGU Il using market approach with reference
to recent comparable transactions undertaken in the mining
industry.

We identified the impairment assessment of mining right and
related non-financial assets as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and because
the selection of recent comparable transactions involve significant
judgement and estimates with respect to the underlying market
approach.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of mining right and non-financial assets attributable to
the Mining CGU Il included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm's competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor’s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimations
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investment properties
(Refer to notes 3.12, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s investment properties at
30 June 2022 was HK$2,092.9 million. Investment properties are
measured at cost on initial recognition, and thereafter are carried
at fair value, with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group recognised a fair
value gain on its investment properties of HK$98.5 million. The
valuation of investment properties (including investment properties
under construction) involves significant judgement and estimates
and is underpinned by a number of key assumptions. The Group
carries out a valuation of its investment properties on the following
bases: (i) investment properties under construction are valued by
applying the residual method, which is determined by deducting the
estimated construction and other professional costs to completion,
including cost of construction, professional fees, associated costs
and an allowance for developer's profit margin from the gross
development value; and (ii) completed investment properties
(individual unit) are valued using the direct comparison method.
To assist management in this area which involves significant
judgements and estimates, the Group engaged an independent
valuation firm to perform the property valuation.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and because the valuation of investment properties can
be inherently subjective and requires significant judgement.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties
included:

- evaluating the independent valuation firm’'s competence,
expertise and objectivity;

- assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used by management and the independent valuation firm;

- reviewing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and critical judgement areas which underpin
the fair value estimation;

- engaging an auditor’'s expert to assist us to assess the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
used by management and the independent valuation firm
which underpin the fair value estimation; and

- checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data
used.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Other Information in the Annual Report (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin
Practising Certificate Number P06162

Hong Kong, 23 September 2022
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HEZZ - _FA=THILFE
2022 2021
k23 Fi#T FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
W &= Revenue 6 603,926 536,267
5 AR Cost of sales (458,813) (420,078)
EF Gross profit 145,113 116,189
HE R HEK A Selling and distribution costs (15,495) (17,872)
TERE R Administrative expenses (117,410) (93,339)
Hiplg A - HbUkzS K E5#8  Other income, other gains and losses 249 15,629
B 5 EUGRIE R B A fE UK IA  Reversal of impairment loss/
BEEERE CRERTE) (Impairment loss) on trade
ek receivables and other receivables,

net 270 (2,389)
KEMEATEZE Change in fair value of investment

properties 16 98,485 77,708
VI - R N &M 2 BB R TE  Impairment loss on property, plant

and equipment 14 (6,347) (5,759)
BRI 2 B EE Impairment loss on mining right 20 (81,838) (59,892)
B TS RK AN Finance costs 7 (5,182) 4,511)
ElEEehEEE Share of results of joint ventures (1) (931)
il NI Share of results of associates 313 (2,523)
R BT 45 %t B i25 Profit before income tax 8 18,157 22,310
FTiSfiiE % Income tax credit 9 20,305 11,959
FERNiEH Profit for the year 38,462 34,269
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2022 2021
k=3 F#ET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Hitt = EU s R HIE Other comprehensive income,
net of tax
HENEHF»EEHEFZEA | tems that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
IAFER AHMEEWEZ 2 Change in fair value of debt
BB TARFELE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (392) (945)
R E AR FEEFT AEAM Reclassified to profit or loss upon
PHE W 2 EH T AR disposal of a debt instrument
BN EEEE at fair value through other
comprehensive income (108) 8
BMEBINEB ELZR Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (11,540) 45,079
HETEEHMHPEEHEEZ  Items that will not be
IHER: subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss:
AR EFAEMEEmWZZ Change in fair value of equity
BRATAEQAFEZE instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (5,915) 1,819
ENHMmEEWE MBRBIE  Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax (17,955) 45,961
FRNEE LA Total comprehensive income
for the year 20,507 80,230
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N2

St el

2022 2021
k=3 F#ET FHET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FEILFE Wi F Profit for the year attributable to:
RARER A Owners of the Company 12,142 19,885
FEF2E il R Non-controlling interests 26,320 14,384
38,462 34,269
EiEENEEW SR Total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
ViN/NETEZZ =N Owners of the Company (5,621) 65,791
FEPE G Non-controlling interests 26,128 14,439
20,507 80,230
HK cents HK cents
B JEN
EAREEE ANEMLENZ Earnings per share for profit
SREF attributable to the owners of
the Company 11
— &K — Basic 1.78 2.91
—#8 — Diluted 1.78 2.91
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2022 2021
k23 F#ETT FET
Notes HK$000 HK$000
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
I EN S Property, plant and equipment 14 30,251 39,629
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 41,049 46,863
KB Investment properties 16 2,092,900 1,928,300
HE Goodwill 17 8,124 8,124
EEE Intangible assets 18 8,300 8,234
TRuERE Mining right 20 494,940 591,056
P RN = Interests in associates 21 30,195 29,882
RE&ERE L Eam Interests in joint ventures 22 1,041 1,042
AT EFT AEMEEmWE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
TREE other comprehensive income 23 34,630 37,945
A EFFAERZ Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 28 10,860 11,370
& BB FE R IE Long-term receivables 24 - =
RIEFIE & 2= Deferred tax assets 37 2,728 2,728
2,755,018 2,705,173
MEEE Current assets
BERPYE Properties under development 25 632,485 335,843
FE Inventories 26 209,081 214,417
B 5 RIGIE Trade receivables 27 108,755 99,943
TERTZIE e R HAMEI  Prepayments, deposits and other
FIE receivables 11,790 10,509
IAAFEEGTABZZ Financial assets at fair value through
TRIEE profit or loss 28 3,887 12,185
HekReEH Cash and cash equivalents 29 144,008 340,207
1,110,006 1,013,104
mEARE Current liabilities
B S ERN IR Trade payables 30 (106,595) (67,725)
H A RIBE R ERE R Other payables and accruals (57,916) (119,273)
AEHEE Contract liabilities 31 (268) (720)
RITERK Bank loans 32 (884,621) (707,010)
HEBE Lease liabilities 33 (4,168) (4,162)
FE1S BA B A B 5K I8 Due to related companies 35 (6,877) (7,225)
& &R Due to joint ventures 22 (1,036) (1,036)
MIB R Provision for tax (2,301) (3,034)
(1,063,782) (910,185)
mEEEREE Net current assets 46,224 102,919
BEERTHER Total assets less current liabilities 2,801,242 2,808,092
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2022 2021
it FETT FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 32 (142,800) (129,200)
HEAE Lease liabilities 33 (11,550) (15,167)
FEAS FEF2E I 2 TN 0E Due to non-controlling interests 34 (56,275) (48,785)
P& B HSE A | 5RIR Due to related companies 35 (32,624) (33,011)
TR AR IRt 2 B 3K Loan from a controlling shareholder 36 (4,686) (4,802)
BEFIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 37 (106,941) (130,619)
(354,876) (361,584)
BEFE Net assets 2,446,366 2,446,508
&= EQUITY
(&N Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
s Reserves 39 1,662,492 1,683,578
AARHEE ANEGES Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 2,223,165 2,244,251
e HE = Non-controlling interests 223,201 202,257
SR Total equity 2,446,366 2,446,508
REREEZ On behalf of the Board
R {2 3L Chan Wai Lap, Victor
EZE Director
BREE = Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
EZ Director
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2022 2021
ifz3 F#ET FAET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
RETHHEERE Cash flows from operating
activities
B P15 35 B4 A Profit before income tax 18,157 22,310
B TEE FAE Adjustments for:
B TE R AN Finance costs 5,182 4,511
EheEatEFEE Share of results of joint ventures 1 931
FE(GH & A R %A Share of results of associates (313) 2,523
W BERJRETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 4,137 4,117
FRAEEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,015 6,142
R 2 R EEE Impairment loss on mining right 81,838 59,892
Y BE &R ZRE Impairment loss on property,

518 plant and equipment 6,347 5,759
FEEE Provision for inventories 7,388 7,658
FHEE S EWEE & (Reversal of impairment loss)/

H A A EURIE 2 Impairment loss on trade

CREEERER), receivables and other

BB E IR F R receivables, net (270) 2,389
HEWE  WE MEREA R Gain on disposal of property,

2 AR A B 2 e plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (33) (3,130)
HENAFET AEM (Gain)/Loss on disposal of a
2EWEZEBIAEZ debt instrument at
(z) B8 fair value through other
comprehensive income (108) 8
WSH Y= - B K A Write-off of property,
plant and equipment - 109
KREMELATEZE Change in fair value of
investment properties (98,485) (77,708)
ARAFEFAEZ 2SR Fair value loss/(gain) on

BEZATEERE/ financial assets at fair value

(Uhas) through profit or loss 5,142 (566)
KEBINEEBE () Unrealised foreign exchange

loss/(gain) 537 (1,228)
LI — R R A Al Gain on debt modification on
1EEIE 2 W s amount due to a related
company (1,407) (1,446)
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2022 2021
k23 Fi#T FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
LELZSEHIZELEERN  Operating profit before
working capital changes 34,128 32,271
REZRFYME Addition to properties under
development (294,493) (14,731)
FEEM Increase in inventories (2,052) (6,171)
5 e FRIA L N Increase in trade receivables (6,892) (10,403)
TARTFRIE iR e R H A (Increase)/Decrease in prepayments,
FE W RaE (3 h0) R deposits and other receivables (2,749) 4,592
ARAFEFTABZ SR Decrease in financial assets
BERD at fair value through profit or loss 7,534 1,841
B 5 R HE BRI K& (Decrease)/Increase in trade and
FERTEA CRid), /i other payables and accruals (22,487) 69,789
AHEE CRD), /#Emn (Decrease)/Increase in contract
liabilities (452) 245
g& (A /HEzRE Cash (used in)/generated from
operations (287,463) 77,433
[EENEESS Interest paid (14,778) (12,987)
BB Income tax paid (961) (42)
IEEEE (FTH)  BriigZ Net cash (used in)/generated from
HE/FH operating activities (303,202) 64,404
BREEFHHERE Cash flows from investing
activities
RNEWE HEREE Additions to property,
plant and equipment (2,078) (1,845)
NEREMFE Additions to investment properties (56,479) (213,061)
HEME  HE REZE Proceeds from disposal of
ARERESEZ property, plant and equipment
FFr {5 3k 18 and right-of-use assets 33 9,147
HEUAFEFAEMET  Proceeds from disposal of financial
WSz S REEZFTSFIA  assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 3,826 14,477
WiE—FRBAREEZ Net cash outflows arising from
FIRE R acquisition of a subsidiary 47(b) = (63,687)
—ENB AR ROEE Proceeds from dilution of shares
Fri5 3k 18 in a subsidiary = 3
BEUAFEFABRZ Purchase of financial assets at fair
TREE value through profit or loss (3,868) (11,629)
BEARNFESAHEMEE  Purchase of financial assets
W2 & mEE at fair value through other
comprehensive income (6,818) (35,798)
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2022 2021
ifz3 FET FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
REZBHAZHEEEH Net cash used in investing
activities (65,384) (302,393)
MEEFHRERE Cash flow from financing
activities
BERRE Dividend paid (13,662) =
FEfE A Advance from non-controlling
interests 7,490 19,445
BEBERR Advance from joint ventures - 340
) NGIEEN Advance from a related company - 6,805
EEHERELREEHE Repayment of principal and interest
amount of lease liabilities (5,242) (5,205)
WHE FEIE f s E A 2 Cash outflows arising from
R acquisition of non-controlling
interests 47(a) (6,987) -
HILERITE R New bank loans 598,786 186,988
BEIEITER Repayment of bank loans (407,815) (102,493)
HEFBFZREFH Net cash generated from
financing activities 172,570 105,880
RERREERAELER Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents (196,016) (132,109)
EMZRERREEH Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 340,207 468,521
IEERBHZRE  FH Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (183) 3,795
EXRZBREREEEH Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 144,008 340,207
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HE_Z-__FX A=THILFE

K0TREARRES
Equtyatrbutable o the owners o the Company

IAFEA

ih2E
e TRk B izl ] HERE  EXRORE EEGER Wakk REEH R 5]
Fair value
Share Non- Capial Eichange Assets through other Non-
Share opton  distibutable Other Specdl  contrbuton fluctuation revaugion  comprehensive: Retaned contoling Totd
aptdl resene fesene fesene fesene Tesene fesene fesene  ncome resene proft Total inetests quty
i FEr 7Hr FEr FET i FEr A 7Hr FEr AT

HSow S0 S0 S0 o S0 HSow Hsom S0 S0 Hsow S0 S0

RIFZFELA-RIER Balance as at 1 July 2020 560,673 6,609 213606 (5610) 2103 28567 (3343%) 3,385 21 1312415 2179583 186,692 2366275
-EHEA AR #E Diution of shares n a subsidery - - - - - - 3 - - 391) (113 1126 3
BEEAZRS Transactions with owners - - - - - - 3 - - 391) (113 1126 3
EREH Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - - 19,885 19885 14384 34269
EheEka: Other comprehensive income:
BERNEHRARLEIEHEE  Dchangedifeences on transaton of
foregn operations and jont ventures - - - - - - 4504 - - - 4504 55 85079
WATE A LB EREY Changes i fai value of financil
REEATE.EY assets at faitvlue through other
comprehensie income - - - - - - - - o4 - a4 - a4

RUENATE A REREL  Recassied toproft o loss pon diposd
ERERIARENAREES o debtfnandl instrument atfar
value through other comprehensive

income - = - - B - - - 8 : g - 8
ELES T Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - - 504 - 82 19885 65,791 14439 80230

RIBZ-ERAZTRZER Balance at 30 June 2021 560673 6,603¢ 113606* (5610 (2103 8567 10856* 36,385 339 13BN 2240 0251 2,446,508
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For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THILFE

FRAAHEAREER
Equity attributable to the owners o the Company
IWATE
AR
B BRERE TUAREE LhER HHRE HERE  ERNORE EEEGEE 2ENERA REEH g FEsER Ea4E
Fair value
Share Non- Capital Exchange Assets  through other Non-
Share option ~ distrbutable: Other Specal  contnbution  fluctuation  revaluation ~ comprehensive Retained controling Total
capital Teserve reserve eserve Teserve reserve reserve Teserve  income reserve profits Total interests equity
FEL FEi k23 7L FEL FEr 7L 7L FEi bz 7L FEi Fér
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS0no HS00 HKS 000 HKSono HES00 HKS00 S0 HKS000 HKS00 HKS 000 HSono
RZBZ-§ARAZTAR Balance as at 30 June 2021 and
8C-5R-HZER 1 July 2021 560,673 6,609 13606 (5610) (2103) 2,561 10,856 36,385 3359 1331909 2244251 02257 2446508
= 2021 Finaldhidend (note 10) = = = = - (13662) (13662) - (13662)
[RHEREE Changes i onmertp nerests
BARREAE (MAMTHE)  asubsday vithoutcange in contol
note 47(3) - (1786) - - () - - (1.803) (5,184) (6.987)
BERALRS Tansactons with owners - (1786) - - ] - - (1366) (15469) (5184) (20,649)
EREH Profit for the year = - - - - 214 12148 %30 3462
LdENE: Other comprehensive ncome:
BERNERRARLEZEHEE  Dchange difeenceson ranston of
foregn operations and joint ventures - - - (11,348) - - (1348) (192) (11540)
Changes infar value offiancial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensie income - - - - (6307) (6307) - (6307)
Redlasfied to profit oross upon disposal
of debtfinandil insrument at far
value through other comprehensive
income - - - - (108) (108) - (108)
EReERALE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - (1348) - (6415) ALY (5,621) %18 20,501
RIFZZERAZTAZER Balance at 30 June 2022 560,673 6,609* 213,606 (7.39)% (2103 2,567 (509)¢ 3,385 (3056 1330389+ 223165 w0 2,466,366
* ZERBREBGSVBMRRT These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

4R A FEE1,662,492,0008 T (—F
— —%:1,683,578,000/ 7T ) °

HK$1,662,492,000 (2021: HK$1,683,578,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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— —RRER 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
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Continental Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong
Kong. The address of the Company’s registered office and
principal place of business is Flats M & N, 1st Floor, Kaiser
Estate, Phase Ill, 11 Hok Yuen Street, Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the following

activities:

o Design, manufacturing, marketing and trading
of fine jewellery and diamonds (the “Jewellery
Business”)

o Property investment and development

o Mining operation

° Investment

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s ultimate
holding company is Tamar Investments Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to
270 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (""HKFRSs”) which collective
terms include all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective from
1 July 2021

The Group has adopted the following revised
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant
to its operations and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2021.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

2021 Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

The adoption of these amended HKFRSs has no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially

relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial

statements, have been issued, but are not yet

effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group. The Group's current intention is to apply

these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2023

S No mandatory effective date yet determined by

Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate o Joint Venture’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising
from a Transaction’

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use”

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfillng a Contract’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle’

available for adoption
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it
refers to the revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 instead of the version
issued in 2010. The amendments add to HKFRS
3 a requirement that, for obligations within the
scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to
determine whether at the acquisition date a present
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a
levy that would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
to determine whether the obligating event that
gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred
by the acquisition date. The amendments also add
an explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. When
the transaction with an associate or joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting
from the remeasurement of retained interest in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or
a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised
as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The key amendments to HKAS 1 include (i) requiring
companies to disclose their material accounting
policies rather than their significant accounting
policies; (ii) clarifying that accounting policies
related to immaterial transactions, other events
or conditions are themselves immaterial and as
such need not be disclosed; and (iii) clarifying
that not all accounting policies that relate to
material transactions, other events or conditions
are themselves material to a company’s financial
statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(continued)

Amended HKFRS Practice Statement 2 includes
guidance and two additional examples on the
application of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments introduce a new definition for
accounting estimates: clarifying that they are
monetary amounts in the financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty.

The amendments also clarify the relationship
between accounting policies and accounting
estimates by specifying that a company develops an
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by an accounting policy.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Recognition of Deferred
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the “cost of fulfilling”
a contract comprises the “costs that relate directly
to the contract”. Costs that relate directly to a
contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials)
or an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs, Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

° HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permit
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by
its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

. HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify
the fees included in the "10 per cent’ test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or
the lender on other’s behalf are included.
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2.

ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs, Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
(continued)

. HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of
how lease incentives are illustrated in that
example.

The directors of the Company have performed an
assessment on new standards, amendments and
interpretations, and have concluded on a preliminary
basis that these new standards and amendments
would not have a significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements in subsequent
years.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
certain properties and financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management's best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 4.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up
to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the acquired
set of activities and assets meets the definition of
a business and control is transferred to the Group.
In determining whether a particular set of activities
and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether
the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at
a minimum, an input and substantive processes and
whether the acquired set has the ability to produce
outputs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally
measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit
or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-
transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs
are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in profit or loss.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling interest
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would
be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were
disposed of.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

33

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (i)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the
Company has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee without holding the
majority of the voting rights. In determining whether
de-facto control exists the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances, including:

- The size of the Company’s voting rights
relative to both the size and dispersion of
other parties who hold voting rights;

- Substantive potential voting rights held by
the Company and other parties who hold
voting rights;

- Other contractual arrangements; and

- Historic patterns in voting attendance.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

33

34

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not control or
joint control over those policies. In consolidated
financial statements, associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying
amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest
in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only to
the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the
associate. The investor’'s share in the associate’s
profits or losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the
associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

34

3.5

Associates (continued)

Any premium paid for an associate above the
fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
is capitalised and included in the carrying amount
of the associate and the entire carrying amount of
the investment is subject to impairment test, by
comparing the carrying amount with its recoverable
amount, which is higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers
joint control over the relevant activities of the
arrangement to the Group and at least one other
party. Joint control is assessed under the same
principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint
arrangements as either:

- Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to
only the net assets of the joint arrangement;
or

- Joint operations: where the Group has both
the rights to assets and obligations for the
liabilities of the joint arrangement.

O
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

Joint arrangements (continued)

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

The structure of the joint arrangement;

- The legal form of joint arrangements
structured through a separate vehicle;

- The contractual terms of the joint
arrangement agreement; and

- Any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at
cost and thereafter, their carrying amounts are
adjusted for the Group’s share of post-acquisition
changes in the joint ventures’ net assets except
that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
joint venture are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses. Profits or
losses arising on the transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors' interests in the joint
venture. The investors’ share in the joint venture's
profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the joint
venture. Where unrealised losses provide evidence
of impairment of the assets transferred they are
recognised immediately to profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5

3.6

Joint arrangements (continued)

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint
venture above the fair value of the Group's share
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in
the carrying amount of the investment in a joint
venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in the same way as other non-financial
assets.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all
individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the
Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated
into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting
period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in the exchange fluctuation reserve in equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that operation up to
the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the profit or loss on disposal.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregate of the fair value
of consideration paid, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is
recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date,
after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the
relevant cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, by comparing its carrying amount with its
recoverable amount (see note 3.13), and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

3.8

Goodwill (continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the
individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair
value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value
in use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit
or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note
3.13). Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Other than mining structures, depreciation is

calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the

cost of each asset over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Factory buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 25 years,

whichever is shorter

Commercial buildings Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 33 years,

whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the leases or

estimated useful lives of 4 years,

whichever is shorter

10% - 33%

17% - 20%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 25%

Depreciation on mining structures is provided to
write off the cost of the mining structure using units-
of-production method based on the total proven and
probable mineral reserves of the ore mines.

The depreciation method, assets’ residual values
and useful lives, are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at each reporting date. The gain or loss
on retirement or disposal of an asset of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.

ul



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

(o))

= XE

(&)

3.8

3.9

ERTECRIE

M BERRE (&)

R TR AR S E
BRBIGR A BIEEE
REMA - EERTRA
{ERE MR AT - R T
SR ETHE -

WE BERXBRER
HERREREERZE
ERHTGEEEAIAREK
OB s AR L TERR -
ERBEYE BB MR
tRIA B EAE R E KRk
BRERHEMSHREE
ERAEFENZHRET -
I 74 18 21 P FERR

HE

Fre MEERERE ISk
NERBRERERERRE
BEMMERRE HER
ZHSFBRER g
BERg)BEHEExM
ER/HNVEBEE R
REEZHEBRTER-
AEBBRRETHEEE
BEARNRBABH A
EHILRIN2EAZHEE
HREAREERHEES
fEeElZEHEREE
ENFERHERRNZRE
mEL e

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

3.9

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs
of construction. No depreciation is provided for
in respect of construction in progress until it is
completed and ready for its intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-
value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for
the accounting policy to account for lease liability);
(ii) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. Except
for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of
an investment property, the Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-
to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-of-use
asset that meets the definition of an investment
property, they are carried at fair value.

~l
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings
that are held for rental or capital appreciation
purpose under HKAS 40 and are carried at fair value.
The Group accounts for buildings which is held for
own use under HKAS 16 and would be under cost
model. For right-of-use assets related to interests
in leasehold land where interest in the land is held
as inventory are carried at lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with note 3.15. Other
than the above right-of-use assets, the Group also
has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises it judgement
and determines that it is a separate class of asset
apart from the leasehold land and buildings which
is held for own use. As a result, the right-of-use
asset arising from the properties under tenancy
agreements are carried at depreciated cost.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

Leasing (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring
the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or
rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Xe)
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9

3.10

3.1

Leasing (continued)

Accounting as lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties
to a number of tenants. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
as an expense on the straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the
accounting policy in note 3.13 below in respect of
impairment losses on intangible assets).

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised on the units-of-production method based
on the total proven and probable reserves of the ore
mines.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

When the Group holds a property interest under
an operating lease to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property on
a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment
property is accounted for as if it were held under a
finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property is
measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment property is stated at fair value, unless it
is still in the course of construction or development
at the reporting date and its fair value cannot
be reliably determined at that time. Fair value is
determined by external professional valuers, with
sufficient experience with respect to both the
location and the nature of the investment property.
The carrying amounts recognised at the reporting
date reflect the prevailing market conditions at the
reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.12

3.13

Investment properties (continued)

An item of Investment property is derecognised
upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property, calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right, and interests in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the assets’ carrying amount may not
be recoverable.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be
impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.13

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwiill) (continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a CGU). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at CGU level. Any impairment loss is charged
pro-rata to the assets in the CGU, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’'s recoverable amount and
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments

(@

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(&) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
0] THEE (&) () Financial assets (continued)
&% T A Debt instruments
BT A ZBE Subsequent measurement of debt
SFERURRAS instruments depends on the Group's
BEREE X business model for managing the asset and
BEAREEZ the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
WEMER - A& There are three measurement categories

B EBTAE
DRE=ZEFER
Al

into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

ABESEAK A FH =2 Financial assets at amortised cost: Assets
ZEREE 8 that are held for collection of contractual
R & £ B 2 cash flows where those cash flows represent
MZEEWMEN solely payments of principal and interest are
IR & 4B A& measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
e RFIE - BIA at amortised cost are subsequently measured
BESHRKARGTE A using the effective interest method. Interest
BEXKAGTEZ income, foreign exchange gains and losses
TREERER® and impairment are recognised in profit or

FAEBR A R ORET
B FLE WA S
PEE 18 2 S Ot (B
BT - R LR
B2 R RS R

1Bt

loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

ul
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

()

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

Fair value through profit or loss: Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or
loss, or financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
() THEE (&) () Financial assets (continued)

EHTHA (&)

Debt instruments (continued)

AAFEFAR Fair value through other comprehensive
2 E S AR income: Financial assets that are held within
B WHL & 4938 a business model whose objective is to be

EREEEER
BEEKRBREZ
EBEEARA
HeERMEERND
iR R4 E B 8
SIEMERZ
A RAREER
TRMNEZRE
mZEMEE T

achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the financial
assets give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount
outstanding are measured at fair value
though other comprehensive income.
Interest income calculated using the effective

WA FEF A interest method, foreign exchange gains
Hth 2 EK =2 and losses and impairment are recognised
FRFE-FRE in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses

BRA XA E 2
MBUA - HNE S
5 N 85 18 LA KR
BTN B ER -
H ek I &5 18
FEIREME
ER S HERR - I
IERERRE - R E A
2HWRERFTZ
Yas 5B g [El
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are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income
are recycled to profit or loss.

~
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued))

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised
in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as fair value through profit or loss,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or
loss.
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= FESHBIRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

F-)) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(ir) ERREZ A (ii) Impairment loss on financial assets
b=l
AEERE S E The Group recognises loss allowances for
W SR IR F DA B 8 expected credit loss (“ECLs”) on trade
AT E 2 & @l receivables and financial assets measured
EEZEHEE at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured
EEEREEE on either of the following bases: (1) 12
;o FEHEEEE months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result

BRUTHES—E
BEEFGFE: (1) 12
BRAEHEEE
B EERSAH
#1218 A W] g
BAEZENEN
mEHRZEHE
EEE: RQ)2
HTEHEEEA -
ERem T AEE
HEHANFMET
R EZENS
14 1 & B 2 T8 HA
EEEE -
BHEEBRR
EEZREHM
AEREEEYHE
ERkz&mRA
KIHH -

B S B AR T
(S EAE Y B
B E - RS
BIRRE A W E
SEX Y Py
ANRSREL
o 8 T H R 2
AR 2R
ZEEHE BT
B2 BEERA
EZHORER
AESTER

from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the assets’ original effective
interest rate.

\e)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
314 £@THE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  BEEEZEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
B (& (continued)
RETEZREE When determining whether the credit risk of
ZIEERRBEY a financial asset has increased significantly
BERARER since initial recognition and when estimating
BRI e R ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
HEEHREES supportable information that is relevant and
B AEEgE available without undue cost or effort. This
BEBEREREN includes both quantitative and qualitative
SRR Sl o i information analysis, based on the Group's
% AR &S historical experience and informed credit
ZEaBEAAEBR assessment and including forward-looking
TRER BEE information.
RAEBZ2ESE
KB EESAE
At zEE R
EMERST B
FERIBE A AL o
fit & @b & &= 8 5 The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
FRiE30H « BIARE financial asset has increased significantly if it
BREBEZEEZ is more than 30 days past due. Depending
FERBREBAE on the nature of the financial instruments,
EMe-EFERT the assessment of a significant increase
EMMEmE - in credit risk is performed on either an
FEER R KE L individual or a collective basis. When the
F+ 8 & & Ty 4% & assessment is performed on a collective basis,
Bl ok B E the financial instruments are grouped based
1T MaE AR on shared credit risk characteristics, such as

RIEEETT S/
TRANRKRN
EERRERE (10
BEARREE
R AR #ET D
Ao

past due status and credit risk ratings.
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= FTEEFRBRBE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 &®MTHE (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  BEEEZHEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
7B (&) (continued)
REERE WE The Group considers a financial asset to be
% AT K] BE 1 in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay
RNEEE|EBERT its credit obligations to the Group in full,
FRIE R T RA without recourse by the Group to action. The
EEE2EIMNAE Group considers that default has occurred
EEEE AZe when a financial asset is more than 90 days
EEEBIER - K past due unless the Group has reasonable
SERE ET/ and supportable information to demonstrate
& s AR B 90 that a more lagging default criterion is more
HEPZEAEEL B appropriate.
FAREEBHEE
A 5/ & R E A
— {3 hn & e
BHNREREARA
B SIERR o
REBRAET R The Group considers a financial asset to be
BELETIBER credit-impaired when:
THBREERE:
- BB AR = significant financial difficulty of the
BE KXY debtor;
TSR E
- ERY - g = a breach of contract, such as a
# /R =8 default or being more than 90 days
HI#E 1390 past due event unless the Group
B BRIEAR has reasonable and supportable
SEEES information demonstrate otherwise;
|8 KAl &
SR S
B3R
BERA
i Bl 5
hillk
- N & B R = the restructuring of a loan or advance
&1 B fth by the Group on terms that the
(=N Group would not consider otherwise;
2= R
KR EH
BB
K
— BE#% AT = it is becoming probable that the
REgRE debtor will enter bankruptcy or other
ok #E 17 E financial reorganisation; or
fth BF 7% =
4 3k
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(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
314 @I E (&) 3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i)  EHEEZEEE (i) Impairment loss on financial assets
75 (%&) (continued)
— B R B - the disappearance of an active
RE - F5 market for a security because of
Vh R T 35 financial difficulties.
K e
B ERBTY The Group writes off a financial asset when
FHBEBREMB there is information indicating that the
HEmEBREK counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
= AT gE - PlanEF and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
7 IEEITIERE K for example, when the counterparty has
EEAWERF been placed under liquidation or has entered
AEBEEHES into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
MEE -EEZRE assets written off may still be subject to
BEAERE B enforcement activities under the Group's
i iE < B & E D recovery procedures, taking into account
A AR 15 7N & B /Y legal advice where appropriate. A write-
W B 32 7 B 1 0R off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
HFNIT o MEHIEAX subsequent recoveries are recognised in
RIETEREIE profit or loss.
o] B 1% 3 17 B UK

BT IB S TR o

REBRERF The Group recognises an impairment gain
BRAESHRHT or loss in profit or loss for all financial
B 5y R B M 3 instruments with a corresponding adjustment
JE5 18 - [F Br 3 38 S to their carrying amount through a loss
BREERYHR allowance account.

H & 7 E L AR

HBREEREZ
TRMEEZHNE

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised

WAERESHE cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
2 2 BESER AR (B loss allowance) of the financial asset. For
RHmAEREE non credit-impaired financial assets interest
HHE)ETE - & income is calculated based on the gross
BEERBEZ® carrying amount.

B & E 2 F B

AEREKEEARE

FTE .
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(iir)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities
at amortised costs are initially measured at
fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade payables, other payables and accruals,
bank loans, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, loan from a controlling shareholder,
amounts due to joint ventures and amounts
due to related companies are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria
for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS
9.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial Instruments (continued)

(vi)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.14

Financial Instruments (continued)

(vi)

Derecognition (continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that
liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value
on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the
financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.15

3.16

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on the estimated selling prices in the ordinary
course of business less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

The cost of properties under development
comprise the acquisition cost of land, construction
costs, professional fees, other direct expenses
and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3.22).
Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated cost of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand and demand deposits.



Annual Report 2022 “F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

= FEGSHBRBTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

(%) ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.17 BERIAEE 3.17 Provisions and contingent liabilities
EREERBEEHEME Provisions are recognised when the Group has a

ERBEERIEEEE
METR IR A LS K
BN E M B A AT SEdh
PRS- BIERE
Bo-MeBEKEEELN:
A IRTA BT P
FR 2 HEIR-

REHE B iR kAR
PRBERME  ARBRER 2
REEMR -

AR ERRETEEH
BN IR - HEER
SR AlekE
AETESIRBER
B RIEEEMSE RN Z
A] BE AR K RN 1 Bl o A
HRFREEEHR—F
EERIRAEE TR
B2 T HEE ST
FREZBEERE TTME
REABERE FRIFL
MR Z AT REIEARE
A1ERIF

KARENBEENEE
XA PTRIEEE R
BEZEEPHER IR
BEMRERNEERER
NP ERE HRAZRE
Rt R] & H B R R
AR S RRMIT

present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course
of the allocation of purchase price to the assets
and liabilities acquired in a business combination.
They are initially measured at fair value at the date
of acquisition and subsequently measured at the
higher of the amount that would be recognised in
a comparable provision as described above and the

A 25t (RER) 2 amount initially recognised less any accumulated
ReEir=e amortisation, if appropriate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18

3.19

Share capital

Under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
Cap.622, shares of the Company do not have a
nominal value. Considerations received or receivable
for the issue of shares on or after 3 March 2014 is
credited to share capital. Commissions and expenses
are allowed to be deducted from share capital under
S.148 and S.149 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or
other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods
or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and

consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or
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3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)
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° does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. Where the contract contains
a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised
under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For contracts where the period
between the payment and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation

to transfer services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

()

Sales of goods

Customers obtain control of the goods when
the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon
when the customers accepted the goods.
There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable 30 to
120 days.

Some of the Group's contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provides
customers a right of return (a right to
exchange another product). These rights
of return do not allow the returned goods
to be refund in cash. The right of return
gives rise to variable consideration. The
variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until
the associated uncertainty is subsequently
resolved. The application of the constraint on
variable consideration increases the amount
of revenue that will be deferred. In addition,
a refund liability and a right to recover
returned goods assets are recognised.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

()

(i)

Sales of goods (continued)

Some of the Group's contracts with
customers from the sale of goods provide
customers a volume rebate if the customer
purchases more than certain volume of
goods in a calendar year. The volume rebates
give rise to variable consideration. The
Group apply the expected value method to
estimate the variable consideration. A refund
liability would be recognised based on the
estimate of the expected value to be paid
for the customer’s volume-based rebated.
Any expected volume rebate provision is
recognised as refund liabilities.

Sale of property

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
held for sale is recognised in profit or loss
on the basis that control over the ownership
of the property has been passed to the
customer during the current accounting
period, which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially all
the benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under contract liabilities.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iir)

(iv)

v)

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method; and

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.
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320 EEEA 3.20 Employee benefits
RIKEF Retirement benefits
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Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme becoming effective, the
Group operated a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme (the “Prior Scheme”) for those
employees who were eligible to participate in this
scheme. The Prior Scheme operated in a similar way
to the MPF Scheme, except that when an employee
left the Prior Scheme before his/her interest in the
Group’s employer contributions vested fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group were
reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.

ul
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20

Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate
in the People’s Republic of China except Hong
Kong and Macau (“Mainland China”) are required
to participate in a retirement benefits scheme (the
“RB Scheme"”) operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
RB Scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the RB Scheme is to
pay the ongoing required contributions under the
RB Scheme. Contributions under the RB Scheme are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the RB Scheme.

The employees of the subsidiaries which operate in
the United Kingdom (“UK") and the United States
of America (“USA") are required to participate in a
retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the retirement
benefits scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as employees render services during the
year. The Group’s obligations under these plans are
limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable
to these plans.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.20

3.21

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted
after 7 November 2002 and had not vested on
1 January 2005 are recognised in the financial
statements. The Group operates equity-settled share-
based compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees and other eligible participants.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets).
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.21

Share-based compensation (continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss over the vesting period
if vesting conditions apply, or recognised as an
expense in full at the grant date when the equity
instruments granted vest immediately unless the
compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
in equity. If vesting conditions apply, the expense is
recognised over the vesting period, based on the
best available estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is
any indication that the number of equity instruments
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in reserve will
be transferred to share capital. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.22

3.23

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year.

(o)
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method
on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available
to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value under
HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts
on these investment properties are measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of these
investment properties at their carrying amounts at
the reporting date. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.
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3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary differences arising from initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
|loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on interests in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, provided
they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income
or when they relate to items recognised directly in
equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.23 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

(b)

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.24

3.25

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivable.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the chief
operating decision-maker i.e. the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group's business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major line of business.
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3.25 Segment reporting (continued)

AEBEDBAATA 28]

The Group has identified the following reportable

DEp segments:

. KRB X . Jewellery Business

. MERE RER . Property investment and development
. BRIE TS . Mining operation

. ®E . Investment
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Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers, if any, are
carried out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs, except that certain finance
costs, income tax expense and corporate income and
expenses which are not directly attributable to the
business activities of any operating segment, are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

ul



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

(@)

= XE

(&)

3.25

3.26

ERTECRIE

DEE2H (E)

DHEBEREMAERE
HRE KRR e FRRIELT
BIHEERRIN o b S A
FEEREBEMEENS
ZEBRBZRREET
ENRENE TBRA
SEBEEM -

DEHBETERLIFER
BEEMEE M ZE
BE8 2 RITE 2R
BEREH 2 &R THIER
B REHRARENRAT]
BfE-

B

@@ fHEBATAL A
Z AT EEZA
THEEZIZR
FERX B B 7K & [E
B R

(i E NV
B
% [ E
il

i) HARA
BEAY
5%

(iii) =W N/NE]
% & 2 A
SARZ
TEEE
N-E

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.25

3.26

Segment reporting (continued)

Segment assets include all assets but cash and cash
equivalents and deferred tax assets. In addition,
corporate assets which are not directly attributable
to the business activities of any operating segment
are not allocated to a segment, which primarily
applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude bank loans, loan from a
controlling shareholder, provision for tax, deferred
tax liabilities and corporate liabilities, which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

0) has control or joint control over the
Company;

(i) has significant influence over the
Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management

personnel of the Company or the
Company'’s parent.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.26 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Company or to the Company’s
parent.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.26 Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

\e)
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimated fair value of investment properties

As at the reporting date, the Group’s investment properties
are stated at the value based on the valuation performed
by an independent valuation firm. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has based its valuation on (i) investment
properties under construction being valued by applying
the residual method, which is determined by deducting
the estimated construction and other professional costs
to completion, including cost of construction, professional
fees, associated costs and an allowance for developer’s
profit margin from the gross development value; and (ii)
completed investment properties (individual unit) being
valued by using the direct comparison method. In relying on
the valuation, management has exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the methods of valuation adopted
are appropriate for the relevant property and reflective of
current market conditions.

Net realisable value of properties under development

Management determines the net realisable value of
properties under development by using prevailing market
data such as most recent sales transactions and market
valuation report available from independent valuation firm.
Such valuation is made based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainties and might materially different
from the actual result. In making the judgement, reasonable
consideration has been given to the underlying assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions exiting at the
reporting date. These estimates are regularly compared to
actual market data and actual transactions in the market.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
would be reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed. The assessment of the correlation
among historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in notes 27 and 49.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (except for
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made,
which is considered to be the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. All non-financial assets
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 3.13. In carrying out the impairment
assessment of mining right and related non-financial
assets, the directors use their judgement in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique. Where appropriate, the
valuation is estimated by independent valuation firm to
estimate the recoverable amount of the CGU of mining
operation using market approach with reference to recent
comparable transactions undertaken in the mining industry.
Any changes in economic conditions and mineral prices and
the availability of comparable transactions may materiality
affect the estimation of the recoverable amount of the non-
financial assets.

Provision for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the Group would
evaluate ageing analysis of inventories and compare the
carrying value of inventories to their respective net realisable
value. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in determining such allowance. If conditions which have
impact on the net realisable value of inventories deteriorate,
additional allowances may be required.
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AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Amortisation of mining right and depreciation of
mining structures

Mining right and mining structures are amortised/
depreciated on the units of production method based
on the total proven and probable mineral reserves of the
ore mines. The directors of the Company exercised their
judgement in estimating the total proven and probable
reserves of the ore mines.

Estimate of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment
of the related taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised as management considers it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and income tax expenses in the periods in which such
estimate is changed. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group's
consolidated financial statements require measurement at,
or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in
determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technigue utilised are:

. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

o Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs

other than Level 1 inputs;

o Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived
from market data).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The classification of an item into the above levels is based
on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant
effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.

The Group measures the following items at fair values:
o Investment properties

3 Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

3 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 16
and note 49.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to assess performance and allocate resources.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Company’s executive directors. The executive directors
have identified the Group’s four business lines as operating
segments as further described in note 3.25.

ul
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(@) FEDHED (@)  Business segment
HEER NERERER it 3 %E &
Property
Jewellery investment and Mining
Business development operation Investment Consolidated
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 201 i) 2021
TE#r THr Féx AT FET AT F#T TET iz THr
HK$000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS 000
AlE: Segment revente:
HEFIRER/ Sales tolrevenue from external
RENREPZME parties 592,199 526427 8329 5463 - - 339 437 603,926 536,267
PH%E Seqment results 35,568 34,169 92,958 68,603 (98,912) (73,244 (6,259) (1,660) 23355 27,868
FARRY Unallocated expenses (2,205) (3351)
BRI Finance costs (2993) (2.200)
WErE R R Proft before income tax 18,157 2310
——
HRER NERERER it 3 %E &
Property
Jewellery investment and Mining
Business development operation Investment Consolidated
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2001 202 201 i) 2021
T AT FET AT FET AT FET FEr fE#r FEr
HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000
Segment assets 367,714 369,570 2,760,847 2,295,755 534,667 639957 55,025 68321 3718253 3,373,603
Cash and cash equivalents 144,008 340,207
Deferred tax assets 2728 2728
Unallocated corporate assets 35 1739
HESE Totel assets 386504 3718277
——
AHaE Seqment liabilties 125513 113453 1379 1398% 34,640 39,057 2,361 3813 216,313 296,219
BIER Bank loans 1,027,421 836,210
BRBRRE Loan from a controling
shareholder 4,686 4802
RERE Proviion for tax 2301 3,034
EXHERE Deferred tax liabilties 106,941 130,619
FARARAR Unallocated corporate liabilties 99% 885
AfEAE Totalliabiities 1,418,658 1,271,769



Annual Report 2022 “F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE
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(@) HXEDE (&) (@)  Business segment (continued)
HEEH NERERER REEH #E ]
Property
Jewellery investment and Mining
Business development operation Investment Consolidated
2022 201 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
FéT AT FET FET FEx FET FET FET FET AT
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
EppHEn: Other segment information:
NE BERZERE  Deprecation of property,
plant and equipment (3,705) (3,677) - - (432) (440) - - (4137) 4117)
FRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets (4,754) (4,850) - - (1,261) (1,29) - - (6,015) (6,142)
RENENTEZEH  Change in fair value of
investment properties - - 98,485 77,708 - - - - 98,485 771,708
INATFEFABREZ  Fairvalue (los/gain on
SREEZATE financial assets at
(B8) /i fair value through
profit or loss 205 (332) - - - - (5,347) 898 5,142 566
HENATEF AL  GainfLoss) on disposal of a
2ER@ZEBIAZ  debtinstrument measured
Wit/ (B58) atfair value through
other comprehensive
income - - - - - - 108 @) 108 ®)
HENE BRERKE  Gainon disposal of
WREREAEL property,
63 plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets 3 3130 - - - - - - 3 3130
W% BEREE  Wiite-off of property,
plant and equipment - (92) - - - - - (17) - (109)
Share of results of joint
ventures - - (1) (931) - - - - (1) (931)
Share of results of assoiates - - 313 2533) - - - - 313 (2,523)
Impairment loss on mining
right - - - - (81,838) (59,892) - - (81,838) (59,892)
nE BERKEZ  Impaiment loss on property,

REFE plant and equipment - - - - (6,347) (5,759) - - (6,347) (5,759)
FRER Provision for inventories (7,388) (7,658) - - - - - - (7.388) (7,658)
BAREMENFIE  Reversal of impaimment

FEBERD/ (HE  loss/ (mpairment loss)

EB)58 on trade and other

receivables, net 200 (2,389) - - - - - - 210 (2,389)
LEL N Interest income - - - - - - 1,293 315 1,293 3156
fISE% Interest expenses (782) (862) - - (1,407) (1,442) - - (2189) (2,304)
ShPER — BB AREFIE Gain on debt modification

BUEE N on amount due to

a related company - - - - 1,407 1,446 - - 1,407 1,446
REFRPHPEE  Additions to non-current

segment assets 3461 5815 56,479 278,061 28 181 - - 59,964 284,057
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(b)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ih @ & K (b)  Geographic information
REIARERZWE
Revenue from
external customers
2022 2021
Fi#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B (5Efti) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 38,422 38,512
=M (Fi5Ea) North America (note a) 276,690 278,299
BUM K2 AR R (B 5Eb ) Europe and Middle East (note b) 273,809 205,058
=wiip: A Other locations 15,005 14,398
&&t Total 603,926 536,267
ERBEE
Non-current assets
2022 2021
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
B (sEftis) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 2,129,359 1,965,730
JbEM (FfsEa) North America (note a) 27,747 28,816
= United Kingdom 3,869 5,522
B K B Mainland China 545,825 653,062
AFr Total 2,706,800 2,653,130
Biat - Notes:
(a) FTEREEERINE (a) Principally included United States and Canada
X
(b) FTERED N (b) Principally included Saudi Arabia, United Kingdom,

(=R i
TE5F ~ far i R B

Sweden, Spain, Netherlands and Norway



Annual Report 2022 “F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

H DEER @)

(b)

MEER (&)
A B ERH T ERE

FimEl D - ERBEE
(EMTARREREE
ERON) 2 3R AL B T A
REEBRAELED -

WITESEEAKEZM
WHRER MEBRAE
Bz A E R P o
BT EEFLZEH

KE—BEEEF (AR
EEWE10%A EE)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Geographic information (continued)

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location
of the non-current assets (other than financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) is based on the
physical location of the assets.

The executive directors determine the Group is
domiciled in Hong Kong, which is the location of the
Group's principal office.

Information about major customers

Revenue from a major customer, which amounted
to 10% or more of the Group's revenue, is set out

Z W e EHI T below:
2022 2021
FET FEIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BREA* Customer A * 86,697 90,737
* REBRFPAZ W Z=S @ The revenue from Customer A was all derived by

HDRE (BRI
25

the segment engaging in the Jewellery Business.

O
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6. REVENUE

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
BESENAAERLEZ  Revenue from contracts with customers
e
RE—FFE#ER 2 Em Sale of goods recognised at a point in
HE time 592,199 526,427
KB EARIR 2 W Revenue from other sources
GEREA T ON Rental income 8,329 5,463
A BB A Interest income 1,293 3,156
& 2 B A Dividend income from investments 2,105 1,221
603,926 536,267

TREHRBRETF ZEHNAH
ELXZEZREFELAENEE

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

2B R} customers.
2022 2021
F#E T FHETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
=Y A& ] Trade receivables (note 27) 108,755 99,943

(HaEFE=++t)

EHBE(ME=+—) Contract liabilities (note 31) 268 720
B4 As at 30 June 2021, the contract liabilities mainly related to

RZE-_—FXA=+8"
B

B ZRNC R PJ@:I:— =
ZFERNASTHIEFEREZ W

ZHEREFERE-

R-E-_—_FA=+H 1
& P (8268,000/ T (=&
——% :720,000/8 7T ) BIRIEA
SERBENNRBETZBAE
o EAEHRARERZ
Wz o AEBB R RREKIELD
FEERH R

E SRR AU S
—FRELE-

2022.

one year.

the advance consideration received from customers which
has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 30 June

As at 30 June 2022, the advance consideration received
from customers of HK$268,000 (2021:
represents unfulfilled performance obligation under the
Group’s exiting contracts. This amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future. The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in future when performance
obligation is completed, which is expected to occur within

HK$720,000)
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s W E @ 6. REVENUE (continued)
REBEAREEZERRERN The Group determines its operating segments based on the
CREETEENE  ZERE reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
ARFERE RSB EIR - are used to assess performance and allocate resources.

+ - HHERAE 7. FINANCE COSTS
2022 2021
F#ET FAT
HK$'000 HK$°000
MEXZH: Interest charges on:
IRITER Bank loans 14,778 12,987
HEaEzME Interest on lease liabilities (note 33)
(EFE=+=) 782 862
A Rl NGIE /O Imputed interest expenses arising from
%EiZEmﬂ%ﬁi amount due to related company 1,407 1,442
BREERA Total borrowing costs 16,967 15,291
B B2 M E Less: interests capitalised in:
—IEBEYE — investment properties (note 16)
(B EE+7%) (9.636) (8,431)
—BRPYE — properties under development
(ME=+F) (note 25) (2,149) (2,349)
5,182 4,511
FABARERZEERAT)ER Borrowing costs capitalised during the year were calculated
“’%%ﬁfrﬂﬁéziﬁﬁ}ﬂﬂ’v by applying a capitalisation rate of approximately 1.6%
1.6% (ZEZ—F :1.5% ) 25 (2021: 1.5%) per annum to expenditure on the qualifying
FTENRLLERGHE assets.
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» BRETASH A i A 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
2022 2021
Fi&T FHETT
HK$°000 HK$ 000
N ER B Bk BT S 55 A& A The Group's profit before income tax is
Ty (BT A) arrived at after charging/(crediting):

ATRIE B #E50:

BEEHTFERA Cost of inventories sold 451,425 412,420
ME BB RREBITE Depreciation of property,

(MIzE+PY) plant and equipment (note 14) 4,137 4,117
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 15)

(P EE+T) 6,015 6,142
ZE R BN 2 Auditor’s remuneration 1,200 1,150
MBS N Short-term leases charges 77 32
KEEBEEHESH Low-value assets leases charges 1,300 1,663
FERE Provision for inventories* 7,388 7,658
IAAFERTABRZ Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets

TREEZRATE at fair value through profit or loss

BE (KE) 5,142 (566)
FFONE ETIE, S (UEs) Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 3,298 (9,258)
HEYME  ME K&K Gain on disposal of property,

EREEE 2 W plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (33) (3,130)
FLIES —MERB AR5 Gain on debt modification on amount

EREIR 2 Wz due to a related company (1,407) (1,446)
WEE M - BB R Write-off of property, plant and equipment — 109
EEHESBAZIRE Direct operating expenses arising from

VIHEEE T ERLE investment properties that generate

rental income 185 70
TEAHSKAZIRE Direct operating expenses arising from
VIHEEE T ERLE investment properties that do not
generate rental income 391 174
* FAZFEREC AGE @ Provision for inventories for the year was included in “cost

BakEMEERERANZ of sales” on the face of the consolidated statement of
[SHEERA] profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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N IEHEKSE 9. INCOME TAX CREDIT
BEMNESHUNFEFAREBEE Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
ZAhFH AR T R = A % 16.5% 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits

—E - —F:165%)5TE-H arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
fth b [ FE FR A s M) o B IE T & assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the applicable
RARE B E X 2 ADERE rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
@2 RITER  ZEREM & operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
ZE R AERBRRER 2B EET practices in respect thereof.

2022 2021
F#ET TF#ET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BN ERTR A Current tax

BB Hong Kong 312 88
SZIN Overseas 32 114
BAEFEBREES Over provision in prior years (116) (19)
228 183

EERIE (fHaE=++1t) Deferred tax (note 37)
REEZ Current year (20,533) (12,142)
TS 242 %R Total income tax credit (20,305) (11,959)
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N BEHIRE @ 9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

FriSti e BRE AN =5t E 2 Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting
Fatm Al 2 H A profit at applicable tax rates:
2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BR PT 15 25 Al 4 A Profit before income tax 18,157 22,310
RAER %16.5% Tax on profit before income tax,
(ZZE=Z—F:165%) calculated at the statutory rate of
T E 2 RATSBLAT 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
i M A IR 2,996 3,681
REMBERE RS E 2 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
MEARTEFEZ operating in other jurisdictions
2 (8,320) (5,618)
BhEaEtEFEL Tax effect of share of results of joint
MG e ventures - 154
FE(EHE R A RIZEE 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates
M5z & (52) 416
PNAMFHFESZ 2 IS 2E  Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,539 1,175
AR AZTETE  Tax effect of non-taxable income (17,162) (13,996)
B FABTARER Utilisation of tax losses previously
HIaEE not recognised (5,591) (1,835)
RERTIEEEZ Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
MG R E 7,001 3,831
RERLRERE L Tax effect of temporary differences
R not recognised (2,600) 263
B FERERE Over provision in prior years (116) (30)
st e Income tax credit (20,305) (11,959)
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it g\ 10. DIVIDENDS
2022 2021
F#T TF#ET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RE—FEEMNZ Final dividend paid in respect of
REARR B &R the prior year of HK2 cent per share 13,662 =

RZZBEZZFNAZT=RHET
ZEZEeR L EEFAER
KA AR EAIR B B AR AR 2.00748
il - EHEBRBER-_E-_—_F XA
=+ HERERBEMNRE IfE
BeRMmAHE T - =F /XA
=T RIEFEZRERMAER -

R-ZE-—FhLA-_++HETIK
# AR EAR% 213,662,000/ 7T K 1%
R-E-_—F— A +WBIKf -
- BRER

ARBHREANBHESRERLE
SBAMGER TIEERFTE

11.

At the board meeting held on 23 September 2022, the
directors resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK2.00
cents per ordinary share. The proposed dividend has not
been recognised as a dividend payable as at 30 June 2022,
but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits
for the year ending 30 June 2023.

The final dividend was declared on 27 September 2021
amounted to HK$13,662,000 was subsequently paid on 14
January 2022.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

2022 2021
F#ET FEIT
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FRUAGTESREAARZFZ  Profit attributable to the owners of
ZAN/NEIE? ¥ SN oyl the Company for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 12,142 19,885

ul
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

B#HE R
Number of shares
2022 2021
FULGTEEREARERZ  Weighted average number of ordinary
AR N 5 shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share 683,118,258 683,118,258
TNHIIBE & 2 EIE#SE  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
TER R in respect of
—BERRAE (BIREG)) — Share option (note (i) = 175,342
BUFTESR#ERTF| 2  Weighted average number of
TR It 9K ordinary shares for the purpose of
diluted earnings per share 683,118,258 683,293,600
KiaE - Note:

ElJrEJ; KRARHEHB A
BIEERERBFTDER
RNRBHEE ANEEFAR
12,142,000 T (==
— —4:19,885,000/% JT )
Ko 4 1A 5 AR 0 4 15
683,118,258/ (=& = —
£ :683,118,2580% ) 51 & o

BE-_ZT_-_—_#,XA=1+H
IEFE AR ERERRE
B R RN EgREE
BRI R AR FE AR A A 1T
o

BEZT-_—F-A=+H
IFFE SRESRNE R
TERARBIHEE AELSE
A #1119,885,0007% 7T & &
WEETIEINE BAR A N

T 7 15 #1683,293,6000% (B
éﬁzi_-\,_ FRNA=ZT
BIEEE AESRERR

F BT A 2 3 iR AR hnAE 19 £
683,118,2580% & &R IE/T1E
REN75 3N ERE &
AE)FE-

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the calculation of basic
earnings per share attributable to the owners of the
Company was based on profit for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company of HK$12,142,000 (2021:
HK$19,885,000) and on weighted average of 683,118,258
(2021: 683,118,258) ordinary shares during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the computation of
diluted earnings per share did not assume the exercise of
share option as they were anti-dilutive.

For the year ended 30 June 2021, diluted earnings per
share amounts was based on profit for the year attributable
to the owners of the Company of HK$19,885,000 and on
the adjusted weight average 683,293,600 ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, being the weight average of
number of ordinary shares of 683,118,258 used in basic
earnings per share calculation and adjusted for the effect
of deemed exercise on share options of 175,342 existing
during the year ended 30 June 2021.
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS'

+=)

EMOLUMENTS - NOTE 13)

2022 2021
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000

TE He =EEEK Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits
Bzt in kind? 109,335 99,761

FE TR RGBT Contributions on defined contribution

retirement plans 9,127 7,514
118,462 107,275

AR ER B % A F 2 3 02 UK
Z R (HEERERNEBER
E2HRERICRMTENEET
tEHE) B - WEAOR WK
AEARERARRERBERE
BARE T BIEFOKF

REBEE-ZE-_—_FXA=+
HEFE AEEERSE
BREBR(ZZE=—F:7&
BoRE PR RER)
IR 3 3B P9 U BX361,0007% 7T
—Z - —%:11,160,000
BIL)ZBNER T E
KRB FR20198 KRS R
([CcoviD-19]) K717 #A
HEBRM I ZE -ZER
& BN E ER 4B R A HE
RAEE 2B RKE - P
BB ARRERIES
B EZENRNEEER
EE RAKATEEZEER
HEBSZER - #BE_T ==
FRA=ZTHIEFERFE
o WE 2 BN A361,00075
ot (ZZF=—% : 11,160,000
Bt) - EAEHES R
7 2 o 5% 55 B 7 Bh 3E 8 oK
BT REAMSKAEIR

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) in the Group for both years.
Hence, there is no forfeited contribution available for the
Group to reduce its existing level of contributions to the
pension schemes in future years.

& During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has
received government subsidies of HK$361,000 (2021:
HK$11,160,000) from government bodies in Hong Kong
and UK (2021: Hong Kong, UK, PRC and USA) with
regards to government support towards entities during
the Coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic
situation. The purpose of these government subsidies is to
provide wage support to the subsidiaries in Hong Kong,
UK, PRC and USA of the Group to retain employees and
to provide financial support to the Group’s operations
during this period of economic uncertainty. These grants
received for compensating salary of HK$361,000 (2021:
HK$11,160,000) for the year ended 30 June 2022 have
been offset against the employee benefit expenses. There
are no unfulfilled and other contingencies attaching to
these government grants.

~l
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(a)

13. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND

SHALTZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS
EXHE (a) Directors’ emoluments

e J/NICTI -
(BREZTZE)%
—BANT=KERAF (#
BEZHMZER)AG
(BRAZTZGE) KR follows:
ZEEHFMAOT:

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)
and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as

2022 2021

FETT FET

HK$'000 HK$000

o= ok Directors’ fees 250 250
e EUK Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

BEWAz 7,512 7,177

TE4T Bonus 1,154 369

ER@EAETEIEFK  Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes 288 338
B < 4858 Total emoluments 9,204 8,134
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T= EEFMRAR 13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
Sm AT ZEE EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
(&) INDIVIDUALS (continuea)
(a) EEME (&) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
FRAENKENSESZ The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
BT : directors during the year were as follows:
BEZEZ-_-f Year ended 30 June 2022

ANRA=+HLEFE

HE EHR RIKER
2 EWH 4 AR st
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HKS$ 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$000
(BHEG))
(note (i)
wiTES: Executive directors:
RZ2 Chan Sing Chuk, Charles - 1,200 100 54 1,354
3 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,200 100 54 1,354
RER Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,116 138 50 1,304
RiEL Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,490 513 112 3,115
BER Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1,506 303 18 1,827
FunES: Non-executive director:
HER Yam Tat Wing 50 - - - 50
BIfyiTes: Independent
non-executive
directors:
RBR Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
IR imiE Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
BRE Sze lrons 50 - - - 50
KRB Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 - - - 50
@t Total 250 7512 1,154 288 9,204




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements =

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

PR ERAR FYRE

(@)

= EEHFMEAME
BEHALTZME

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND

EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID

(&) INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(@) E=be (&) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
HE_T-—F Year ended 30 June 2021
NA=THILEFE
He 2l R RIAER
Yk EWflE 4L TRl Bt
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors' and benefits benefit
fees in kind Bonus schemes Total
FAET FET FET FET FET
HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
(KisEa)
(note (i))
nirEs: Executive directors:
B2 Chan Sing Chuk, Charles - 1,800 50 81 1931
{7 Cheng Siu Yin, Shirley - 1,740 50 78 1,868
RER Chan Wai Kei, Vicki - 1,104 46 50 1200
BREL Chan Wai Lap, Victor - 2,460 102 1M 2,673
BAR Wong Edward Gwon-hing - 1452 121 18 1,591
FHTES: Non-executive director:
fEER Yam Tat Wing 50 - - - 50
BIEaTEs: Independent
non-executive
directors:
REX Yu Shiu Tin, Paul 50 - - - 50
R e Chan Ping Kuen, Derek 50 - - - 50
SR E Sze Irons 50 - - - 50
Rt Cheung Chi Fai, Frank 50 = = = 50
WEHS (M) Waiver of salary (note (ii) - (1,379) - - (1,379)
ECH) Total 250 7177 369 338 8,134
Bt - Notes:
(i) TEALLAE S 2 @RI (i) The bonus is determined by the individual
REE - performance of the directors.
(i) HE-_ZT - —F X (ii) For the year ended 30 June 2021, due to the cost
A=+HILFE A saving policy, the executive directors voluntarily
B AT R AN R A TR agreed to waive their entitlement to certain

KMITEEARER
BEREZH D EHM
1,379,0007% JT ° 1%
BE-_ZE__%,xA
=+HILFEE  BE
ERENEEEH -

remuneration of HK$1,379,000. No directors’
remuneration was waived by the directors during
the year ended 30 June 2022.
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(a)

(b)

BEFHALTZME

(%)

EsMe (&)

FR AEETERNES
S AHEM B S E R IIAZL
PRINARE ERS 2 2 Ehs
BERAE -

AuERSHFAL
FA AEBRUKSE
ALBEME (2T~

FZR)EF KFLZ
MER EXPR251 25

13. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND
EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included two
(2021: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The

R FARSEBRAL emoluments payable to the remaining individual
ZBeamTn during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
E A== 114 Salaries, allowances and other
HAid A& benefits 7,143 5,235

ABER T B & % E
(EERRIN)

The number of individuals fell within the following
emolument band (excluding the directors):

2022 2021
B 4 &6 Emolument band
078 7T 21,500,000/ 7T HK$0 to HK$ 1,500,000 1 -
2,000,000/ 7T £2,500,000/% yT HK$2,000,000 to
HK$2,500,000 - 1
2,500,000/ 7T 23,000,000/ 7T HK$2,500,000 to
HK$3,000,000 1 1
3,000,000/ 7t £ 3,500,0007% 7T HK$3,000,000 to
HK$3,500,000 1 -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EFR KB
HENEEE REEE FERREE RERRE ERIR @t
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures  machinery vehicles in progress Total
AT AT THET AT &L AT
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
WZEZFELA-A  At1luly2020
A Cost 85,442 46,036 46,832 57,103 12,440 247,903
ZHMERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (68,167) (27,715) (42,750) (54,055) (6,564) (199,251)
FEFE Net carrying amount 17,275 18321 4132 3,048 5,876 18652
e S Year ended 30 June 2021
ZtHLEE
ENEEFE Opening net carrying amount 17,275 18321 4132 3,048 5,876 48652
HE Additions - - 114 1,731 - 1,845
HE /s DisposalsMitten off (4,650) - = 9) 5 (4,742)
e Depreciation 2222 - (215) (1,680) - @117)
HEEE Impairment loss (168) (4,607) (5) (42) (937) (5,759)
AR Exchange realignment 1,072 1,737 50 332 559 3,750
EREETE (Closing net carrying amount 11,307 15,451 4,076 3,97 5,498 39,629
RZFEZ-£7XA=1THR  At30June 2021 and 1July 2021
“5Z-%tB-H
AR Cost 77,234 47,703 46,9% 58,390 12,892 243215
ZHMERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (65,927) (32,252) (42,920) (55,093) (7,394) (203,586)
RE3E Net carrying amount 11,307 15,451 4,076 3,297 5498 39,629
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+0 - % - BB RERE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(&) (continued)
EFR B
HENEEE RREE ERRIHE RERRE EEIR @
Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and
and equipment
leasehold Mining Plantand ~ and motor  Construction
improvements structures  machinery vehicles  in progress Total
TET TET AT THT T TET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BEZZ_Z£XA Year ended 30 June 2022
StALEE
ERRTE Opening net carrying amount 11,307 15,451 4,076 3,297 5,498 39,629
NE Additions 632 - 286 1,160 - 2,078
e Disposals = o - - - -
ik Depreciation (2319 - (312) (1,506) - (4137
REER Impairment loss (154) (5,039) 0] (31 (1,116) (6,347)
5 A% Exchange realignment (331) (373) (37) (98) (133) (972)
EXRETR Closing net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 282 4,249 30,251
RZBZZERAZHH  At30June 2022
R Cost 71,866 47,703 47,282 59,124 12,892 244,867
ZETERHE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (68,731) (37,664) (43,276) (56,302) (8,643) (214,616)
REFH Net carrying amount 9,135 10,039 4,006 2822 4,249 30,251
Kat - Notes:
() RZEZZFA=+H" (a) As at 30 June 2022, certain property, plant and equipment

AN £ 85,403,000 T (=
— —%£:10,534,00087T) Z
BETYWE HERXEEE
BEKEFP—EARSEE
B ([RBERSEEEN
1) BB TR E AN REER
D E A B TR E R -

4,794,000 L (=T = —
£ :4,591,0008 L) 2 & T
ZEAECRETE R E 2

FEE M RE °

of HK$5,403,000 (2021: HK$10,534,000) of the Group,
which are related to one of the cash-generating units of
the mining operation (“Mining CGU "), were assessed for
impairment under this Mining CGU | and certain of these
assets amounting to HK$4,794,000 (2021: HK$4,591,000)
were impaired as a result of the delay of the predetermined

mining plan.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

2]

+m - WX - BB RERE

(&

Hiet: (&

(a)

(%)

ZEREIR S E A Bz AU
3] & %8 #95,409,0007% 7T (=
T — —4F: 11,436,000 7T )
T3 {5 FA R 38 3R & 7 2 7RO
(BERNE (ZT=—%F:

TE)HRSRETER)E
RAFEER L SR A EE -

RRETERSEE BN AU
Bl & %8 < B SR (A aT R Rk
T

—E-_F
RAFHZERE  F19-1.0%
CRik ik 12.78%
—E-—F

WTEHzERE F192.2%

BB MR R 9.87%

il aT RARER i B 22 B R IR AR
BReEFEMIZBERR
R EREH TS ER 2 AH
EE-RERESELBMZ
AFEREIEATFEAE -

RZZBZZFA=+H"
AN £ 89,953,000/ 7T (=&
——%:12,124,00087T) Z
ETWE - BE R K
BEEGHP —ERCEES
Az ([RBEBRSEEENMI])
B HFARBRSELS
OLllZ SRIERE A A TR E RT A4 ©
BAR M 5 = + AT 58 AR
BWIESEEBMIZ A KRE
£ %8 1,553,000/ 7T (=&
——4:1,168,000/8 7T ) Z
ET%SEEREBEER

B R

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The recoverable amount of this Mining CGU | amounting
to approximately HK$5,409,000 (2021: HK$11,436,000)
has been determined based on the fair value less cost of
disposal using discounted cash flow projection which was
based on the cash flow projection for a period of 9 years
(2021: 10 years). Key estimates and assumptions used for
determining the recoverable amount of the CGU are as
follows:

2022

Growth rate during the 9-year period  Average of —=1.0%

Post-tax discount rate 12.78%

2021

Growth rate during the 10-year period  Average of 2.2%

Post-tax discount rate 9.87%

Estimates and assumptions are determined by management
based on the past performance of the Mining CGU | and
management’s expectation for the market development.
The fair value of the Mining CGU | is a level 3 fair value
measurement.

As at 30 June 2022, certain property, plant and equipment
of HK$9,953,000 (2021: HK$12,124,000) of the Group,
which are related to one of the cash-generating units of
the mining operation (“Mining CGU 11”) are combined with
the mining right under the Mining CGU Il for impairment
assessment. Impairment loss of HK$1,553,000 (2021:
HK$1,168,000) has been recognised to profit or loss on
certain of these assets according to the recoverable amount
of this Mining CGU I as disclosed in note 20.
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+m - XK - BB RHRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(&) (continued)

Kiat: (&) Notes: (continued)

(0 RZE_—_F A=+ (© As 30 June 2022, the Group’s certain buildings and
H ANEBBEREEFELN leasehold improvements, plant and machinery, and
6,955,000 (=& = — furniture, fixtures and equipment and motor vehicles
£ :7,661,000/7C) 25 T with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
BFERBENELEE BE HK$6,955,000 (2021: HK$7,661,000) were pledged to
RIS ARARMA - B - Bl secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
RABEBER (EAREE 32).

ERZ —BBITEE ZER
(fE=+=) -
+hH EREEE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
FRAREERAFHIBREE The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use
HAWEL 22T - assets by class of underlying assets is as follows:
HithfAE1E
b iE AR HELTH BRAZYE mEt
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

W-_Z_F&£tH—H At 1 July 2020

&N Cost 40,090 3,538 22,063 65,691
2EHE Accumulated

depreciation (12,718) (2,171) (3,161) (18,050)
iTpE Net carrying amount 27,372 1,367 18,902 (47,641)

BEZFEZ—%£7 A=1H Yearended

LLEE 30 June 2021

FHEREF E Opening net carrying

amount 27,372 1,367 18,902 47,641
NE Addition - - 4,151 4,151
HEIH Depreciation charges (1,368) (53) (4,721) (6,142)
HE Disposal (1,384) = = (1,384)
P& SR Exchange realignment 2,450 = 147 2,597
FRIREFH Closing net carrying

amount 27,070 1,314 18,479 46,863
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+hH- EREEE @ 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
HinfAE1E
T i A HELH BRAZYE Et
Other
properties
Land use Leasehold leased for
rights land own use Total
FET FET BT FE7T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RZFEZ—5A"A=1+HE At30June 2021 and
—F_—-%tA—H 1 July 2021
AR Cost 40,549 3,538 26,695 70,782
ZEIE Accumulated
depreciation (13,479) (2,224) (8,216) (23,919)
RREEH Net carrying amount 27,070 1,314 18,479 46,863
BE_F__F5A=1H Yearended
IEFE 30 June 2022
FARRE 5 Opening net carrying
amount 27,070 1,314 18,479 46,863
NE Addition - - 1,407 1,407
WEZL Depreciation charges (1,297) (53) (4,665) (6,015)
EXNFEHEE Remeasurement of lease - = (214) (214)
bE 5% Exchange realignment (654) - (338) (992)
FREREFH Closing net carrying
amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
RZT-Z_£7XA=+H At30June 2022
A Cost 39,612 3,538 26,971 70,121
ZETIE Accumulated
depreciation (14,493) (2,277) (12,302) (29,072)
REEE Net carrying amount 25,119 1,261 14,669 41,049
RZZTZ=ZF A=1+RH &K At 30 June 2022, certain of the Group's right-of-use assets
8 T 42 %H2,424,00078 7T (= with aggregate carrying amounts of HK$2,424,000 (2021:
=~ —%:2,539,000/8 7T ) Z1F HK$2,539,000) were pledged to secure general banking
FREEEEER (EAAEEE facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

Bz —MRITRE < IR (HI5E
=+t=)-
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+75 BREYE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AEERBLESHER A AR
ME FERREZMBEMERE
SR ERHERFIERLREY
XRBZEME AERARF
BEEIAE XDE/RAKRD
EREYE-

REEMBHRAKR NN ZRE S

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals, for capital appreciation purposes
or property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment properties are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the

BEBHHMAOT : consolidated statement of financial position can be
summarised as follows:

2022 2021

F#ET FEIT

HK$°000 HK$°000

FYIRESRE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1,928,300 1,564,100

NE Additions 56,479 213,061
BREEFTER 2B Interests capitalised (note 7)

(M=) 9,636 8,431
N EFAREZ WS Gain from fair value adjustments 98,485 77,708
W B2 — 51 Bt /B 2 &) Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 47(b))

(M=EmE b)) - 65,000
ERREEH Carrying amount at end of the year 2,092,900 1,928,300

FR-FIBEF2EZFLER
FEEEE TEBREEAN
BHEIE-

RZE_—_FA=+H'B
SEPK IR B YD FE R AR 2 A0 TT
BREAFR(ZE - —F Ky
BEMTHERAR)FKAER
hRE(ZE - —F - HE
BERVETHE SHZEHE
/£5265,900,000/8 7T (=& = —
£ : 268,300,000/ 7T ) ° B
BEERRBRBRYEZK
RSk R IEN AR R T
SEIEE RN MR 2 BIRES
BEM -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.

Completed investment properties were valued at 30 June
2022 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2021: Knight Frank
Petty Limited) at HK$265,900,000 (2021: HK$268,300,000)
by adopting the direct comparison approach (2021: direct
comparison approach). The direct comparison considers the
sales, listing or offerings of similar or substitute properties
and related market data establishes a value estimate by
processes involving comparison.
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+5 - BREYE &) 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

0]

RZE-_—_FXA=+H %E
FREMERKIEMITE
RAR (ZE=—F HllE
MITERAR)RBBEE(Z
T FRER)ETHE
J i 2518 A1,827,000,0007%
L (== = —%:1,660,000,000
BIT) cBRBEEEBRIERERE
BEINREFTRAERNAE (BEE
ERA BEEBR MBEKA
FEEA K 2N DA K2 25 R e R e K2 s )
B EE -

AEBREMEZ A FEBE3
BREMNTETE - FHEF

Investment property under development was valued
at 30 June 2022 by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2021:
Knight Frank Petty Limited) at HK$1,827,000,000 (2021:
HK$1,660,000,000) by adopting the residual method (2021:
residual method). The residual method is determined by
deducting the estimated total cost of the development
including costs of construction, professional fee, finance
cost, associated costs and an allowance for developer’s risk
and profit from the gross development value.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is a level
3 recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of the

RAFEERERAT opening and closing fair value balance is provided below:
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
F4EH (F3BLFHELTF(E) Opening balance
(level 3 recurring fair value) 1,928,300 1,564,100
NE Additions 56,479 213,061
BREFTERNZFE (HiFt) Interests capitalised (note 7) 9,636 8,431
N EFHE 2 W= F 5 Net gain from fair value
adjustments 98,485 77,708
Us 8 — R B A 7l Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 47(b))
(P ++(b)) - 65,000
FERGEER (F3EREHATE) Closing balance
(level 3 recurring fair value) 2,092,900 1,928,300
MERFAFHEESABRZ Change in unrealised gains or losses
FRNREHW RN EEF for the year included in profit or
loss for assets held at the end of
the year 98,485 77,708

N EHEN AR EMESFE
sEeEROER (REERAZL
EAR) BER -

The fair value measurement is based on the above
investment properties’ highest and best use, which does not
differ from their actual use.
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+75

BEWME &)

TREHEBNAETRE DS
AFEZER

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair

values of the investment properties are determined.

AEEERBNE
Bk Bt EXREREBANE EXRIBREBANEZEE iﬁ"ﬂﬁzﬁﬁ{%
Relationship of significant
Significant unobservable Range of significant unobservable inputs to
Description Valuation technique inputs unobservable inputs fair value
2022 2021 2022 2021
BARREANF BRuEE  ERSE NEEE WNELE A DREE -40%- -10%- M%*EWTEKM%Z
+6% +10% EEAR ATERR
Completed Direct Direct Quality of properties such as location, The higher the quality of
investment comparison comparison size and level of the properties properties with reference
properties approach approach to comparables, the higher
the fair value.
ERDRENZ BhE % BEA REEZNRER  BERARE BIAR &¥AR BYARERAS ATHE
B WHRAERAMERRE .  B200ET- 2620087~ ARe
IMERNNERE HESE  SB000ET 52,0007
g
Investment Residual Residual Vialue per saleable area using direct HK$23,200-  HK$26,200- The higher the price per
property under method method comparable and taking into HK$58,000 HK$52,000 square foot, the higher the
development account of the location and other  per square foot  per square foot fair value.
individual factors, such as size of
property, level of property, site view
etc.
BRx 35% 35% EREAE ATEAE
Discount rate The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value.
BT IAA BIHR &¥AR fEstmIRARE ATHE
412087 43087 -
Estimated costs to completion HK$4,120 HK$4,230 The higher the estimated
per square foot  per square foot costs to completion, the
lower the fair value.

RN_B__FXA=+R A%
AR T £ #62,092,900,0007% 7T

— T~ —%:1,838,300,000/%
TOZREMECDER (ERA
SEERZETRITEEZER
(HEE=+=) -

As at 30 June 2022, the Group's investment properties
with carrying amounts of HK$2,092,900,000 (2021:
HK$1,838,300,000) were pledged to secure certain bank
borrowings granted to the Group (note 32).
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(@)

+t

+\

- HE 17. GOODWILL
REFE Ot IS 2 BB R E Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
BOREXBERSTEK TN 2R at acquisition, to Novell Enterprises Inc. (“Novell”) under
PEAEN ([EERBEREE cash-generating unit of Jewellery Business in US (“Jewellery
A B (7| ) Novell Enterprises Inc. US CGU"). Particulars regarding the impairment testing on
(TNovell 1) - BRAREBRE AR goodwill are disclosed in note 19.
Z IR EE T SR ER o
s BB E 18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2022 2021
FiET FAET
HK$'000 HK$000
FHRRE F 5 Opening net carrying amount 8,234 8,222
bE 5 A Exchange realignment 66 12
FRARE S5 Closing net carrying amount 8,300 8,234

R-_ZE-__—_F~A=+H"
8,300,000 L (=T = — 4 :
8,234,000 L) x BIE B &
EREBAIFEHETZEBLAE
Gro & E4R MZ R 57
B R B RE T R S A A
#A45 fFA [Wright & Lido ] &
[Lieberfarb | ff & 44 18 2 sk 4B #E
M-BERA ZEWZHRT
MR A A A KAER  FEHE
ERASAEBEELEFREMN
N EARAEEEBEANFEAS
H-BREFEERBIRZF
BRI EE T N BEER -

R—_ZE-_—_F~A=+H"
8,300,000 7 (= F = — 4 :
8,234,000/87T) 2 B EEE &
T ERAREEER 2 —RIRTT
BEZER (ME=1+=) -

At 30 June 2022, intangible assets of trademarks
amounting to HK$8,300,000 (2021: HK$8,234,000) were
arising from a business combination in prior year. Intangible
assets represent the perpetual right to use of brand name
of “Wright & Lido” and “Lieberfarb” which takes the form
of sign, symbol, name, logo design or any combination
thereof. The directors considered these trademarks have an
indefinite useful life since they are registered with a legally
perpetual life and expected to generate net cash inflows to
the Group indefinitely. Particulars of the impairment testing
on intangible assets are disclosed in note 19.

At 30 June 2022, intangible assets of HK$8,300,000 (2021:
HK$8,234,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).
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+h - EEERERFER 19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

EH 2 HEREY
¥ 7 2 R

RETREANS BETER
T AR RIFFERB EHEE A £
FHZAERENEEZRAS
HMENTREXEKERSELSE
fr-pmEFEME BAAE
BERERFHzBERELE
ESN A RERHET R+ R
METEERSRODE BHE
KB R EREREERERER
BLEVEETAXBERER
TELEMN - ZFAEIAER
ERNEFMMENBREZRE
A IRR

EERER eEEEM 2 KD
CRENFRAEBEREEEE %
S FERERESMILER
FHMETEE 2 H S mIBR o
BEBFEEZFEREEEH
HNBEIR R R R FAEEF
ERWmE - BRAAFHE
TRER25% (ZE=—F:2%)
ZAAET I R R E - i
ZEREWNRBERKEE 2
RERERE ASEFERREE
AT 35 ¥ & 8 A E 2 514 MR
CEABMZBERR ZTATL
KAFTAR R RE -JHE

MERKEDERBERBRE
BESMBEREHET -

BUBEEBRGKERSEL
BRZERANRESREZEE
BEF20.08% (— T = —F:
17.8%) °

E=ZRA AR LR ERAH
I 8 5L B BRI R+
tTH - +ER+TN\ZEE &
BE ETWE BEEREN
KEREEEERRME-

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIFE

For the purpose of impairment testing, all the carrying
amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives set out in notes 17 and 18, respectively, have
been allocated to the Jewellery US CGU. In addition to
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives,
certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
set out in notes 14 and 15, respectively that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill and intangible
assets are also included in the Jewellery US CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the directors.

The recoverable amount of the Jewellery US CGU
is determined from value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the directors, covering a five-year
period. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates,
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period. Cash
flow beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an
estimated weighted average growth rate of 2.5% (2021:
2%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate
for the jewelleries industry in the US. The Group estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rate that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the cash-generating unit. The growth rates,
budgeted gross margin and revenue are determined based
on the past performance and management’s expectation of
market development.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from
Jewellery US CGU is 20.08% (2021: 17.8%) per annum.

In the opinion of the directors, based on the aforesaid
impairment testing, there is no impairment recognised
in respect of the goodwill and intangible assets, certain
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as set
out in notes 14, 15, 17 and 18 respectively.
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1+ - REEE 20. MINING RIGHT

2022 2021
FET FHETT

HKS$'000 HK$'000
F R HEF R Opening net carrying amount 591,056 594,773
FRIRE Impairment for the year (81,838) (59,892)
b b 8 2 Exchange realignment (14,278) 56,175
FREMEFRE Closing net carrying amount 494,940 591,056
FREAR%E Gross carrying amount 981,061 1,005,347
ZFTHEEH Accumulated amortisation (4,441) (4,551)
REPREREE Accumulated provision for impairment (481,680) (409,740)
AREFEE Net carrying amount 494,940 591,056

BRUEHE AT BRI 3R B AR B AL
ZARESEER A FEREE
KA ZFE (F3BAFEE)
BE - RERSELFEMIZME
ERFAERAREREXER
RETfhERIER R MR RIAE
TERLE SR 2 B L E R T TR A B
BHEBERAR (ZE-—%F:
RAMABFAEERRR)ET

RZFE_—FA=1H &E
REELEBMIZAFERLE
RAERTIGEEL (ZT=—
FMBEER)ERIHER
RGFE-GTERBHSELE
Rz AFERERZ ZHERE
JAB M HEMITZ &EBRT A
A& -

The recoverable amount of the Mining CGU Il to which
the mining right belongs was determined based on the
measurement of fair value less costs of disposal, a level 3
fair value measurement. The valuation of the Mining CGU
Il was carried out by BMI Appraisals Limited (2021: BMI
Appraisals Limited), an independent valuation firm who held
recognised and relevant professional qualifications and had
recent experience in the location and category of the mining
right being valued.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the Mining CGU Il
as at 30 June 2022 was measured using recent sale and
purchase transactions under the market-based approach
(2021: market-based approach). The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the Mining
CGU Il were based on the independent valuation firm’s best
estimate.
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1 REEE @

ZIELZ ENE LB R A B

T
- St -3

2022

Rt RSB RZ T ETHE

The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources

RHBE R ERR

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

EE ik m s ([COVID-2019]) M fEH 2 BEIR
Discount due to Coronavirus (“COVID-2019")

—EZ—F
2021

HErEEE R T EEEHE
The range of uncertainty of estimated gold resources
KRAEERNRERBE

Adjusted consideration to resources multiple

Bk m s ([COVID-2019]) M fEH = BHIR
Discount due to Coronavirus (“COVID-2019")

B EERZ T ETHER
B AFTERE - EFAEBER
REGHAS 2FEAS-
K COVID-2019ifn 1 i 2 BE 37 =X
& AFERR-

B ERMTRER BRI HEE
MRS T B 5 B - DARE (B (E

as follows:

20. MINING RIGHT (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs into the approach were

30%2100%

30% to 100%

BrARKE35.047T (HHERER41.068TT) 2
Br AR%88.057T (HERE103.1587T)
RMB35.04 per gram (equivalent to HK$41.06
per gram) to RMB88.05 per gram (equivalent to
HK$103.15 per gram)

20%

20%

30%=100%

30% to 100%

Br AR®43.67T (HBERER524EBT)E
Br AR¥S82.27T (HHENER98.787T)
RMB43.6 per gram (equivalent to HK$52.4
per gram) to RMB82.2 per gram (equivalent to
HK$98.7 per gram)

20%

20%

The higher the range of uncertainty of the estimated gold
resources was, the lower the fair value was. The higher
the adjusted consideration of resources multiple was, the
higher the fair value was. The higher the discount due to
COVID-2019 is, the lower the fair value is.

The independent valuation firm exercised their professional
judgement to estimate the uncertainty of resources to

iy o improve the valuation technique.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

“+ - REE 2 20. MINING RIGHT (continuea)

O
Iy

BE-_ZT-_—_FxA=+HIt
FE K2EZFH EFRAEK
BIRSEEBMIZ A YE ¢ FE
5t 15 /&422,329,0005% 7T (=
T — — 14 :497,927,000/ 7T ) -
Hit  BZ A HEREBEER 2K
BREEABEMIZFBERSIE
(¥ H B 7% %2 2 /1) 83,391,000
BT (ZZT = —4%:61,060,000
BIL) cREEEE DREER
BEARME - BEREHEZ
fRE &% 5 5l /581,838,000
It &% 1,553,0008 L (==
~— —4%:59,892,000/8 T &
1,168,000/ 7T ) - i A8 @8 1 7%
220,460,000 (=& = —
F 114,974,000 70 ) B A 1B 2
RRERAMGHES  REESE
AAREEZED BT 2 RESE
BeoREBEIERANRESM
BEFR-

For the year ended 30 June 2022, with reference to
the assessment, the directors were of the view that the
recoverable amount of the Mining CGU Il was estimated
to be HK$422,329,000 (2021: HK$497,927,000) and
therefore, impairment loss before offsetting tax effect of
HK$83,391,000 (2021: HK$61,060,000) in respect of the
Mining CGU Il of the mining business was identified. The
impairment loss was allocated to the carrying amount
of mining right and property, plant and equipment by
HK$81,838,000 and HK$1,553,000 (2021: HK$59,892,000
and HK$1,168,000) respectively while the related tax effect
amounting to HK$20,460,000 (2021: HK$14,974,000) was
recognised as an income tax credit in profit or loss. The
impairment loss was included under mining operation of
the Group’s operating segment. The impairment loss was
primarily due to the change in price of market gold price.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2022 2021
FET FEIL
HKS$'000 HK$°000
BIhEEFE Share of net assets 34,093 33,780
VERIERE L Provision for impairment (3,898) (3,898)
30,195 29,882
RZE-_—_FA=+HEK=Z Particulars of the principal associate as at 30 June 2022 and
Z—FARA=1TH EBELER 30 June 2021 are as follows:
BlZ BT
s AL KEEELS
4 ERREMERREE AR EE BEREZENL IEXH
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
Particulars of paid-up registration and attributable to the
Name registered capital operations Group Principal activities
Metropolitan Opportunity B4 Bk 47,582,398% T FREHES 30 REER
Fund SPC* Paid up capital of USD7,582,398  Cayman Islands (ZZF=—%:30) Investment holdings
(2021: 30)
* BB EERE RIS @ Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.

BRARARRILERERLZ
Hpk 8 R A&

EER/ LA RRBERT
TEFEFARGBERRREA
BEREDEN SN I NCIE YN
WOBEEFE-BEFAR EBH
Hiplp = N R HIE @ EHR R
BRITRK e

il

The above associate of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the share of associates’
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
share of net asset of the associate by the Group. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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(@)

—t— REEQARIZE 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
m (&)
PINES F E B &£ 2 A The summarised financial information of Metropolitan
Metropolitan Opportunity Fund Opportunity Fund SPC, a principal associate of the Group,
SPCeHBERME (Hirg H extracted from its management accounts are as follows:

ERERB )T :

2022 2021
Fi# T FETT

HK$'000 HK$'000
RANA=+H As at 30 June
mENE EE Current assets 106,483 106,606
EREEE Non-current assets - -
mBEE Current liabilities (6,643) (7,801)
EREEE Non-current liabilities = -
BEFE Net assets 99,840 98,805
N ER B fE AL B A A Group's share of the net assets of

BESE the associate 30,195 29,882

HEANA=THLEE For the year ended 30 June
U = Revenue = -
FREA (EE) Profit/(Loss) for the year 545 (8,538)
H 2wl Other comprehensive income 490 196
2Rz AARE Total comprehensive income 1,035 (8,342)
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1 REEEFRZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2022 2021
F#ET FET

HK$000 HK$'000
BIhEEFE Share of net assets 1,041 1,042
ER&EERIE Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
ZEFELABEER 2 ERER The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
ESRER on demand.

RZBEZZFRA=FTHR=ZE Particulars of the principal joint ventures as at 30 June 2022
Z—FRA=tH XxEs&dt and 30 June 2021 are as follows:
EZHBHT:
BRITRBERT AL/
A% BA/EMEAFHE ot MR FEEELRRREERA DL TEEH
Particulars of issued and  Place of Percentage of ownership
paid-up share capital/ incorporation/ interest attributable Principal
Name registered capital registration to the Group activities
2022 2021
Reta Investment 10,0008 SRR EE EERRHS 50% 50% REER
Holding Limited 1= 2 BBk British Virgin Islands Investment
10,000 ordinary shares of holding
US$1 each
Metropolitan Capital 5,000,000/ &R EE0.01 FHEES 33% 33% HEER
Er2EBR Cayman Islands Investment
5,000,000 ordinary shares holding

of US$0.01 each
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0]

RNREBRAEED®XEReta
Investment Holding Limited
([Reta Investment | » 73 2 & B2
ZRHEFMKIRRBEAEE L
B EBMEER)HEAS0% (=
T —F :50% ) fEs o b K
£ B IR G & 1 3 Metropolitan
Capital (R F =8 &M &
REBLEBE B U ERITEER)
WA33% (ZF=—F:33%)
i - AaNTHERAREEIRE
HEZECE R EETESE
E ZHEF| > MReta Investment
Metropolitan Capital== & # A %
EERHEECEIREEGER
HEBEZEE - REBSBHE®R
HERIENR  ZEEERHE
GBHEAGELF WECERAER
ERERE B HRER AR

“+Z - REELEZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
= (&) (continued)

The Group has 50% (2021: 50%) interests in joint ventures,
Reta Investment Holding Limited (“Reta Investment”),
a separate structured vehicle incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and operating in Hong Kong. In addition,
the Group also has 33% (2021: 33%) interest in joint
ventures, Metropolitan Capital, a separate structured vehicle
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and operating in Hong
Kong. The contractual arrangement provides the Group with
only the rights to the net assets of these joint arrangements,
with the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Reta
Investment and Metropolitan Capital. Under HKFRS 11,
these joint arrangements are classified as joint ventures
and have been accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.
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—t+Z REERRZE 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
5 (%) (continued)

ERIFFEREEREEIGHREH
BHRRZMBEERBEDT :

Summarised financial information for individually immaterial
joint ventures attributable to the consolidated financial
statements as follows:

2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$000 HK$'000
m~A=+H As at 30 June
ERIFEERE EBER Aggregate carrying amount of
BiE R BRH S5 individually immaterial joint ventures
in the financial statements 1,041 1,042
HESNA=THILFEE Year ended 30 June
FEEREEREZEE Aggregate amount of the results of
FEECR immaterial joint ventures:
—FEANEE — Loss for the year 4) (1,863)
2 H SRR Total comprehensive income 4) (1,863)
REEEEEGERFESESE  Aggregate amount of
FEECR the Group's share of results of
the joint ventures:
—FREE — Loss for the year 1) (931)
Tl G Total comprehensive income 1) (931)

O
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N
(@)

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

f@.éﬁqﬂl MZE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
BLEE INCOME
2022 2021
Kt FH#ETT FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
EHBEAREE Listed equity investments,
W ATE: at fair value:
BB Hong Kong 19,440 23,076
HEfih 5 Elsewhere 1,354 3,632
(a) 20,794 26,708
H iy 2 3F EHAEAS Unlisted equity investments in
& UARFE elsewhere, at fair value () 144 144
LhtES LA FEE Listed bonds, at fair value
B Hong Kong 2,353 =
H{th 3t 7 Elsewhere 11,339 11,093
(b) 13,692 11,093
ST Total 34,630 37,945
HteE - Notes:

(@) MR AEERRZE LT R
FE L IRAR E BB 1
BB A RE i 3 TE SA
ANFEFAREMERKES-

The listed and unlisted equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be

strategic in nature.
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“+= URAFEFAE 23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
YR
thEmEZE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
MEE 7 INCOME (continued)

Htat: (&) Notes: (continued)

(b) ZE FMEFZERNBRER (b) The listed bonds where the contractual cash flows are
EARAEARERFE  mA solely principal and interest and the objective of the
SEEBEXBEDE Group's business model is achieved both by collecting
BB ENRRERD contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. The
EERMEEMET N ER- listed bonds carried interest rates ranging from 1.47%
ZEEMESHERNEN T to 4.38% (2021: 4.38% to 5.25%) per annum and had
1.47%%E4.38% (=T = — various maturity dates from May 2024 to September 2025
F :4.38%%5.25% ) * £ (2021: February 2023 to October 2024) .

HRH-Z-_MFRAE=-F
“HENA(ZE=—F: =
T AETNEF

TH) P E-
© AT R B iER : (© The following gains were recognised in profit or loss:
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$000 HK$'000
RIES R AR FEsE AEAM Dividends from equity investments held at
EHEWHFFE KRR E fair value through other comprehensive
FRSRR & : income recognised in profit or loss:
HERNKRIEERZIEEBE  Related to investments derecognised
during the year - 55
HNFERRA 2IREABRB  Related to investments held at
year end date 1,066 764

N
(e}
=
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—1+m - REAEWKIE 24. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
Kt Fi# T FET
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
A IR Promissory notes (a) = 3,621
B EE Provision for impairment = (3,621)
ERAEBRBEREBZEZBNAT Movement on the provision for impairment of promissory

notes is as follows:

2022 2021
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000

FHRERR Balance of the beginning of the year 3,621 11,449

W Written off (3,621) (7,828)

FRERR Balance at the end of the year — 3,621

Bt - Notes:

(@) RZZT=Z—FA=+H8" (a) As at 30 June 2021, the promissory note of HK$3,621,000
3,621,000/8 T 2 B H BHE R was unsecured, interest-free and repayable by 13 annual
EEF 2EREH_ZTZE instalments commencing on 15 March 2003. In view
=E=At+hBEHt+=5F of default in repayment of the promissory note, a full
BB - ERNEREEALE impairment was made in prior years.

B AEEERUEEEE
I 2 DR E ©
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—tH - BRPHE 25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2022 2021

Fi# T FET

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FURESRE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 335,843 318,763

NE Additions 294,493 14,731
BEREFTERNZFE Interest capitalised (note 7)

(HI=E+) 2,149 2,349

FREESRE Carrying amount at end of the year 632,485 335,843

RZE__FA=1H %E
FR ) % 49241,550,00008 7T (=
=T — —4F :335,843,000/& 7T ) &

As at 30 June 2022, properties under development
amounting to approximately HK$241,550,000 (2021:
HK$335,843,000) were not expected to be realised within

BN NGRS R S EES
A+ = f8A R -

R-E-_—FXA=1tH K&
48 B [H] ¥ 58 4632,485,00075%
o0 (==& = —% : 335,843,000
TMZERPYHEEER EA
AEEER —MRIBTTEERE
ZER(MF=F=)-

=X BE

the next twelve months from the end of the reporting date.

At 30 June 2022, the Group's properties under
development with aggregate net carrying amounts of
approximately HK$632,485,000 (2021: HK$335,843,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group (note 32).

26. INVENTORIES
2022 2021
F#ET FETL
HK$°000 HK$°000
R % Raw materials 64,906 74,352
R Work in progress 12,199 10,382
SUAK AR Finished goods 131,976 129,683
209,081 214,417

RZZBEZ—_FA=+H BT
BR T 42 5863,166,0008 7T (= Z
— — % :55,571,00056 7T ) 2 17
EEEH EAREEER . —
MIBITEERE ZER (K
=F=)-

At 30 June 2022, certain inventories with aggregate
carrying amounts of HK$63,166,000 (2021:
HK$55,571,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

H

“t+t- EFEWUFHE 27. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
FET FHETT

HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 WA Trade receivables 129,031 145,795
R FEUR FRIE 2 RERSE  Less: provision for impairment of receivables (20,276) (45,852)
B S eI GRIE — F 58 Trade receivables — net 108,755 99,943
REB —RIZBITEEN LR The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
EREPZEE ERLHERE according to industry practice together with consideration
EFEHREIIRTERPZEE of their creditability, repayment history and years of
B -BEEPHRERREE establishment. Each customer has a maximum credit
B o AEE T H REEEWFKIE limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
HERRERIRYE I - B BR TR IE B = AR outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are regularly
EREEHERN- reviewed by senior management.
RIS BB - IR E R E R 8 An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision, as
EMER B H 2 B 5 WG IE iR iR at the reporting date, based on the date of recognition of
DT the sale, is as follows:

2022 2021
F#ET FAET

HK$'000 HK$'000
0-30H 0-30 days 54,018 40,742
31-60H 31-60 days 35,779 35,769
61-90H 61-90 days 12,996 15,115
90H M Over 90 days 5,962 8,317

108,755 99,943
FRAEBEERRLE SRR Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
RIEEENEERBRAE— arising from trade receivable are set out in note 49.3.

EE AT FE49.3 ©
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“+t- BEZEWFEIE = 27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

RZEZZF~A=+H & At 30 June 2022, certain trade receivables with
TEZSREBFEEREEDES & aggregate carrying amounts of HK$40,794,000 (2021:
40,794,000 0 (=T = — & : HK$32,659,000) were pledged to secure general banking
32,659,000 ) EER & facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

AEEER —RIBTTRE 2 HE
R (MHFE=+2) o

“+I\ - UAFEEANE 28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
S£ S A St
HZEMEE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
Kt FH#E T FEIT
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
"EES UATE Investment fund, at fair value
B Hong Kong 6,992 11,370
H b5 Elsewhere 3,868 =
() 10,860 11,370
REEE Current assets
BB MR AES Listed equity securities in
LA RSB Hong Kong, at fair value (b) 3,864 4,690
Hithh 5 EhES Listed bonds in elsewhere,
AAFEE at fair value (© = 7,473
PTESRBIT A Derivative financial instruments
A AFEE at fair value (d) 23 22
3,887 12,185
MBEEE NARFEFFAEBD Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss under
ZERMEERNGEHEERERNK current assets presented within the section on operating
KBS 2 REEESE activities as part of changes in working capital in the
)z —88He consolidated statement of cash flows.

N
o
ul
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N
()}

ity AN

Wyt -

BB W IR N AR S RA
BZBREeRBZREEED
T E R ERE . AR FEFT

AB&ESBERGE-
ETERAESTIRHERE -

ETESAATE REHKA
FARFERF AR M EE R
B EER-

R-_ZE-_—_FA=+H"
RNEBZHTES R T EIEN
HEEHEZINSREH
ANFETIZERS b iER
HZHEAE - ZFERPE
#9 2 E {8 A650,000% 7T (=
T — — 4 :200,000%7T) -
MATEZEA Nz REEE
PE R 158 82 5,1.20655%
TEE1HEEEH1.2339% T (=
T —F 1140445
JTCE1HEEE 51,4047 7T)
R -_T_—_FtA=E
T FFTARE(ZE
= FiH=F=aF 1t}
E-TE-—FN\AH)-

AT Wz, (fB518) iR zafe

7 .
B -

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

The Investment fund with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of
the business model.

The listed equity securities are held for trading.

The listed bonds did not qualify for measurement at either
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income.

At 30 June 2022, the Group's derivative financial
instruments represented foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in GBP and the fair values are based on
the quoted prices from the relevant financial institutions.
The notional amounts of these forward contracts are
US$650,000 (2021: US$200,000) and the forward currency
rates of all these contracts ranged from GBP1:US$1.2065
to GBP1:US$1.2339 (2021: GBP1:US$1.4044 to
GBP1:US$1.4047) with various maturity dates from July
2022 to October 2022 (2021: from July 2021 to August
2021).

The following gains/(losses) were recognised in profit or
loss:

2022 2021
FH#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
HUA -~ E b e & Fair value (losses)/gains on equity
EEABENARTE investments at fair value through
FFABRZBRAEE profit or loss in other income,
ZAYE (E8) K= other gains and losses (826) 1,116
E bz N & E A A B Fair value (losses)/gains on debt
AFEFABRZ investments at fair value through
BEBERE 2 ATE profit or loss in other gains and
(B18) Wz losses (4,521) (218)
Hib Wz REEANE R Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative
PTESBMTIAZ ATE financial instruments in other gains
Wz, (E518) and losses 205 (332)
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“+h RERBREEH 29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

REeRBRSFHEBBEUATED

Cash and cash equivalents include the following

components:
2022 2021
F#ET FEITL
HK$°000 HK$°000
G HASRTTIF 3Kk Short-term bank deposits 83,933 236,377
e MIRITHER Cash and bank balances 60,075 103,830
144,008 340,207

RITHERER T RRITERN
EREVZEFNE -NZT==
NA=Z+TH EHETERZE
FEHAE—EARN(ZE=—%F:
— AR  EFMNE06%E
1.73% (ZE = —F:029%%
0.45% ) BRELF 2. o

ARBEERA ARNRITRE
SN ST E IR NS R =R
FoeBIEEAER-

RZZBE-__FRA=+H &£
BUAARBE RS RIRTT
4= 54 49 45,878,000 T (=
— —%:10,786,000/& ) ' B
BRIE T E AR B ARERITSE
FEFH AREWIFTERL
]z BHE - IR IR B K FE 2 HNEE
EBEOIRGEE EERNEE
BT NEBEEESBERE
EITINEREB 2 RITHHA RN
HBBHNE o

The bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. As at 30 June 2022, the short-
term bank deposits are made for varying periods within one
month (2021: within one month) and earn interest ranged
from 0.6% to 1.73% (2021: 0.29% to 0.45%) per annum.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair values
of the cash at banks are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because of the short maturity period on
their inception.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounting
to approximately HK$5,878,000 (2021: HK$10,786,000),
which were deposits with banks in Mainland China or held
in hand. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

N
~
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N
(03]

=+ BESEMHFE 30. TRADE PAYABLES
B S RNFIAZ EE RN E fE R The credit terms of trade payables vary according to the
SR FE P8 17 78 2 R sK i S [R] o terms agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of
REERR ERNBEERH AR trade payables of the Group as at the reporting date, based
SEEZENKRIBRE D T0 on the invoice dates, is as follows:
T
2022 2021
F#ET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
030 0-30 days 53,237 31,292
31-60H 31-60 days 23,999 13,601
61-90H 61-90 days 7,718 4,317
90H LA Over 90 days 21,641 18,515
106,595 67,725
BESRNREREHMEE - Trade payables are short term in nature and hence, the
It EBEZRRE S EMNFKIBRE directors consider the carrying amount of trade payables
BEHEEATFERES - approximate to their fair values.
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2022 2021
F#ET FETT
HKS$000 HK$'000
HEERELEZAHAME Contract liabilities arising from
sale of goods 268 720
HESNBESTE 2 AT FE Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
PN contract liabilities are as follows:
HEEMm Sale of goods

MBS - NEEREHE S

As noted above, certain deposit the Group receives on sale

m B zE T RNESANE of goods remains as a contract liability until such time as the
& BEELZSETKIIERBBZ work completed to date outweighs it.
SRR
BHEBEZEE Movement in contract liabilities
2022 2021
FiET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEEER Balance as at beginning of the year 720 475
BHAEBERENZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
BHRBBERFERNERS of recognising revenue during the
Weas R 2 year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (720) (475)
X =N ShEEs Increase in contract liabilities as a result
i3 hn of billing in advance 268 720
FRERR Balance at end of the year 268 720

N
O
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N
(e)

=+ RITEX

RITEREASBZOMAT

32. BANK LOANS

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank loans is as

follows:
2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
mBaR Current liabilities
R—FEREHEEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERHH within one year
—BERF - Guaranteed 15,000 15,000
—BEEREER — Secured and guaranteed 750,396 658,583
765,396 673,583
—E R F|H(EEBEHA  Portion of bank loans due for repayment
?QEZFETM% XZ after one year which contain a repayable
IRITERE S on demand clause
—BIEE R EER — Secured and guaranteed 119,225 33,427
884,621 707,010
ERBAEE Non-current liabilities
R—FRIREEZ Portion of bank loans due for repayment
RITERHH after one year
—BIEE R EER — Secured and guaranteed 142,800 129,200

KRB —FXA=1+H" KT

ERZERFERMT :

follows:

At 30 June 2022, the bank loans were scheduled to repay as

2022 2021
FExT FAT
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
RITERK: Bank loans:

AR—FNEE Repayable within one year 765,396 673,583
ARE_FEE Repayable in the second year 219,179 16,733

BERE=—FFAF Repayable in the third to fifth year,
(BREEMSF)EE inclusive 42,846 145,894
1,027,421 836,210
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=+=- JRITEFR # 32. BANK LOANS (continved)

S BRIAB K AP B2 5T 8
BREHREE  BWAFHEM
MBRERGXZHE -

RZZBE_—_FRA=FTH K&
BB T EZRITEREER
%998,962,0008 L (=T = —
£ : 813,558,000/ 7T ) i 5118
BB R

@ ZAEBK@AMEY
2,092,900,000%
o (ZF = — F
1,838,300,000/8 7T ) 2
wEWE (HE+N)Z
JETER

b AEEBEE®@FELY
5,387,000 L (=&
— — 4% :6,607,000/8 7T )
pd/ ERN =088 - Al
Hm) 2 EERR:

(© N £ B KR @ E D
2,424,000 L (=&
— — 4% :2,539,000/
TL) 2 EAREEE (M
+h) 2 AR

d A% EK@AELY
632,485,000 T (==
— — 4 : 335,843,000/
) 2 BERFWME (K
—+F ) ZEERRE:

()  ARARMIEEFIEZFT
%3 % 711,506,920,000
BT (ZTZ —F:
1,408,477,000/8 7T) &
241,800,000/ L (=&
— — % :241,800,0007&
TC) A RER R

(f) RRRE T AN EA R
ZEB

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect
of any repayment on demand clause.

At 30 June 2022, the Group’s bank loans facilities
denominated in HK$ of HK$998,962,000 (2021:
HK$813,558,000) were secured/guaranteed by the
followings:

(a) legal charges over the Group's investment
properties with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,092,900,000 (2021: HK$1,838,300,000) (note
16);

(b) legal charges over the Group’s property, plant
and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
values of approximately HK$5,387,000 (2021:
HK$$6,607,000);

(0 legal charges over the Group's right-of-use assets
(note 15) with carrying values of approximately
HK$2,424,000 (2021: HK$2,539,000);

(d) legal charges over the Group's properties under
development with carrying values of approximately
HK$632,485,000 (2021: HK$335,843,000) (note
25);

(e) corporate guarantees of HK$1,506,920,000 (2021:
HK$1,408,477,000) and HK$241,800,000 (2021:
HK$241,800,000) executed by the Company and
non-controlling interests respectively; and

) ordinary shares of certain indirectly owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

N
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N
N

=+=- {RITEX =)

RZEBEZZFAA=+H &
EENUETHECRITIERE
B /h&3,627,000% T (HHER
28,459,000 L) (=T = —
£:2,917,000% T (HER
22,652,000% 7T) ) ~%IIE B
e ER:

(a)

AEBEBTFED
1,568,000 L (=&
— —%:1,054,0007% 7T )
ZYE BB KRR (K
HA) ZEERR

7K & 88,300,000 T

—F = —%:8,234,000
BIL)EREE (H
£+ /\) 63,166,000
BIL(ZEZ —F:
55,571,000 7T) Z
FE(HaE=-+~) &
40,794,000 L (=&
— — % :32,659,000/8
TL) 2 B 5 W R IE (K
Ho )R

31,059,000/%& 7T ) A A #&
fRo

32.

BANK LOANS (continued)

At 30 June 2022, the Group’'s bank loan facility
denominated in US$ of US$3,627,000 (equivalent to
HK$28,459,000) (2021: US$2,917,000 (equivalent
to HK$22,652,000)) was secured/guaranteed by the
followings:

(a) legal charges over the Group’s property, plant
and equipment (note 14) with net carrying
values of approximately HK$1,568,000 (2021:
HK$1,054,000);

(b) Intangible assets of HK$8,300,000 (note 18) (2021:
HK$8,234,000), inventories of HK$63,166,000 (note
26) (2021: HK$55,571,000), trade receivables of
HK$40,794,000 (note 27) (2021: HK$32,659,000)
of the Group; and

(c) corporate guarantees of HK$31,388,000 (2021:
HK$31,059,000) executed by the Company.



Annual Report 2022 “F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

=+= - RITEX @ 32. BANK LOANS (continued)
REBABITFEZRITER The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$ of
998,962,000 T (=& = — HK$998,962,000 (2021: HK$813,558,000) and US$
4 : 813,558,000/ 7T ) R LAZETT in the equivalent amount of HK$28,459,000 (2021:
FTHE 2 R1TE 328,459,000/ 7T HK$22,652,000) have floating interest rates ranging from
—T - —1%:22,652,000/87T) 1.21% to 4.75% (2021: 1.24% to 3.09%) per annum.

ERHZEHFEFENT121%E
475% (ZE = —F:1.24%%F

3.09% ) °
=+= HE&AH 33. LEASE LIABILITIES
ERABEA As lessee
REEPHLERIE 2 AR The Group leases various offices and plants in the
HEZEARLAEZLREHE -HEA jurisdictions from which it operates. Rental contracts are
A —M A B AR - HEH TS typically made for fixed periods. Lease terms are negotiated
BRI - B8 B2 TRIER on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
Ko A o 10 & 13 5 I 2 e A 1] terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
ko any covenants.
REERREENKZBREDN The present value of future lease payments of the Group's
A leases are analysed as:
2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000
E Current 4,168 4,162
FETRED Non-current 11,550 15,167
15,718 19,329

N
-
w
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N
D

=+=-.- HE&E » 33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
ERAEBA (&) As lessee (continued)
AEEREEBFELEHEAR Recondiliation of the Group's leases liabilities arising from
2 HRR financing activities:
F#ET
HK$'000

R-FE-FHLA—H As at 1 July 2020 19,373
NE Addition 4,151
FERAX Interest expenses 862
HERK Lease payments (5,205)
R Exchange realignment 148
RZFEZ—HFA=+H Asat30June 2021 and 1 July 2021

E_F”_—%tA—H 19,329
NE Addition 1,407
BRI X Interest expenses 782
HERK Lease payments (5.242)
HESH= Remeasurement of lease (228)
e 5, R Exchange realignment (330)
WREZZEZZHRXAZ+H Asat 30 June 2022 15,718
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=+=- #HEEERE ® 33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
ERAEBA (&) As lessee (continued)
AEEHE (FBEERBHEER The future lease payments of the Group's leases (excluding
REEHEE) 2 RRBAENKZ short-term and low value leases) were schedule to repay as
BERERNOT: follows:
RIEREEMHK & R
Minimum
lease
payments Principal Interest
FE&7T FE7T FET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZEZZF7;x-H=-1H As at 30 June 2022

TER—F No later than one year 4,168 4,783 (615)

—ZEMF One year to two years 2,707 3,184 (477)
EBRMEETERAST  Later than two years but not later

than five years 7,713 8,408 (695)

BRAF Later than five years 1,130 1,142 (12)

15,718 17,517 (1,799)

RZEZ—57 A= H As at 30 June 2021

TNEBER—F No later than one year 4,162 4,935 (773)
—EWF One year to two years 3,912 4,509 (597)
ERMEETERAST Later than two years but not later

than five years 10,137 11,275 (1,138)
BRAEF Later than five years 1,118 1,130 (12)

19,329 21,849 (2,520)

RZE_—FNA=+HZEE The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
BIRR R ER M ERERE or implicit interest rate applied to lease liabilities recognised
Rz A NG EEE in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30
EEEEFRAETFS% (= June 2022 is 5% (2021: 4.5%) per annum.
Z—F:45%)

N
-
ul
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N
(@)}

=+m-

JE 1 3 f22 Wl 48 22
IR

N FEREER 2ERTE
AR+ —(EA RERE-

34. DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and not
repayable within the next twelve months.

=135 - EFREBQRK 35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
"
2022 2021
FH#ETT FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RENAE Current liabilities
FE1ST B HS A B 5K IR Due to related companies (note (a))
(Mt3E@)) 6,877 7,225
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
JEAS BB A B Zk08 Due to related companies (note (b))
(KtEED)) 32,624 33,011
Kzt - Notes:
(a) RZEZZ_FXA=+ (a) As at 30 June 2022, the amounts due to related companies

B ENBEB QG RE
6,877,000 T (=& = —
£ 17,225,000/ 7T ) A 4K
1 K G 8. H A E i Pacific
Islands Company Limited (
KRR BHITE S RIEL ST
A 5 ) 51 786,877,0007 JT
(== = —%:6,805,0007%
TO)BIREKEE -

R-ZFE-_—FxXA=+8"
JE AP VI P9 9 5 52 Bk S EE
ERAMRAA (AARAA
HITEZRIG A ) RIE
420,000 TTER=E =4
MA-+—RZHESZ-

of HK$6,877,000 (2021: HK$7,225,000) were unsecured,
interest-free, of which an amount due to Pacific Islands
Company Limited, which was owned by Mr. Chan Wai
Lap, Victor, an executive director of the Company, of
HK$6,877,000 (2021: HK$6,805,000) was repayable on
demand.

As as 30 June 2021, the amount due to ;T FIEE S~
HEEFR AR, which was owned by Dr. Chan, an
executive director of the Company, of HK$420,000 was
due for repayment on 21 April 2022.
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=+E -

Bat

F& 71 B B 2 B X
8 #)

(%)

RZB-Z—FEXNA=+
H &R A A RIE
2,344,000 L (=T = —
£ : 2,401,000/ 7T ) A £ 4K
BRkes  EPEMEMNT
EHREEFEAERAR ([MB
Al RELAEFBEEA
B )7X181,758,000/ 7T (=
T — —4: 1,801,000/ 7T )
#:::E¢£H*+ﬁ
H(ZZ=Z—F: 2T
FRA-+/R)EHEE
REGEMNENESIERA
Al (RELTAEETEZEERA
8) 7 18586,000/8 7L (=&
— — 4% :600,000/87C) A =
ZHELAZ+ZH (=
T —F:ZT-MFLA
Z+Z=R)EIHEE-

RZZE_TF+-_A—H"
ENERRERASEAR
#27,250,0007T (BBER
32,126,000/ 7t ) 2 | 8 B
BEEBEgE T - —_F+—
A=+H WBEKEEE
B UBREE_T - —F
ANA=ZtTHRLEFEERFREZR
e R UL 251,446,000 T °
RZZE-_—F-~A=+H8"
ENERREBEZREDSE
30,610,000 jt J4 & A ™
BERN KA T5%TE - AR
BHR 2ERR-ZT=-—
+—A=t+RZHES-

35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES (continuec)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 30 June 2022, the amounts due to related companies
of HK$2,344,000 (2021: HK$2,401,000) were unsecured
and interest free, of which an amount due to /{8
IR EFHABRAR(MMER]), which Dr. Chan was a
key management personnel, of HK$1,758,000 (2021:
HK$1,801,000) was due for repayment on 26 May 2024
(2021: 26 May 2024), and an amount due to &M & A
B 5 AR A7], which Dr. Chan was a key management
personnel, of HK$586,000 (2021: HK$600,000) was due
for repayment on 22 July 2024 (2021: 22 July 2024).

On 1 December 2020, the maturity date of the principal
amount of amount due to /E# of RMB27,250,000
(equivalent to HK$32,126,000) was renewed to 30
November 2022. This constituted a debt modification
resulting a gain of HK$1,446,000 recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 30 June 2021. As at 30 June
2021, the carrying amount of amount due to 1% of
HK$30,610,000 was calculated using a market interest rate
of 4.75% per annum was unsecured, interest-free and due
for the repayment on 30 November 2022.

N
~
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N
(0]

+& - EAREBARK

I8 )

miiE: (&)

RZT-_—F+=-A—H8"
ENERAREASEAR
#27,250,0007¢ (BBE R
31,923,000/ 7t ) 2 | 81 A
EEEE T -_=—F+—
A=+H WBEKREEE
BABREBEE=_ZT ==
ANAZt+RALFERFRBZ
TR U 251,407,000 JT °
R-E-_—FxXA=1+8"
ENERREBEZEREDSE
29,870,000/ Jt Jy & B
BERN KA T5%E - AR
BR CEER_ZT=_=F
+—A=1+H3HEE-

R-E-_—FxXA=1+8"
I HESRSREME
BEREAEBRAA (BARAR
NITEZRIG LS ) B
410,000 LR = = M4 H
A=-+—HEI&EE-

35. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES (continuec)

Notes: (continued)
(b) (continued)

On 1 December 2021, the maturity date of the principal
amount of amount due to 1E# of RMB27,250,000
(equivalent to HK$31,923,000) was renewed to 30
November 2023. This constitutes a debt modification
resulting a gain of HK$1,407,000 recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 30 June 2022. As at 30 June
2022, the carrying amount of amount due to fE#i of
HK$29,870,000 was calculated using a market interest rate
of 4.75% per annum is unsecured, interest-free and due
for the repayment on 30 November 2023.

As at 30 June 2022, the amount due to JT P9 #E =B &E
HEZE AR AR, which was owned by Dr. Chan, an
executive director of the Company, of HK$410,000 was
due for repayment on 21 April 2024.

N ERREREZ 36. LOAN FROM A CONTROLLING
&N SHAREHOLDER
2022 2021
F#T FE&T
HK$000 HK$'000
PERRRR R IR 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,686 4,802

R-ZE-—FXA=+H" KiE
T #f —2 AR %4,000,0007T
($E%74,686,000/ T) (==&
——%: AR#4,000,0007T (47
£ 114,802,000/ 70) ) 2 B 5K
ZERAERE REMNR T
=+ A=-t+RB(=ZE=_—
F—_ZE-_=F+HF=+HAA)
EIHpEE-

As at 30 June 2022, loan of RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,686,000) (2021: RMB4,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,802,000)) is advanced from Dr. Chan and is
unsecured, interest-free and due for repayment on 25
October 2023 (2021: 25 October 2023).
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=+t BEERHE (&
E) /af&

ATRRHREAHERRZEE
ELERBE(BE) AfF AR

37.

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The following are major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised at the reporting date and the movements during

REFERAEEE R

the current and prior years:

W% BB
Rexte it
ERELR
RIREZ hniE FE U
NEEAE BIEHRE RIEHEE faE
Fair value
adjustment
on property,
plant and
equipment,
land use
rights, Accelerated
and mining tax Provision for
right depreciation  receivables Total
&7 FET FET TET
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
R-FFHF Balance at
tHA—BZ#&&% 1 July 2020 133,187 (190) (5,509) 127,488
BE 54, e B Exchange realignment 12,545 - - 12,545
MEFRHEFIKEE  Charged to profit or loss
for the year (15,176) - 3,034 (12,142)
R-EZ—fRHA Balance at
=+ARZFZ—% 30June2021and
tA—HzZ&H 1 July 2021 130,556 (190) (2,475) 127,891
ME W AR Exchange realignment (3,145) - - (3,145)
MBEFANRFKERE Charged to profit or loss
for the year (20,533) - - (20,533)
R-BEZ_& Balance at
ANRA=+BzZ&S  30June 2022 106,878 (190) (2,475) 104,213

N
O
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=+t EZEHE (& 37.
E) &t w

TIRBEZEHRET 2 EER
REMBIRRARIIR :

DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

(continued)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position:

2022 2021
FiET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEEHIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 106,941 130,619
EIEFLIBE B Deferred tax assets (2,728) (2,728)
104,213 127,891

N E B ABHEBEBREBLY
269,906,000 T (=& = —
& 1 273,445,000/ 7)) ' ;2S5
BEEAAREEELEZSE
B2 RAZARRERT & F
ER N AABEHR KRR IE R @
A HEAZE RS ARIEE
B AL ARRZEEERER
BREHEEE RABAKRES
101,279,000 L (=& = —
:90,478,000/8 70) R E =
A F(ZEZ—F: =T
ZAEF) (BEZF)ZTRAB
BAZIER - E fth R B) AT I ES 1R 7]
IR H A58 o

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$269,906,000
(2021: HK$273,445,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies which
incurred the losses. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as it is not probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which
these unused tax losses can be utilised. Unused tax losses
of HK$101,279,000 (2021: HK$90,478,000) will expire in
various dates up to and including 2027 (2021: 2026). Other
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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=+ BRE 38. SHARE CAPITAL
BETERIRARERZ SN The movements in the issued ordinary share capital during
e the year are as follows:
LiEREE FET
Number of
ordinary
shares HK$°000
BERITERHR: Issued and fully paid:
—E2-TF+A—H 1 July 2020 6,831,182,580 560,673
f&15 & Share consolidation* (6,148,064,322) -
R-ZEZ—-§7XA=+A" At 30 June 2021,
—F-—FtA—HR 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022
ZEZ§KRA=1H 683,118,258 560,673
* ARAREFTOKRE BT uJ With effect from 31 May 2021, every ten (10) issued shares
HEEHABEARE—()KRE of the Company was consolidated into one (1) consolidated
Bty (TIRMDEFE]) - BB= share of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”). Further
T —FRA=T—HRE4E details of the Share Consolidation are set out in the
W& U2 E— T announcements of the Company dated 16 April 2021 and
EiA /NG =R = ety 27 May 2021 and circular of the Company dated 6 May
FORA+ARER-_ZE_—F 2021.

AA-+EHZRAEUER
AelBEA-ZT_—FHA
NB 2B e

No
N
—
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=+ #E-—XKEER 39. RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY

N
N

v /N
AEE

EEERFERNEFE 2 #B
SRLEEHNRAREEHR

25

Hith s R B A B B 12 ) 2 BESI
R an S AN 2 B B MR FE 2
EmE AEA MR R RR
FIEHEERIGEZEERABEM
BELZER-

FrpRE TR L B A SR B —
BARETHREKEIZ KELL
S HIERE AT HIE S
HEERAEME ZZH-

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid for the additional interest in the
subsidiaries and the non-controlling interest’s share of the
assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the dates of the acquisitions of the
non-controlling interests.

Special reserve represents the difference between the
consideration received for the disposal of certain Group's
interest in a subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s
share of assets and liabilities at the date of the disposal of
the non-controlling interest.
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=+ FE-—EKEER 39. RESERVES - GROUP AND COMPANY

Kpa =) (continued)
AT Company
BRERE TUIREE HERE REEF #st
Share Non- Capital
option  distributable  contribution Retained
reserve reserve reserve profits Total
FHET FHT FHET FHET FHET
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
RZZ-ZTF Balance at 1 July 2020
tRA—HZz&% 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,469,835 1,772,286
FEREF Profit for the year = = = (238,917) (238,917)
FR2AKREE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - (238,917) (238,917)
RZZ=Z—FRA=tHR Balanceat
- -%tH-RHz 30 June 2021 and
&5 1 July 2021 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,230,918 1,533,369
“E-FREAKRE 2021 final dividend
(=) (note 10) - - - (13,662) (13,662)
HERAZRS Transactions with owners - - - (13,662) (13,662)
FRHEM Profit for the year - - - 13,275 13,275
FR2EKRERE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - 13,275 13,275
RIFEZZH Balance at
~NAZ+HZ&R 30 June 2022 6,609 273,606 22,236 1,230,531 1,532,982

TADIKFEHEER - NLNAEF
ARARE B HERSR2.50
A ITTHIRZEO. 108 TTATE A 2 )i

Bo

HE R IR AR F RSB E R
B R BB R ) W BE A VAR VB M

& o

Non-distributable reserve represents the premium arising

on the reduction of the par value of ordinary shares of the
Company from HK$2.50 to HK$0.10 per share in 1994.

The capital contribution reserve represented deemed capital

contribution arising from the gain on debt extinguishment

with controlling shareholders in prior years.

No
N
W
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M+ - EERRHERTE! 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

N
D

KRR ZEREFE (22—
TEHAE IR -_ZT—ZTF+A
+=HEARRBREE —F
—ZFEHE2EXBAETE
WER=ZZE-_ZEFtA+=H
EH-Elt RARERZZTZ
TFE+-_RA -+ _HEMN A
FERESE ([ F5t
gl]) -

—E-TFEE

—E-TEHBZEERRD
T

Exe([E5g)AEZES
ATZEE e -BR K&
RGN, IEAEE IR
REBRARZBEREREER
HMEBHEA TIEEBRAL
(ZZE_TF/ERALDE
BRI ARB AR AR :

0) RRT] - BRI E QA
HAEMRITE T ZEMA
EE(ERE2BERE
B) S&THRAENE
TKE B (BEH
17 FEIT RIBILIETT
Ex) MEFLELIH
SHAKREZBRRE
RIFLER (BESZER

E) e

REEEVARUTZ&EE
(AR RBMREREZD BB
(BEREXER)EBRIMER
WERAB2WHE : RGAR
AR EEBREZO R S
TEEXBEBIAERRER
P P (8 -

The share option scheme of the Company (the “2010
Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of the
Company on 13 July 2010. The 2010 Scheme would be
valid for a period of ten years and expired on 12 July 2020.
Therefore, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme on 22 December 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”).

2020 Scheme

The principal terms of the 2020 Scheme are as follows:

The board of directors (“Board”) may in its discretion, invite
any following eligible person (“2020 Eligible Persons”),
having regard to each person’s qualifications, skills,
background, experience, service records and/or contribution
or potential value to the relevant members of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any investee who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
growth and development of the Group.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option.
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m+ - EERR#ERE @) 40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

—E-TFEHE (A

—F_TFEREBRALTBEARAH

2020 Scheme (continued)

The 2020 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer

L4 A BREET T % A NEN notified to him or her within ten business days from the
ERBEAEL BABEERE offer date, failing which it shall be deemed to have been

BB - NI ME LR AR AFE
MARRIMIBTIERBE LR
B-NBRE-T_TFiFE KA
N E A ERE B KT
8 RITEE 2 Fr A BT EINERR
ERITER A BT RO TS
HE AETBBBTREET
A& 15 B930% © {6 L il pR&E -
A RAI R B T T FFEI RN
N AT E A B AR M S 215 B
FRHE o (RS 2 &) A IR R AE AR R K
2 EBE10%RERETRNEE
Bk o ¥ RIZBERBEA D
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declined. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No option may be granted under the 2020 Scheme and
any other option schemes of the Company if such limit is
exceeded. If the Company conducts a share consolidation
or subdivision after the 10% limit has been approved by
the shareholders in general meeting, the maximum number
of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the 2020 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company under the 10% limit as
a percentage of the total number of issued shares at the
date immediately before and after such consolidation or
subdivision shall be the same.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, there is no
option granted under 2020 Scheme.
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40.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2010 Scheme

The principal terms of the 2010 Scheme are as follows:

The Board may in its discretion, invite any following eligible
persons (“2010 Eligible Persons”) to take up the options to
subscribe for shares of the Company:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive director) or consultant of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any investee who, as
determined by the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the
Group; or

(ii) any investee.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer of the option, which must be a business day; and (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
offer of the option.
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2010 Scheme (continued)

The 2010 Eligible Persons must accept any such offer
notified to him or her within ten business days from the
offer date. Upon acceptance of the offer, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
must not in aggregate exceed (i) 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the adoption date; or (i) 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant
in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the share
capital of the Company then in issue unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

The option period shall be notified by the Board to each
grantee upon grant of each option, provided that it shall
commence on a date not earlier than the offer date and not
be more than ten years from the offer date.

Since 22 June 2020, there was no options granted under
2010 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the outstanding share options under the 2010
Scheme held by the directors of the Company during the
years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

ERENE (RBAKE
Number of share options (after Share Consolidation)
) ) : Ripadttz o ) ) ‘
KEARS REAH i BRiTER REH) ERRY EnfrE REF
Exercise
price
per share
after Atthe Granted Exercised Atthe
Share ~ beginning during during end of
Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period Consolida;gtog of the year the year the year the year
T
HKS
00
[ E-MERATAR CE-MEARTAREZZZMERATIA 133 1000000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Kei, Vicki 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
R B-MERATAR ZE-RERRTARECRIMEAATAR 133 1000000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 o 18 June 2024
ERK E-MECAZTER CE-MECAZTRARCRCRECAZTRA 120 1000000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 25 July 2014 5 Ju\y 20140 24 July 2024
REH “E-1EtALA TE-RELAtBECECRELANA 251000000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai K, Vick Ty 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
R ZE2-1ELALR F-RELAtAE-T-R%EAAR 25 1,000000 - - 1,000,000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7 July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
[k “E-1fFLALR “E-RELATRECECIELANA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing Ty 2015 7y 20150 6 July 2025
EEL “E-1ELALA S-RELATAZ-E-TELANA 245 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 7 July 2015 1 July 201506 July 2025
REH “TEt-AZR CEnET-AZRECECAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Ke, Vicki 3 Novernber 2016 3 Novernber 2016 to 2 November 2026
R “TEt-AzR CEnET-ARECECAET-ACR 1491000000 - - 1,000,000
(Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016102 November 2026
fFER “TEt-AZR CEnET-AZRECECAET-ACA 149 1000000 - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 Noverber 2026
ERK “TEt-AzR CEnET-ARECECAET-ACR 1491000000 - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-hing 3 November 2016 3 November 2016102 November 2026
Ahfes SEIREAACTIA CECREAACTCAECEIREAACTH 05 1200000 - - 1200000
Other employees 22 June 2020 22 June 2020t 21 June 2030
12,200,000 - - 12,200000
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Ehege
Number o share options
KR iU
ARALES RS i BRAKE AMHRE  SKARR RE  ABERE  FRRE  EAAR RER
Bedse  Adustment Brercse Athe  Adustment Granted Brerdised Atthe
pice  upon Share pie  beginming  upon Share during during endof
Name of grantee Date of grant Evercsable period pershare  Consolidation pershare oftheyear  Consolidation the year the year the year
AT AT #r
S s 1i4)
201
GE Z5-RERATAR Z5-MERRTARECIECMERATNA 0138 124 13810000000 (3,000,000} - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Ke, Vicki 19 June 2014 19 June 2014 to 18 June 2024
{0 5-MEAATIA ZR-MERATARECRCMERATIR 0138 128 138 10000000 (9000,000) o = 1,000,000
Chan WaiLap, Victor 19 June 2014 19 June 201410 18 June 2024
EER ZE-mELACTER CE-MELACTRAZCECMECACTMA 012 1089 12010000000 (3,000,000} - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwon-ing 25 July 2014 25 July 20140 24 July 2024
RER Z2-1§tAtR R-REtAtAECRCRELANA 0245 2205 245 10000000 (9,000000) o = 1,000,000
Chan Wa Ke, Vicki 7y 2015 7uly 20150 6 uly 2025
K& 5-TECALR “E-RELAtAECECRREANR 0245 2005 24510000000 (9,000,000) - - 1,000,000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 7luly 2015 7July 2015 t0 6 July 2005
fig Z2-1§tAtR R-REtAtAECRCRELANA 0245 2205 245 10000000 (9,000000) - - 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing 7y 2015 7uly 20150 6 uly 2025
EER 5-TECALR Z-RELATAZCECRELANR 0245 2005 24510000000 (9,000,000) - - 1,000,000
Wong Edward Gwoning 7 uly 2015 1 Ju\y 2015106 July 2025
RER 2-7E+-AZHR ZE-nET-R=REZ3=7ET-AZR 0.149 1341 14910000000 (9000,000) o = 1,000,000
Chan Wi Kei, Vicki 3 November 2016 3 Novernber 2016 to 2 Noverber 2026
REL EET-RZR CR-RET-ASRECECAET-AR 0149 1341 14910000000 (9000000 - - 10000
Chan Wai Lap, Victor 3 November 2016 3 November 2016 to 2 November 2026
fig 2-7E+-AZHR 8- 7Et-RZRECRET-AZA 0.149 1341 14910000000 (9000,000) o = 1,000,000
Yam Tat Wing 3 November 2016 3 Novernber 2016 to 2 Noverber 2026
RAK ERET-RZR CR-RET-ASRECECAET-AR 0149 1341 14910000000 (9000000 - - 10000
Wong Edward Gwon-ing 3 November 2016 3 Novernoer 2016 to 2 Novernoer 2026
EfER RCREAACTIR CECREAACTIRECREERNACT-A 0052 0468 052 12000000 (10800000} - - 1,200,000
Other employees 20 lune 200 22 June 202010 21 June 2030
122000000 (109,800,000) o - 12200000
e R 17 {8 B PR ¥ 2 I T 19 1T Weighted average exercise price of outstanding share
FEERIE7TETL(ZE—%F: options is HK$1.67 (2021: HK$1.67 (after Share
1.67% 7T (RiIp&OHE) ) - = Consolidation)) and the weighted average remaining
RITEERE IR RE 2 INfE IR E contractual life of outstanding share options is
NFEBHHRBAF (ZE=—5F:5 approximately 4 years (2021: 5 years).
) e
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M—+— - AR ZBHR 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
IS OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
k23 FET FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
EREBEE Non-current assets
N INEYNCIPE 2 Interests in subsidiaries 1,008,562 992,977
NGRS Due from subsidiaries 827,551 =
1,836,113 992,977
MEEE Current assets
TENHRIE Ze Rk Prepayments, deposits and
H b fE U FRIA other receivables 35 1,739
NG Due from subsidiaries 585,326 1,397,109
RENRREEH Cash and cash equivalents 4,634 606
589,995 1,399,454
REAE Current liabilities
E RS FRIE & Other payables and accruals
[T E R (996) (885)
R EPNGIE ] Due to subsidiaries (331,132) (297,179)
IR R R Provision for tax (325) (325)
(332,453) (298,389)
mEEEREE Net current assets 257,542 1,101,065
EEFE Net assets 2,093,655 2,094,042
& EQUITY
&7 Share capital 38 560,673 560,673
Gl Reserves 39 1,532,982 1,533,369
AR Total equity 2,093,655 2,094,042
REEEFE On behalf of the Board
fe {2 3T Chan Wai Lap, Victor
== Director
g BD 3 Chan Sing Chuk, Charles
) Director
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42. SUBSIDIARIES

RZZBEZ—FRA=+H FZE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022

MEBA AR ZFRMT : are as follows:
ML/ EfRER/
%8 AMREERE ERTRARE FAEEREENE  FEEE
Place of Particulars of paid-up
incorporation/ registered/ Percentage of
registration and issued share equity attributable
Name operations capital to the Company Principal activities
Ef &
Direct Indirect
Brangredi Limited B LTBRIBT - 100 HKEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Jewellery trading
AEERRA B ERRIAT - 100 ME&RE
Capital Luck Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
i 21N &R LRRIET - 100 W¥RE
Charm Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
EBARAR i LRRIAT - 100 #%ikE
Cheermax Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 Property investment
CJ. (UK) Limited* R 1330BERAEIRE - 7519 KEEHHE
United Kingdom LBk Jewellery wholesaling
1,330 ordinary shares of
(GBP1 each
ENERARAT &R L@RI100% T - 100 #RES
Conti Diamond Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$100 Diamond trading
Continental Investment Company Limited ~ &8 E1B5%100,000%8 7 100 - REZR
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$100,000
EHAEEHRARAA &R £43110,000,0008 T 100 - KEEHRERYEE
Continental Jewellery (Mfg.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery manufacturing
HK$10,000,000 and wholesaling
BMMERRAR i3 LRRAT - 100 #HERE
Continental Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$2 Property investment
Continental Universe Limited RBERAHS IRGRABIETZ 100 - RAER
British Virgin LR Investment holding
Islands 2 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

No
w
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m+=- MEBLA @ 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ML/ BRRsm/
8 AMREEWE ERTRAFE FMAEREZENE  TEXE
Place of Particulars of paid-up
incorporation/ registered/ Percentage of
registration and issued share equity attributable
Name operations capital to the Company Principal activities
B &
Direct Indirect
CJUSALLC ZNBATRE 1,000% &R EE 00X - 100 REEHES
United States of IR Jewellery trading
America 1,000 shares of
US$1.00 each
DCGS Management Service Limited 0 £ %110,000,0007% T - 100 REER/
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of REEERE
HK$10,000,000 Investment holding/
providing
management services
KAERARAA R LERET - 100 W¥RE
Daily Famous Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
EEREARAA BB L131%500,000% 7T 100 - RESR
Diamond Creation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Investment holding
HK$500,000
ERARAH &R LRRAET - 100 #MERE
Diamond Bright Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Equal Glory Limited EEENAS ORSRERIZETL - 0 RERR/MEXE
British Virgin EER Investment holding/
Islands 10 ordinary shares of Property development
US$1 each
ARERARAR &R LRRIET - 100 ¥EKE
Fortune Success International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Golden Creation Jewellery Limited 0 LiBiR1,000,0058 7T - 100 HEEHES
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Jewellery trading
HK$1,000,005
BX(FB)BRAF &R LRRIET - 100 WE¥RE
Huge Sky (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
HEBRAH &R LRRET - 100 #MERE
Keen Mind Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
HEERERAA A LRRIAT - 100 #WERE
Lucky Key International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

"ML/ BfRm/
&R AMREEWE  ERTRAFE FAAEREZENE  TEXE
Place of Particulars of paid-up
incorporation/ registered/ Percentage of
registration and  issued share equity attributable
Name operations capital to the Company Principal activities
%
Indirect
Master Gold Development Ltd. RBREU#HS 1REREEIZTL 100 ®EZR
LiER
British Virgin 1 ordinary share of Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
B2 (F%)BRAR BB LRRIET 100 #ERE
Max Creation (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Novell Enterprises Inc. EHBARE 100 BREBOETLZ 100 HEEMPEREE
United States of fkfa (ZZ=—  Jewellery manufacturing
America 100 shares of US$0.01 each :85) and selling of jewelry
(2021: 85)
Ontrack Ventures Limited EE e 100k BRERBIETZ 5 REER
British Virgin LER Investment holding
Islands 100 ordinary share of
US$1 each
RERERRRA BB LERIBT 5 ONERE
Pacific Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
Patford Company Limited B EiRA%10,000% T 100 WERE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
Realford Company Limited &b EBA%10,0007C 100 WELRE
Hong Kong Ordinary shares of Property investment
HK$10,000
REERARAT &R LRRIET 100 REER
Top Grace International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
EBERARAA i LTBRIBT 100 Rm#mES
Top Label International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Trading of food and
beverages
FHRARAT i LaERIAT 100 #¥RE
Wealthy Joy Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment

No
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ML/ BRRsm/
8 AMREEWE ERTRAFE FMAEREZENE  TEXE
Place of Particulars of paid-up
incorporation/ registered/ Percentage of
registration and issued share equity attributable
Name operations capital to the Company Principal activities
B &
Direct Indirect
5 (BE) BRAT BB LERIBT - 100 #WERE
Well Power (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property investment
REREBRAT A LRRIAT - N PRER
Well Century Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
BREEARAT &R LERET - 100 WE%RE
Wise Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of HK$1 Property development
AEN T BEERAA R AR BARKRA - 100 FRERERBRERE
Mainland China 21,000,000% T Mining and exploration of
Paid up capital of mineral reserves
US$21,000,000
IAmEVREERAR" AR BRRBRAARK - 100 REEHTE
Mainland China 18,605,0407C Jewellery retailing
Paid up capital of
RMB18,605,040
BAKE OIM) ERAR GETN B#RBRA - 100 REEMHRE
Mainland China 35,000,000/ Jewellery manufacturing
Paid up capital of
HK$35,000,000
& R B KREFM 2 NS B E # Wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the

P

" BREEDF— A HRER

NEE -

FREBLEEEGENE
BHARABRILERSRZ
Hipk 8 A A8 - % EIF
B ERRERIME QR
FEEREGLASEFEE
BE#R2% °

Mainland China.

Limited liability company — joint venture between domestic

investors and Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau investors.

* Not audited by BDO Limited or other BDO member firms.
The aggregate net assets of these subsidiaries not audited

by BDO amounted to approximately 2% of the Group's

total net assets.



Annual Report 2022 “F
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

m+=- MBAT & 42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

EERA ERASIARRE ZH
BRAEEZEFRFRETANX
AEBEEFEZERAID &
ERA RHUEMMBARZH
FEEHRBEAEN TR

KRB —FR=ZF=—FA
=18 fBR R EEITEM
Bi5E 5o

FEHIER

RNARERTS% (DT ——4F:
75% ) 1 zx 2 MY B A & Ontrack
Ventures LimitedG25% 2 & X
e HEASEN S B
ERFAEEMASENIFES
100% & #5282 &) 2 FE 2
BESFRBTERKN-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, none of the subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities.

Non-controlling interests

Ontrack Ventures Limited, a 75% (2021: 75%) owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling
interests of 25% which is material to the Group. The
non-controlling interests of all other subsidiaries that are
not 100% owned by the Group are considered to be
immaterial.

N
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42. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in relation to Ontrack

Ventures limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Pacific

Gate Investment Limited, before intra-group elimination, is

presented below:

2022 2021
F#T FETT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEANAZTHILEFE For the year ended 30 June
Wz Revenue = =
F N Al Profit for the year 99,174 48,172
FRNEEW=ETE Total comprehensive income
for the year 99,174 48,172
o T IR Hl i e 2 0 T Profit allocated to
non-controlling interests 24,794 12,043
HEANAZTHILEFE For the year ended 30 June
KEFEHMACRESRE Cash flows used in operating
activities (62,162) 69,478
KEEMAZEERE Cash flows used in investing activities (115,623) (222,335)
BMEESEACRESRE Cash flow generated from
financing activities 112,615 171,102
B Rt/ RAFE Net cash (outflows)/inflows (65,170) 18,245
RANA=+H At 30 June
JEMENE EE Non-current assets 1,827,000 1,660,000
MENEE Current assets 7,203 22,403
nBeE Current liabilities (837,607) (784,980)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (72,388) (72,388)
BEFE Net assets 924,208 825,035
ZEtoEEtlER Accumulated non-controlling
interests 231,052 206,258
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43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At reporting date, the Group had outstanding capital

RAEFELT commitments as follows:
2022 2021
F#ET FAET
HK$'000 HK$°000
EEEEFS:TEE Contracted but not provided for:
TEYZE Investment properties 48,667 106,853

m+m - AERH
fER A

RZZBZZFRA=TH A&
ERBEHERHEREE TYE
(MFeE+75)  KrEmmg 2 HE
B=F -ZEMETREXRANR
o ASEEREBEBLFTLL
A BEHEE 2 KRR R(EAEfE
WRTa 5 B BB R T

44, LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessor

As at 30 June 2022, the Group leases certain properties
(note 16) under lease arrangements, with lease negotiated
for a term of three years. None of the leases include
contingent rentals. The Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

2022 2021

F#ET FAET

HK$000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 8,169 7,720

—FRERFNRN After one year but within two years 3,031 4,669
MERE=ZFN After two year but within

three years 1,487 412

12,687 12,801

N
~
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BRAER A B SR E b BB D PR
BEN AEERFARAEFILT
5l BARsE 5 XX 5 o

@ REEZZZ_FXH
=THIEFE REEH
—HHFELTE2ERE 2
B AR EEEERN B
f 1,407,000 7T ( =
T = — 41,442,000
JT) °

SAARERARAS TR
EEABHERRETIIE

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, during the year, the Group entered into the

following related party transactions.

(a

During the year ended 30 June 2022, imputed
interest expenses of HK$1,407,000 (2021:
HK$1,442,000) were incurred to a related company
of which is wholly-owned by Dr. Chan.

Compensation of key management personnel

Included in employee benefit expenses are key
management personnel compensation and comprise

H: the following:
2022 2021
FiET FET
HK$'000 HK$ 000
EHEE R Short term employee benefits 9,960 8,742
BERL 22 A Post-employment benefits 327 375
10,287 9,117

© RZZEZZF-A=+
B - T IEE S 5K IE
REE—EEN—HHE
Bt B/ e RERE
SEEVER 2 BB AR Z
FXTE28,575,0007% 7T (=
= = — 4 123,425,000/
TT) °

BREMEM 1 () R (o) 2 BAEE 7T
RSIEKETRANETHAE
FIARECRIERS

As at 30 June 2022, included in due to non-
controlling interests, an amount of HK$28,575,000
(2021: HK$23,425,000), was due to a related
company which is owned by Dr. Chan, Ms. Cheng
Siu Yin, Shirley and Mr. Chan Wai Lap, Victor.

The related party transaction in respect of notes 45(a) and

(c) also constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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46.

47.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in notes 35, 36, 45(a) and (c), no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered
into or subsisted during the financial year.

CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
OF A SUBSIDIARY/ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY

(a) Change in ownership interests of a subsidiary

On 29 October 2021, the Group entered into a stock
purchase agreement with a connected person in
relation to the acquisition of 15% of the issued and
outstanding shares of the common stock of Novell
Enterprises Inc. (“Novell”) (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) at a consideration
of US$900,000 (approximately HK$6,987,000).
Having satisfied all the terms and condition of
the Agreement, the acquisition was completed
on 5 November 2021. After completion, all the
shareholding of Novell was owned by the Group
and Novell became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The difference between the said
consideration paid for the additional interests in
Novell and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position of Novell at the date
of acquisition of HK$1,786,000 was recognised in
other reserves in the Group's equity.

N
O
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47. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
OF A SUBSIDIARY/ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(a)

(b)

Change in ownership interests of a subsidiary
(continued)

The above acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction under the Listing Rules. Further details on
this are disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 1 November 2021.

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 28 May 2021, the Group entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent
individual third party (the “Seller”) to acquire the
entire issued share capital of Cheermax Limited
(“Cheermax”) and shareholder’s loan owing by
Cheermax to the Seller at an aggregate cash
consideration of HK$63,687,000 after certain
adjustments. Cheermax principal assets are located
in Shop A & B on the G/F and Office A to H on 1/F,
Hart Avenue Court, 19-23 Hart Avenue, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon. Having satisfied all the terms and
condition of the Agreement, the acquisition was
completed on 1 June 2021.

This transaction had been accounted for as an
acquisition of assets as the acquisition does not meet
the definition of a business combination. The assets
acquired and liabilities assumed do not constitute a
business. The transaction was accounted for as an
acquisition of properties in the ordinary course of the
Group's property investment business.
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47. CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
OF A SUBSIDIARY/ACQUISITION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (continued)

The identifiable assets and liabilities acquired was
recognised at the date of acquisition as follows:

NEE
Fair value
FET
HK$000
Friig s a & Net liabilities acquired
wEMZE Investment properties 65,000
B Deposits 12
&N -EN Shareholder’s loan (86,165)
H th J& (< KI8 Other payables (430)
e FRIA Tax payables (895)
FEE Net liabilities (22,478)
BRWERB AR Net cash outflow in connection with the
IR & FER - acquisition of a subsidiary:
BEfRE Consideration paid 63,687
FEITL
HK$'000
REZAF: Consideration satisfied by:
LIRS EMNZBENRE Purchase consideration settled in cash 63,687
BEREER Purchase of the shareholder’s loan (86,165)
FrgEFaE2 A ATE Fair value of net liabilities purchased 22,478

()
=
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m+)\ - FERHEEZ 48. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

BREHR

TRAMAEEREESHELZ
AEEY BRASRIFRSE
H-MEERDEECREHER
BHARRREREBEAEE 247
EHRERERTEARETE

ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash

AR flows from financing activities.
FEf R Bl &% BRER e
ANARE RITRF TERE REZER RERE BEARK
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Amount due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
(F=+1) (WF=+2) (WE=12) (WE=17) (HzE=+m) (Hz=+=)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
RZF-F£tA-A At 1 July 2020 30,550 751,663 696 4388 29,340 19,373
RemeRy: Changes from cash flows:
FEHERER Advance from non-controlling interests = = = = 19,445 =
RELEBR Advance from joint ventures - - 340 - - -
ELnEE Advance from related parties 6,805 - - - - =
BRFE* Interest paid* - (12,987) - - - (862)
HEROEE New bank borrowings - 186,988 = = = =
BERITHE Repayment of bank borrowings - (102,493) - - = =
BEHERE S Repayment of principal amount of
lease liabilities - - - - - 4343)
HERETEEDAE Total changes from financing cash flows 6,805 71,508 340 = 19,445 (5,205)
ER AR Exchange realignment 2,885 5 - 414 - 148
SEM—HEBATZEES  Gain on debt modification on amounts due to
B Wi a related company (1,446) - - - - -
Hip 2. Other changes:
MERE Addition of new lease - - - - - 4,151
FERAX Interest expenses 1442 12,987 - = = 862
E#HAR Total other changes 1442 12,987 - - - 5013
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m+)\ - MERHEEZ 48. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
BEHER @ ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

FE BB Ef&E BRER e
SR RTEH SRR REHEZER RERE HEER
Due to Loan from a Due to
related Amount due to controlling  non-controlling Lease
companies Bank loans joint ventures shareholder interests liabilities
FAT FAT FET FAT FAL FAT
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
(WE=+51) (WE=+2) (HE=1+2) (HE=17) (HzE=+m) (HE=+2)
(note 35) (note 32) (note 22) (note 36) (note 34) (note 33)
RZF--£XA=+HR At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021
—§--%tB-H 40,236 836,210 1,036 4,802 48,785 19,329
Reney: Changes from cash flows:
FETIRREN Advance from non-controlling interests - - - - 7,490 _
AELEBN Advance from joint ventures - = = = = =
BARFIE Interest paid* - (14,778) - = = =
MERITHE New bank borrowings - 598,786 - - - -
BERITHE Repayment of bank borrowings - (407,815) - - - -
ERRERBEZALRFIE Repayment of principal and interest
amount of lease liabilities - - - - - (5.242)
MERSHERDER Total changes from financing cash flows - 176,193 = = 7,490 (5,242)
5 8% Exchange realignment (735) 240 - (116) - (330)
HEEH: 2 Remeasurement of lease - - - - - (228)
SR —FERIBAFIFUEER  Gain on debt modification on amounts due to
BB W a related company (1,407) - - - - =
L #e: Other changes:
MERE Addition of new lease - - - - - 1,407
GG Interest expenses 1,407 14,778 - - - 782
Ef2HER Total other changes 1,407 14,778 - - - 2,189
RZFZZERAZTA At 30 June 2022 39,501 1,027,421 1,036 4,686 56,275 15718
* SAGEBEERERTHL * Included as operating activities in the consolidated
=DEED) statement of cash flows

[N]
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OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, debt investments, derivatives, financial
instruments, long-term receivables, amounts due to joint
ventures, trade receivables, other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, bank loans, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amounts due to related companies, loan from a
controlling shareholder and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.1 Categories of financial assets and financial

liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

statement of financial position relate to the

following categories of financial assets and financial

liabilities. See note 3.14 for explanations about how

the category of financial instruments affects their

subsequent measurement.

2022 2021
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$000
EHMEE Financial assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
AR EEF AEA Financial assets at fair value
FHWEZEHBEE through other comprehensive
income 34,630 37,945
AT ERTABRZ Financial assets at fair value
TRIEE through profit or loss 10,860 11,370
MENEE Current assets
IAAFEEGTABZZ Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 3,887 12,185
REHK AT EZ Financial assets at amortised costs:
TRIBE
— 8 5K IA — Trade receivables 108,755 99,943
— B fth JE WK IR — Other receivables 6,988 54755
—RERRESEH — Cash and cash equivalents 144,008 340,207
259,751 445,905
309,128 507,405

[N)
J=
ul
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M+Ah - HAFEREEHE 49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRER OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
49.1 ZRIEERTHEEER 49.1 Categories of financial assets and financial
(&) liabilities (continued)
2022 2021
F#T FHETT
HK$000 HK$'000
ERERE Financial liabilities
i p=Ri= Current liabilities
BN ATTEZ Financial liabilities measured at
%Eﬂﬁfi : amortised cost;
E S FRIE — Trade payables (106,595) (67,725)
—ﬁm%ﬁﬁ EH R — Other payables and accruals
EstE M (57,916) (114,773)
—iRITEK — Bank loans (884,621) (707,010)
ARl NGIE L] — Due to related companies (6,877) (7,225)
—ENE %ﬁ% — Due to joint ventures (1,036) (1,036)
(1,057,045) (897,769)
EREBERE Non-current liabilities
BN AT EZ Financial liabilities measured at
SHAaGE: amortised cost:
—iRITENK — Bank loans (142,800) (129,200)
ARl NGIE L] — Due to related companies (32,624) (33,011)
= Iﬂxﬂxﬁkt\zg?ﬂ — Loan from a controlling
shareholder (4,686) (4,802)
— P IEIE HIREZE 5K A — Due to non-controlling interests (56,275) (48,785)
(236,385) (215,798)
(1,293,430) (1,113,567)
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that
the fair value of future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, UK,
US and the Mainland China with most of
the transactions denominated and settled
in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"),
British Pounds (“GBP"), Canadian Dollars
("CAD") and RMB. No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial
assets and financial liabilities denominated
in RMB and US$, which are the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the Mainland
China and US respectively to which these
transactions relate. The Group’s exposure
to foreign currency risk primarily arises
from certain financial instruments including
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, trade receivables,
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, cash and cash equivalents and
trade payables which are denominated in
US$, Euro, British Pounds and CAD. During
the years, the Group did not have foreign
currency hedging policy but management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure.

[N]
~
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MBEREER 49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
& ==

BREKR @) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

mizmEkE (&) 49.2 Market risk (continued)

() srEsEfE () (i) Foreign currency risk (continued)
THREMN T The following table summarises the
FRZFZ—FRA Group's major financial assets and liabilities
ZTHEUAREES denominated in currencies other than the
B 8 A BT g & HE LA functional currency of the respective group
SN BEESTEZ RS companies as at 30 June 2022 and 2021.
TEEMEERE
&

F# TR
Expressed in HK$'000
ET B 3 mx
Us$ Euro GBP CAD
RZFZZEARA=1+H At30June 2022
MATER AL Financial assets at fair value
PENECEREE through other comprehensive
income 13,692 - - 1,354
B HEYGIE Trade receivables 41,739 = = 501
WATEABRZ Financial asset at fair value
CPREE through profit or loss 10,883 - = =
BeRBELER Cash and cash equivalents 80,188 108 13,484 1,034
B ENFE Trade payables (38,342) (550) = =
BRFRER Overall net exposure 108,160 (442) 13,484 2,889
WZEZ—%A=+H  At30June 2021
MATER AL Financial assets at fair value
PENECEREE through other comprehensive
income 11,093 - - 3,632
B HEYGIE Trade receivables 38,757 = = =
NATEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
cREE through profit or loss 18,864 - = =
BeRBReESR Cash and cash equivalents 242,103 69 7,984 12
EU) e Trade payables (36,704) (234) = =
BERRER Overall net exposure 274113 (165) 7,984 3,644
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

his Ak (&) 49.2 Market risk (continued)
() sIEEEE (&) () Foreign currency risk (continued)
B € T B T B As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group does
8 WA B TER = not expect any significant movements in
TTHABTLZERSE the US$/HK$ exchange rates. No sensitivity
EHEFRNENES- analysis in respect of the Group's financial
HRESFRA T® assets and liabilities denominated in US$ is
ESHEBETHABTZ disclosed as in the opinion of directors, such
b 3= B B) K - H R sensitivity analysis does not give additional
REEAETFEZ value in view of insignificant movement in
TREERBEEHA the US$/HK$ exchange rates as at reporting
Z B E O T I date. The following table indicates the
REEINEE - A approximate change in the Group's profit for
ERERZERRED the year and equity in response to reasonably
o TRBRERER possible changes in the foreign exchange
HRE B HAAR S B AR rates to which the Group has significant
X &K R g2 SN TE exposure at the reporting date.
K2 EEAIEES -
RNEE 2 F A &
He 2 7] g8 3R 2 BEAD
2022 2021
HEEE  ERET BE BEX  EREH ER
L/ wm/ #m/ R/ EM/ O &N/
(T8 (H9)  GEY) (TR (A (Rd)
Increase/  Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)  Increase/
inforeign  inprofit Increase/ inforeign (decrease)  Increase/
exchange for the (Decrease)  exchange in profitfor  (decrease)
rates year in equity rates  theyear  inequity
FéT  FET AT  FEr
HKS$000  HKS$'000 HKS000  HKS000
BT Euro +5% (22) (22) +5% ) ]
-5% 22 22 -5% 8 8
1 GBP +5% 674 674 +5% 399 399
-5% (674) (674) -5% (399) (399)
mi CAD +5% 77 144 +5% 1 182
-5% (77) (144) -5% (1) (182)

[N]
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Other than the above, the Group held
several foreign currency forward contracts
denominated in USD which were recognised
as derivative financial instruments (note
28(d)) as at 30 June 2022. Upon the maturity
dates, these contracts will be settled in GBP.
Accordingly, the fair value and the future
cash flow will fluctuate because of the
change in the foreign currencies of USD and
GBP.

The following table indicates the
approximate effect on the profit for the
year in response to reasonably possible
changes in the foreign exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, to which
the Group has exposure in respect of the
derivative financial instruments at the end

W& -ET of each reporting period. The appreciation
HREGZEEZABR and depreciation of 5% in USD exchange
BES% T EREH rate against GBP represents management's
HMEHRINEE R 2 assessment of a reasonably possible change
S IR A AL B B 2 &Y in currency exchange rate over the reporting
fiio periods.

2022 2021

FET TFrET

HK$'000 HK$000

FES5% Appreciation by 5% 1 1
B21B5% Depreciation by 5% 1) )
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

()

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rates had occurred at the reporting
dates and that all other variables remain
constant.

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in
foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Price risk

Price risk related to the risk that the fair
values or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of change
in market price (other than changes in
interest rate and foreign exchange rate).
The Group is exposed to price risk primarily
through its investments in listed equity
securities, listed bonds and investment funds
which are classified as at fair value through
other comprehensive income or fair value
through profit or loss. The board of directors
manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk
and return profiles and will consider hedging
the risk exposure should the need arise. The
Group is not exposed to commodity price
risk.

N
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

(ir)

Price risk (continued)

At 30 June 2022, if prices had increased by
10% (2021: 10%) and all other variables
were held constant:

- the Group’s profit for the year
would increase by approximately
HK$1,472,000 (2021: HK$1,606,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in
investment fund, listed bonds and
listed equity securities included in the
Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

(ir)

Price risk (continued)

- the Group’'s equity other than

retained profits would increase
by approximately HK$3,449,000
(2021: HK$2,685,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of listed
equity investments and listed bonds
included in the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

At 30 June 2022, if prices had decreased by
10% (2021: 10%) and all other variables
were held constant:

the Group’s profit for the year
would decrease by approximately
HK$1,472,000 (2021:
HK$1,606,000). This is mainly due to
the changes in investment fund and
listed equity securities included in the
Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

(ir)

Price risk (continued)

- the Group’s equity other than
retained profits would decrease by
approximately HK$3,449,000 (2021:
HK$2,685,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of listed equity
investments included in the Group's
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

This sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the price change had occurred
at the reporting dates and has been applied
to the Group's investment on that date.

The policies to manage price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and
are considered to be effective.



Annual Report 2022 “F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B8R FRHizE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE_Z-__FX A=THIFE

M+

49.2

M EKREIER
ERER &)

miSEE (F)

(i) 7% /2 Bz

FEER T AREN
BHNEEPHMERS
MTARFELR
EREHRKB R
% 0% BT A W5 A
SEEHMSHRE
BER MELS LA
1 AN R B T 3 A F
B R R

D ERNXRE R

KNEEZRAFEF
REBREZHIA
FEFAEMZE
Wz eMEETZ
EHEHRE (KT
—+=) 13,692,000
BL(ZTEZ—%F:
11,093,000/ 7T ) &
BEARFET AR
mXEBMEETZ
EHEHRE (KT
=+ N) (ZF=—
£ :7,473,00078 7T)
B -ANEERKIT
MR RE PR 2
WA BT E
HIRERNEH) - WA
SEZAFEFER
RIEATEHEAQT
BEREATE-

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Floating interest rate
instruments will result in the Group facing
the risk of changes in market interest rate,
and fixed interest rate instruments will result
in the Group's fair value interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to investments in listed
bonds under financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(note 23) of HK$13,692,000 (2021:
HK$11,093,000) and investment in listed
bonds under financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of Nil (note 28) (2021:
HK$7,473,000). The Group currently does
not have a fair value hedging policy. The
Group's fair value interest rate risk exposure
is not expected to have a significant impact
on its fair value given the changes of the
underlying interest rate is not expected to be
material.

N
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.2 Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk
primarily arising from bank balances and
bank loans. Majority of the bank loans are
arranged at variable rates which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
interest rates and repayment terms of the
bank loans outstanding at reporting dates
are disclosed in note 32.

The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
49.2 Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity
of the profit for the year and retained profits
to a change in interest rates of +100 basis
point and —100 basis point (2021: +100 basis
point and —100 basis point) with effect from
the beginning of the year. The calculations
are based on the Group’s bank balances
and interest-bearing bank loans held at each
reporting date which are subject to variable
interest rates. All other variables are held
constant.

2022 2021
FiET BT
HKS$'000 HK$°000
fisi 1 2& = F+1001E = 24 If interest rates were 100 basis
T point (2021: 100 basis point)
1001EE &) higher
FREEFR D R Net profit for the year decreased
IR 88 AR and retained profits
decreased by 1,467 670
il A1 2 T 2510018 £ 2 If interest rates were 100 basis
—E—F: point (2021: 100 basis point)
1001EE2) lower
F ARG N K& Net profit for the year increased
RE R FIE N and retained profits
increased by 1,467 670

SR B 38 45 4 A
BT E AR
B2 HE R A
HEREEM-

The policies to manage interest rate risk have
been followed by the Group since prior years
are considered to be effective.

N
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.3 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty

to a financial instrument would fail to discharge

its obligation under the terms of the financial

instruments and cause a financial loss to

the

Group. In order to minimise the credit risk, the

senior management compiles the credit and
management policies, to approve credit limits

risk
and

to determine any debt recovery action on those

delinquent receivables. As at 30 June 2022, the

carrying amount of these financial assets as disclosed

in note 49.1 best represent the maximum exposure

to credit risk. The Group's exposure to credit risk

mainly arises from granting credit to customers in

the ordinary course of its business.

The Group continuously monitors defaults of

customers and other counterparties, identified

either individually or by group, and incorporates

this information into its credit risk controls.

Where available at reasonable cost, external

credit ratings and/or reports on customers and

other counterparties are obtained and used. The

Group's policy is to deal only with creditworthy

counterparties. The credit policy has been followed

by the Group since prior years.
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M+ - HHBERKREREH 49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
%&Eﬁﬁﬁ (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
493 f=ERRK (&) 49.3 Credit risk (continued)
AfG 1= B % &= Financial assets with credit risk exposure
B 5 FEWGRIR Trade receivables
REEZEERNERET The Group measures loss allowances for trade
,?E,Hﬂﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁf}gﬁ@ﬁ’]/f receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
(AR EERTE) A which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
=EBEZRKRKBEEER the Group's historical credit loss experience does
Bo-BAAEBNATEE not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
EELRLBERRTRE different customer segments, the loss allowance
PofBEAREZEREE based on past due status is not further distinguished
R - Bk m BRARRE R & between the Group's different customer bases.
HWEBERLEEASER
TREFRHZHE—FR
o
TRIEHBEBAAEER The following table provides information about the
T oFRITFR Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
A=+HAE ZEKHIE receivables as at 30 June 2022 and 2021:
FEER 2 EERE R &i‘éﬁﬂ
EEBBEZER:

EHRRAE REAHE BHEER

Gross
R-BEZ_F Expected carrying Loss
~A=+H As at 30 June 2022 loss rate amount allowance
(%) F#ET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
BNEA Current 0.00% 62,890 -
# HA0-30H 0-30 days past due 0.21% 26,881 56
# H831-60H 31-60 days past due 0.55% 12,098 67
#HA61-90H 61-90 days past due 18.54% 4,724 876
#H191-180H 91-180 days past due 44.65% 3,234 1,444
# H181-365H 181-365 days past due 48.19% 1,380 665
#HI365 8 M £ Over 365 days past due 96.31% 17,824 17,168
129,031 20,276

N
ul
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mM+h - MBEKREER 49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
BRER OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
493 {FERR (&) 49.3 Credit risk (continued)
s ER GRS L E Financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)
(#&)
E S EWRIE (&) Trade receivables (continued)

BEHIR AR PR/ EiEEE

Gross
RZZZ—%F Expected carrying Loss
~NA=1H As at 30 June 2021 loss rate amount allowance
(%) FAET FAT
HK$°000 HK$000
BN EA Current 0.00% 64,512 -
# #i0-30H 0-30 days past due 0.19% 16,699 31
#Hi31-60H 31-60 days past due 1.50% 8,825 132
#15A61-90H 61-90 days past due 22.96% 4,696 1,078
# H191-180H 91-180 days past due 31.18% 4,464 1,392
#HA181-365H 181-365 days past due 71.26% 8,375 5,968
#HA365H MA £ Over 365 days past due 97.22% 15,173 14,751
BEERBEZ Credit impaired for specific
18 71| 1 ek IR debtors 97.61% 23,051 22,500
145,795 45,852
TEERB R R B EEF 2 Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
BERBREHRAER % experience over the few years. These rates are
ERAESEHRAE U adjusted to reflect differences between economic
= B SR R Sh BUR AR 2 conditions during the period over which the historic
OBARS - B RIS A K data has been collected, current conditions and
AR B R R IR TR BA T the Group's view of economic conditions over the
BHRNSBERA BRI 2 expected lives of the receivables.
A =2
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.3 Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets with crediit risk exposure (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The movement in the provision for impairment of

gEpmT trade receivables is as follows:
2022 2021
F#ET FET
HKS$'000 HK$'000
REH) 28R Balance at the beginning of the year 45,852 42,966
ERER CREEIEEE ), (Reversal of impairment loss)/

A& 1R Impairment losses recognised (1,738) 2,389
ARl Ug Bl M 2 £ %8 Amount written-off as uncollectible (23,656) (34)
bE 5 A Exchange realignment (182) 531
RERZ ek Balance at the end of the year 20,276 45,852

REE 2B 5 R WA
AR sk E A5 IR
ARAEE AR -

Bt i B EA AT EZ 2
AEE

IR B E o3 E A AR
BZeREBEERRRIE
W T ~ L b R R TR A
KRG RIREEE LR
ERBEEFEME BN
EERBRARERZEM
Bt - R EF AR Z E
EEBERN12(E A A
HEEBBR-EXRA”
HRRZHFHAEER
EENRABERFZE
MR WREEHRE
HIBE AR

None of the Group's trade receivables are secured by
collaterals or other credit enhancement.

Other financial assets measure at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
of the Group include long-term receivables, other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents. In respect
of cash and cash equivalents, since there is no
significant increase in credit risk, any loss allowance
recognised during the year is therefore limited
to 12-months ECLs. The directors consider the
probability of default is low on these balances since
the counterparties are financial institutions with high
credit rating or with good reputation.

N
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B E B &R S R 121E
ATEEEEBE 258
E-HRZEEHR 2 TEH
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3,621,0007 7T °

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.3 Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets measure at amortised cost
(continued)

Other receivables of HK$6,988,000 (2021:
HK$5,755,000) measured at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk as the
counterparties have a low risk of default and does
not have any past due amounts. Impairment on
these balances has been measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. No loss allowance is
recognised as the amount of ECLs on these balances

is insignificant.

Other receivables of HK$1,468,000 had been
defaulted for years, and hence these financial assets
are credit impaired of which loss allowance of
HK$1,468,000 was made during the year ended 30

June 2022.

As at 30 June 2021, the outstanding balances of
long-term receivables of HK$3,621,000 had been
defaulted for years, and hence these financial assets
are credit impaired of which loss allowance of

HK$3,621,000 was made as at 30 June 2021.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will
not able to meet its obligation associated with
its financial liabilities. In the management of the
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows
in the short and long term. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance

with loan covenants.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered to have

been effective in managing liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the reporting
date) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay.

Specifically, for bank loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period
in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights

to call the loans with immediate effect.

N
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

BNXER —ERE —ENE
FEeE RENELE HREXEE BIRRE MEN L
Total Within ~ More than
contractual Tyear  1yearbut
Carrying undiscounted oron lessthan ~ More than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 2 years
AT AT FET FBT FBT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
RZFEZZERAZHH As at 30 June 2022
FiTEERER: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
B HENFE Trade payables 106,595 106,595 106,595 - -
HinERFEREER Other payables and
accruals 57,916 57,916 57,916 - -
HERE Lease labilities 15,718 17517 4,783 3,184 9,550
RAEH Bank loans 1,027,821 1,030,787 887,673 143,114 -
EREELETE Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
JEfT AR N R 5UR Due to related
companies 39,501 39,501 6,877 32,038 586
ARE Za L S0 Due to non-controlling
interests 56,275 56,275 - 56,275 -
BRIRREMRZER Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,686 4,686 - 4,686 -
1,309,148 1,314,313 1,064,880 239,297 10,136
RZEZ-£xA=1H As at 30 June 2021
FirELRER: Non-derivative
financial liabilities:
BoRAFE Trade payables 67,725 67,725 67,725 = =
Bt ENTIARE B Other payables and
accruals 114,773 114,773 114,773 - -
HERE Lease liabilities 19,329 21,849 4,935 4,509 12,405
RITER Bank loans 836,210 840,115 708,896 13,059 118,160
AR LETE Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036 1,036 - -
RN O] Due to related
companies 40,236 40,236 71,225 30,610 2,401
FERTFE R e R Due to non-controlling
interests 48,785 48,785 - 48,785 -
PR R R4 2 B Loan from a controlling
shareholder 4,802 4,802 - - 4,802
1,132,896 1,139,321 904,590 96,963 137,768
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity
analysis of bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using contractual rates.
Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors do not consider that it is probable that
the bank and lender will exercise its discretion to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

HEBA -
REREEN ARSI WERERETRLZRTEN
Maturity analysis - Bank loans subject to repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

BHRER —ENE —ENE
FEEE REeNELE KREIXEE BINWE MEMN L
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or lessthan ~ More than
amount cash flow  on demand 2 years 2 years
TAT AT AT AT AT
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
RZFZ"£xAZ+H As at 30 June 2022
RITER Bank loans 1,027,421 1,057,532 782,764 222,198 52,570
R-ZFZ-£xA=+H As at 30 June 2021
RITER Bank loans 836,210 840,115 708,89 13,059 118,160
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities
into three levels based on the relative reliability of
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value
of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

— Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets;

— Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the instruments and
derivatives, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

— Level 3: inputs for the instruments that are
not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which
the financial assets and liabilities is categorised in its
entirety is based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. The
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

BT -
18 %28 %38 aEt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(k@) (Fit&E(b)) (FitzE()
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
R-Z-_%£7~A=+H As at 30 June 2022
VYNCERPNY 6 Finandial assets at fair value through
SREE other comprehensive income
—EBE LM RARE - Listed equity investments in Hong Kong 19,440 - 19,440
—EE M E e RARE ~ Listed equity investments in elsewhere 1,354 - - 1,354
— At EmRAREA — Unlisted equity investments in elsewhere - 144 - 144
—EEB LT BR ~ Listed bonds in Hong Kong 2,353 - - 2,353
—EEM A Fi 2 ES ~ Listed bonds in elsewhere 11,339 - - 11,339
ARTEFABRZSRHEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
—EEB LT RAES - Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 3,864 - - 3,864
~GERBREES ~ Investment fund in Hong Kong - 6,992 - 6,992
~EEMmE 2 REES ~ Investment fund in elsewhere - 3,868 - 3,868
—(TEERIA ~ Derivative financial instruments - 23 - 23
38,350 11,027 - 49,377
RZZ=Z—%:A=1H As at 30 June 2021
NAFEG AR EERE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
SREE other comprehensive income
—EBB LT RARE ~ Listed equity investments in Hong Kong 23,076 = = 23,076
—EEMm A 2 RARE ~ Listed equity investments in elsewhere 3,632 - - 3,632
— At I EMRARE ~ Unlisted equity investments in elsewhere = 144 = 144
~TEEMits LT EH — Listed bonds in elsewhere 11,093 = = 11,093
NATEFANER ERHEE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
—EEB LT RAES - Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 4,690 = = 4,690
~TEEit i EH — Listed bonds in elsewhere 7473 = = 7473
— BB REES ~ Investment fund in Hong Kong - 11,370 = 11,370
—fTEemIA ~ Derivative financial instruments - 2 - 2
49,964 11,536 - 61,500

N
o)
~



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements m %25 B 18R MzE

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BHE_Z__FX A=1THIFE

N
(0]

m+7

49.5

M EREER
BREBUR (@)

REFE RN RHER 2
DNFEFTE (&)

AR B ATEZER
B T B 3R 5 4R
b3 g -

Wit

(a)

EmERAES R EHE
HFZRTEIRZER
RIERRZHERE
£ WERRE R Z A
HY OIS B R Ha B ({138
A) e

FEMEERES 2R
BEfEEHEELEER
B DH2RAESREE
RBERBEHRZA
FEERE ° I EmARA R
BERTESRIAZAR
FETDEZSERGE
il (BREt R eErE
=M RIEMN TS A B
ZAE) FEEE-

FAFIE BB ER
RENE2HAME (L
FERAIBRENSHE)
2 (BRI - NEEER 3R
SHIAN KRS R E
ERBHASIEZ ERE
o

FR-BIBEF2EZM
W EAFHEFESR 7N
EIAB B ARE L E3E

- —F )

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

49.5

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting periods.

Notes:

(a) Fair values of listed equity securities and listed
bonds have been determined by reference to their
market prices at the reporting date and have been
translated using the spot foreign currency rates at
the end of the reporting period where appropriate.

(b) The fair value of the unlisted investment fund
is the share of the net assets value of the funds
which has been determined with reference to
the fair value of the underlying financial assets
and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
The fair value of unlisted equity investments and
derivative financial instruments are determined
directly or indirectly based on valuation techniques
with market observable inputs including
observable market data.

(©) Financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation
technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The Group does
not have any financial assets classified in Level 3
during and as at the end of the reporting period.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil).
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i+ BEXEHE 50. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
REEEREB HEB R AR The primary objective of the Group's capital management
REFRECEETREERL is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
A HHEBRGKRRER healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise
RAZ&ER- shareholders’ value.
AEETEEHEERER WEE The Group manages its capital structure and makes
AR B ENE TR - BHERE adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
o} AR E AR NEE A AR conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
MR REIRS 2] E - mREE Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
BERNBEITHRGD -RNAFE return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
MBEFE AEEMEESE changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
B BUEREAR T o during the current and previous years.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debts divided by total equity plus net debts. Net debts
are calculated as the sum of bank and other borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group aims to maintain
the gearing ratio at a reasonable level and the directors
are of the opinion that the Group's gearing ratio was
maintained at reasonable level at the reporting date. The
gearing ratios as at the reporting date were as follows:

BELEMT:
2022 2021
F#ET FETT
HK$°000 HK$'000
mBaR Current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 884,621 707,010
BN & &R FERIE Due to joint ventures 1,036 1,036
HEBE Lease liabilities 4,168 4,162
FEAT RAESE A R 5RI8 Due to related companies 6,877 7,225
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
RITERK Bank loans 142,800 129,200
HERE Lease liabilities 11,550 15,167
FEAT RAESE A R 5RI8 Due to related companies 32,624 33,011
ERRR R 2 B Loan from a controlling shareholder 4,686 4,802
JE A=) FE 42 | 4 2 5K IE Due to non-controlling interests 56,275 48,785
fBIAAERE Total debts 1,144,637 950,398
B Re RIREER Less: Cash and cash equivalents (144,008) (340,207)
BIRFR Net debts 1,000,629 610,191
R Total equity 2,446,366 2,446,508
T ARRE M ETR F 5 Total equity and net debts 3,446,995 3,056,699
EEARBILE Gearing ratio 29.03% 19.96%
I+— #EMBRE 51. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

N
o

BE-_T-__FA=1THLHF
EZHePBRRERN_T_—
FAAZ+=BRESHAET

o

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2022 were approved for issue by the directors on 23
September 2022.
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FRIERRZME

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

a4 3]
WERE it 3 BapRER agEER AR ikt THER Ef
Estimated Attributable
Approximate approximate Stage of interest of
Lot No. Location sitearea  gross floorarea  Use Lease Term completion Completion date the Group
(Er%) (3 %K)
(sqft) sqft)
BENBEURBT B B EFEE35 5798 86,970 FEX R4 REIRED 2022 75%
The remaining portion of Marine Lot no. 124 232 Wan Chai Road, Wan Chai, Commercial Long Fitout works in progress
Hong Kong
HNENBEREI96%A B CRRBE NERDEEZET TA IRIAK 3,240 29147 EEREE ik LERETEET 2002 90%
HNEFBRENTHRA B CRRBEMUR  Nos.7,7A, 9and 9A, Commercial and ~ Medium Superstructure in
FNEAMRE21985A B CRRHE Cheung Wah Street, residential progress
Section A, B, C and the remaining portion of Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
New Kowloon Inland lot 2196, Section A, B, C
and the remaining portion of New Kowloon
Inland lot 2197, and section A, B, C and the
remaining portion of Inland Lot No. 2198.
NEERIBERE2097HEHR R RHRES AR BB NERR 16416405 5,054 2520 % ik Rl 100%
(&) Nos 164-164A Boundary Street, Residential Medium Planning in progress
The Remaining Portion of Section H and Sub-section Kowloon City, Kowloon
5 of Section H of Kowloon Infand Lot No. 2097
(the “Lots")
HEEREZYR PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT
73
B S i Eit#z RE HEH
Attributable
interest of
Lot No. Location the Group  Use Lease Term
L EAHMER 1205 F3689RAR K CE HRTHBLABGSRREHEAR 100% (A ]
Section A and section C of Lot no 3689 in D.D. 120 9 1088 1112 1218 1318 - 1518 -
1618 178 1912 - 2012 - 2118 k2218
9/F, 10/F, 11/F, 12/F, 13/F, 15/F, 16/F, Rental Medium
17/F, 19/F, 20/F, 21/F and 22/F,
Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road,
Yuen Long, New Territories
NEEZHEREA0RIER R NEAHERHE-1MARRRE S 100% (£ g
NEEBE MR EA0RHRENH B 185 Sl E Tgh L = H1EP=
Section | of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 and Unit P 1st Floor, Kaiser Estate 3rd Phase, Rental Medium
sub-section 1 of section H of Kowloon Marine lot No. 40 Nos. 9 - 11A Hok Yuen Street,
No. 18 Man Lok Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon
VR AHEREE10429% BARR « JLRE IR TR EHEE19-23R E A T 100%  (HA i
F 104325 BRER R NVEE MR 1043158 AR A5 48 R BSR &8 DA K
—BAZHRPRLE
The remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10429, Shops A & B on the G/F and Rental Medium

the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10432 and

the remaining portion of Kowloon Inland lot No. 10431

Office AtoHon 1/F
Hart Avenue Court,
19-23 Hart Avenue,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

N
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the respective published audited financial statements
and restated as appropriate, is set out as below. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FE#T THT TAT THT TAT
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS$ 000

Yezs Revenue 603,926 536,267 420,315 440,967 391,882
BT SR AR,/ (E#E) Profit/(loss) before income tax 18,157 22,310 (13,673) 26,424 429,833
FreFige,/ (%) Income tax credit/(expense) 20,305 11,959 (4,209) 22,188 (75,078)
FREF/ (BR) Profit/(loss) for the year 38,462 34,269 (17,882) 48,612 354,755
IR Non-controlling interests (26,320) (14,384) 2,541 (4,933) 4
ARFEB AFEEAER],/  Net profit/loss) attributable to

(BEF%E) the owners of the Company 12,142 19,885 (15,341) 43,679 354,759

BE - afRIFEHER

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
FET THT TAT THT TAT
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

REE Total assets
BEE Total liabilities
e Non-controlling interests

3,865,024 3,718,277 3,456,478 3,475,287 3,474,725
(1,418,658)  (1,271,769)  (1,090,203)  (1,052,856)  (1,230,442)
(223,201) (202,257) (186,692) (183,638) 6,402

2,223,165 2,244,251 2,179,583 2,238,793 2,250,685
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